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Submission of the annual report to the Executive Authority

I have the honour of submitting the 2008/2009 Annual Report of the 
Department of Correctional Services in terms of the Public Finance 
Management Act, 1999.

Ms Xoliswa Sibeko
National Commissioner of Correctional Services
31 May 2009
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OUR Vision
 
To be one of the best in the world in delivering correctional services with integrity 
and commitment to excellence.

OUR Mission

Placing rehabilitation at the centre of all departmental activities in partnerships 
with external stakeholders, through: 

the integrated application and direction of all departmental resources to fo-
cus on the correction of offending behaviour, the promotion of social respon-
sibility and the overall development of the person under correction;
the cost effective provision of correctional facilities that will promote efficient 
security, corrections, care and development services within an enabling hu-
man rights environment;
progressive and ethical management and staff practices within which every 
correctional official performs an effective correcting and encouraging role. 
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1.1 Foreword by the Minister of Correctional Services,
Ms N Mapisa-Nqakula, MP

This Annual Report is the first one of my term of office which is presented before 
this fourth and new Parliament. The report represents the work of the Department 
since the former Minister, Mr Ngconde Balfour, took office in 2004.

I wish to reflect, therefore, the work of the Department in the last five years. The 
Department that the former Minister left in May 2009 is different from the one he 
lead in 2004. Corruption was still rife, policy direction at its seminal stage, security 
concerns were high, organisational culture was still largely not supportive of the 
new government direction and even less so of rehabilitation. Staff morale was low 
and characterised by industrial action and organisational gangsterism. There was 
resistance to the new direction and this was evidenced by a high incidence of 
sabotage, deliberate non-compliance leading to audit qualifications, and acutely 
poor service delivery. On a number of occasions the Department had to appear 
before Parliament and account for how it spent its money and explain the lack of 
delivery. Due to its regular appearance before SCOPA, DCS had, in the word of its 
Chairperson, “a standing invitation”. These are events of the past and this annual 
report is evidence of how the Department has in this five year period striven to 
improve its image and accountability and rid itself of corrupt elements and, more 
importantly, pay attention to policy development and strategic direction.

Let me outline some of the key areas. The development of the White Paper which 
is the key policy of the Department charted the new direction. The adoption in 
2005 was a critical milestone that implied changes to many areas of DCS work. It 
had implications for personnel in terms of recruitment, training and development 
and retention, for management of facilities and how the new ones are designed, 
constructed and located; budget programmes that had to be changed to suit the 
needs of the White Paper, for the alignment of planning, budgeting and reporting. 
Performance monitoring and evaluation occupied a central role and impacted on 
performance management systems including contracts, and assessments of both 
individuals and the Organisation. 

Part of the difficulty facing the Department was stability at Senior Management 
level, while the introduction of the SMS systems had led to retention of personnel 
at Director and Chief Director level, there were concerns about competencies and 
capabilities of some managers. In the interest of the Organisation, several transfers 
had to be effected. At the higher levels, namely the Deputy Director-General level, 
there were a number of vacancies and the problem was compounded by the fact 
that some were nearing retirement, others were suspended, others resigned, and 
the Department lost one of its champion leaders, Regional Commissioner Siyab-
ulela Mlombile, in 2006. This meant that some of the managers at this level had 
to serve in more than one post for long periods. It also required reshuffling. Prior 
to Minister Balfour taking office, there was a high turnover of Accounting Offic-
ers. Linda Mti was arguably the longest serving Accounting Officer. This has had 
a positive impact in the running of the Organisation as it brought stability. Since 
former Commissioner Mti left in late 2006, the Department had an Acting Com-
missioner for 5 months, and then the horizontal transfers of the former Commis-
sioner Mr Petersen and the current National Commissioner Ms Xoliswa Sibeko in 
October 2008. I am raising these matters to indicate the importance of ensuring 
stability at senior management level. This is important to ensure consistency and 
commitment, particularly in an Organisation as dynamic and complex as this one 
and one that is in a state of flux as it grapples with many changes taking place in 
government. It is critical for institutional memory. Many of the gains reported in this 
Annual Report, notably the reduction in audit qualifications can be attributed to op-
timal functioning at the management level. The developments of some strategies 
span several years; such as the Integrated Human Resource Strategy, requiring 
consistency in management. The success of some of the major projects in DCS 

PART 1: General Information

Part of the difficulty facing 
the Department was stabil-
ity at Senior Management 
level.

Minister of Correctional 
Services, Ms. Nosiviwe 
Mapisa-Nqakula



Department of Correctional Services  Annual Report 2008/09          7

such as the process of the 7-day establishment and OSD, requires management 
to have been involved and have knowledge and experience of the debates with the 
Public Service Administration and within the Bargaining Council. These are some 
of the priority areas of the Department and this report provides the achievements 
in these areas.

Over the last three years, the DCS planning processes have undergone a signifi-
cant change and they include the process of improving performance information, 
the development of the Project Portfolio Management strategy and the separation 
of strategies for Head Office and Regions to focus on. Some anticipated changes 
will involve budget processes to streamline planning and resourcing.

As a final word, I wish to emphasise the importance of focusing on personnel. 
Saying that personnel are important assets should not be a matter of metaphor, 
rhetoric or a cliché but concrete plans and implementation processes should be 
put in place to ensure development and morale. To this, Minister Balfour had, dur-
ing his office term paid the required attention and the Department will in time reap 
the benefits of such an endeavour. He left a Department that has sound policies, 
stability in personnel and a drive to improve service delivery. 

 
Nosiviwe Mapisa-Nqakula
Minister of Correctional Services 
31 May 2009

Many of the gains reported 
in this Annual Report, no-
tably the reduction in audit 
qualifications can be attrib-
uted to optimal functioning 
at management level.

Correctional Services’s top 
three ladies, (from left) Deputy 
Minister Hlengiwe Mkhize, Na-
tional Commissioner Xoliswa 
Sibeko and Minister Nosiviwe 
Mapisa-Nqakula in good spirit 
at their welcoming address on 
13 May at head office.
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1.2 Foreword by the Deputy Minister of Correctional 
Services, Ms Hlengiwe Mkhize, MP

It is almost two months since President Jacob Zuma announced the new cabinet 
following the resounding success of the fourth democratic elections of 22 April this 
year. Since coming into office we have started a campaign aimed at reaching out 
to both officials and offenders at centres around the country, in an attempt to feel 
the pulse of the Department of Correctional Services (DCS).

I join Minister Nosiviwe Mapisa-Nqakula to pay special tribute to former Minister 
Ngconde Balfour and his Deputy, Ms Loretta Jacobus. 

We confidently take the baton from them, comforted by the fact that they have laid 
a firm foundation for our agenda of intensifying implementation within an ethical 
framework.  We will build upon a number of achievements made to transforming 
the Correctional System within a democratic South Africa.

As an integral part  of the Justice, Crime Prevention and Security (JCPS) cluster, 
we will enhance our programme of Corrections as a societal responsibility and 
strengthen our collaboration in crime prevention initiatives working closely with the 
NGO’s, FBO’s, CBO’s and civil society at large. Our goal is to establish a long-term 
sustainable social security network to protect and cushion the most vulnerable 
– women, the elderly, children, the disabled and the youth.

The implementation of the Offender Rehabilitation Programme is crucial to the 
elimination of recidivism, through sustainable programmes addressing the offend-
ing behaviour, development and care of offenders within a secure and humane 
environment.

A striking feature of our recent visit to our correctional centres has been the shock-
ing number of repeat offenders, who may progress to habitual crimes. The state of 
affairs cannot continue.

The cornerstone of the integration of the offenders will be the return to society of 
law abiding citizens, who are able to choose activities that remain within the law.

Offenders come from communities and will return to communities upon their re-
lease.  It is imperative that families, friends and communities give their unwavering 
support to offenders and give them a second chance after release.

As the new Deputy Minister of Correctional Services, I intend to sustain the good 
work and remarkable achievements I have witnessed during our recent visits to the 
Correctional Centres.

It was heartening to note that our work as government yields positive results when 
we join our hands and work as a single unit. For example, Durban Westville offend-
ers achieved a 100% matriculation pass in 2008. Another milestone was the estab-
lishment of eighteen (18) Wellness centres aimed at ensuring access to Anti-Retro-
virals (ARV’S) by all qualifying offenders. It was encouraging to see the number of 
offenders involved in the Voluntary Testing and Counselling programme.  

There are, however, a number of areas where we need to improve, working closely 
with our strategic partners. Key to these is the plight of children who find them-
selves in conflict with the law, we firmly believe that incarceration should be used 
as a last resort

We acknowledge that there are women who are capable of committing heinous 
crimes, we are however, mindful of the fact that they have a primary responsibility 
for the family particularly when children are involved. Some sadly serve their sen-

Deputy Minister of 
Correctional Services, 
Ms Hlengiwe Mkhize

As the new Deputy Minister 
of Correctional Services, I 
intend to sustain the good 
work and remarkable 
achievements I have 
witnessed during our recent 
visits to the correctional 
centres.
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tences with their infants, in an environment not conducive for a healthy early child-
hood development. As a society we must take a closer look at this situation and 
consider diversion programmes for women who have committed petty offences.  

Our personnel are the engine of our rehabilitation agenda and are crucial to the 
success of our strategies.  We will therefore pay special attention to their well being 
through workplace wellness programmes.

As we forge ahead and intensify our implementation agenda. We call upon all 
South Africans to support our initiatives and visit our website and support our pro-
grammes as outlined during our recent budget Vote presentation.

Ms Hlengiwe Mkhize
Deputy Minister of Correctional Services 
31 May 2009
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1.3 Introduction by the National Commissioner of 
Correctional Services 

I am pleased to present this Annual Report of 2008/09 before our fourth Parlia-
ment. One of the key challenges that faced the Department was to ensure align-
ment of Departmental policies with the new Constitution, based on human rights.

After, 1994, the Department began a process of transformation culminating in the 
approval of the White Paper on Corrections in 2005. Over the last five years, the 
Department initiated a process of policy review that would replace policies that 
were not in line with the human rights norms and culture; draw new policies and 
importantly amend the Correctional Services Act. The amendment which began in 
2007 was gazetted in 2008. 

The White Paper on Corrections has a long term implementation plan of fifteen (15) 
- twenty (20) years. This was important as implementing the White Paper required 
changes to be made in various activities of the Department. Old facilities were to 
be redesigned and new ones constructed with rehabilitation as a defining feature; 
budget programmes were reorganised to give effect to the White Paper; exist-
ing personnel would be retrained and new recruits inducted on rehabilitation. The 
Department has made remarkable progress in the implementation process but I 
would also want to acknowledge the many challenges that the Department faced. 

Some of the key achievements of the last five years include mass recruitment, 
development of projects such as the Offender Rehabilitation Path, the 7-day estab-
lishment and Safety and Security Enhancement, the construction of new facilities 
based on the new generation concept, and notable improvements in security man-
agement that included strengthening security during the festive season, arguably 
our vulnerable period. 

However, at the same time, the Department was faced with many obstacles to 
overcome. The Department needed to recruit professionals to drive the White Pa-
per, scarce skills were being recruited outside the DCS and the country, corrup-
tion was endemic, performance information was poor and the Department had a 
series of Audit Qualifications and appeared before Standing Committee on Public 
Accounts (SCOPA) for five years in a row. The Department took the initiative to deal 
with some of these problems and these included the appointment of the Jali Com-
mission, the establishment of the Risk Management Committee, the strengthening 
of the DIU, the introduction of the Compliance Improvement Plan and the piloting 
of the Framework for Programme Performance Information and enhancement of 
the monitoring, evaluation and reporting framework. 

National Commissioner of 
Correctional Services,
Ms X Sibeko

Over the last five years, 
the Department initiated 
a process of policy review 
that would replace policies 
that were not in line with the 
human rights norms and 
culture, draw new policies 
and importantly amend the 
Correctional Services Act. 

National Commissioner Xoliswa Sibeko and Gauteng Regional Commissioner Adv To-
zama Mqobi during a live radio 702 show at Johannesburg Correctional Centre.
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I am confident, however, to indicate that this Annual Report is evidence that these 
efforts are paying off. There has been much improvement in reporting on perform-
ance information, Audit Qualifications have reduced, corruption incidence have 
decreased; awareness on corruption increased and some key risks have been 
mitigated. 

It is evident that for the Department to reach its ultimate goal and carry out its 
mandate, more still needs to be done. We need to acknowledge, as the Depart-
ment, that transformation is ongoing and that as events unfold, as they will every 
financial year, we remain prepared to adapt. The fourth Parliament has raised the 
bar towards service delivery and as a Department we need to be on board.

Commissioner of Correctional Services
Ms X Sibeko
31 May 2009

National Commissioner 
Xoliswa Sibeko at a Child 
Protection Week function in 
Thohoyandou.



12          Department of Correctional Services  Annual Report 2008/09

1.4 Information on the Ministry of Correctional Services

1.4.1 Work of Statutory Bodies

1.4.1.1 The National Council for Correctional Services 

The National Council for Correctional Services (NCCS) is an advisory board with 
the primary aim of advising the Minister on her request or on its own accord, in 
developing policy in regard to the correctional system and the sentencing process. 
The Council, chaired by Judge Desai, is comprised of two judges of the Supreme 
Court of Appeal of South Africa appointed after consultation with the Chief Justice, 
a magistrate of a regional division appointed after consultation with the chairperson 
of the Magistrate’s Commission; a director or deputy director of Public Prosecu-
tions appointed after consultation with the National Director of Public Prosecutions; 
two members of the Department, of or above the rank of director, appointed after 
consultation with the Commissioner; a member of the South African Police Serv-
ice, of or above the rank of director, appointed after consultation with the National 
Commissioner of the South African Police Service; a member of the Department 
of Social Development, of or above the rank of director, appointed after consulta-
tion with the Director General of Social Development; two persons with special 
knowledge of the correctional system who are not in full time service of the State. 
Three meetings were held by the Council in the 2008/2009 financial year. A total of 
forty-four (44) inmates were considered for possible parole. Ten (10) matters were 
served before the Parole Review Board.

1.4.1.2 Judicial Inspectorate of Correctional Centers

The Judicial Inspectorate was formally established with effect from 1 June 1998, in 
terms of Correctional Services Act 111 of 1998, as Judicial Inspectorate of Prisons. 
With the amendment of Correctional Services Act, the inspectorate is now referred 
to as Judicial Inspectorate on Correctional Centers. The Judicial Inspectorate of 
Correctional Centers is led by acting Judge Deon van Zyl who was appointed by 
former President Mbeki and took office in August 2008. The Judicial Inspectorate 
is an independent office under the control of the Inspecting Judge largely respon-
sible for monitoring and reporting on conditions in correctional centers. 

1.4.1.3 Bills submitted to the legislature during the financial year 

The Correctional Services Amendment Act, 2008 (No 25 of 2008) was gazetted 
on 11 November 2008. 

1.4.2 Ministerial visits abroad

1.4.2.1 Deputy Minister

The former Deputy Minister was invited to visit Brazil and was accompanied by 
the CDC: Corrections, Head in the Deputy Minister’s office (Ms R Mphela), and  
life partner. The purpose of the trip to Brazil by the former Deputy Minister of Cor-
rectional Services and her delegation, was to gain knowledge, learn about the dif-
ferent approaches/models of corrections, rehabilitation, social re-integration and 
development of juveniles (children who are in conflict with the law) adult inmates 
and their overall health care methods including HIV & AIDS pandemic and how it is 
managed in the different centres. 
 
1.4.2.2 Launch of Anti-Retroviral (ARV) sites

The former Deputy Minister launched a number of ARV sites in the Eastern 
Cape, LMN, Western Cape and Gauteng. She also donated some funds to chil-
dren’s homes in Gauteng and the Eastern Cape.
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1.5 Mission Statement

The Vision of the Department remains to be one of the best service providers in the 
world by delivering correctional services with integrity and commitment to excel-
lence.

The Mission of the Department is placing rehabilitation at the centre of all Depart-
mental activities in partnerships with external stakeholders, through:

The integrated application and direction of all Departmental resources to focus 
on the correction of offending behaviour, the promotion of social responsibility 
and the overall development of the person under correction; 
The cost-effective provision of correctional facilities that will promote efficient 
security, correction, care and development services within an enabling human 
rights environment; 
Progressive and ethical management and staff practices within which every 
correctional official performs an effective correcting and supportive role.

1.6 Constitutional, Legislative, Functional and Policy 
Mandates 

The Strategic direction of the Department for the medium term is guided and in-
formed by numerous policies, including the:

Basic Conditions Of Employment Act (No. 75 of 1997);
Compensation For Occupational Injuries And Diseases Act (No. 130 of 1993);
Constitution of the Republic of South Africa, (No. 108 of 1996);
Criminal Procedure Act (No. 51 of 1977);
Correctional Service Act, (No. 8 of 1959);
Correctional Service Act, (No. 111 of 1998);
Employment Equity Act (No. 55 of 1998);
Labour Relations Act (No. 66 of 1995);
Mental Health Act (No. 17 of 2003);
National Crime Prevention Strategy (1997);
National Education Policy Act. (No. 27 of 1996);
National Health Act (No. 61 of 2003);
Occupational Health and Safety Act (No. 85 of 1993);
Preferential Procurement Policy Framework Act (No. 5 of 2000);
Promotion of Access to Information Act (No. 2 of 2000);
Public Finance Management Act, (No. 1 of 1999);
Public Service Act (No103, of 1994);
SITA Act (No. 88 of 1998);
Skills Development Act, (No. 97 of 1998);
South African Qualifications Authority Act, (No. 58 of 1995);
Public Service Regulations, 2001;
National Crime Prevention Strategy (1996);
Treasury Guideline 2002;
Treasury Regulations for Departments, trading entities, constitutional institu-
tions and public entities, as amended 2005;
White Paper of Corrections (2005);
White Paper On Human Resources In Public Services (1997);
White Paper On Reconstruction and Development (1994);

•

•

•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
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Voted Funds

Appropria-
tion

Main Appro-
priation

Adjusted
Appropria-

tion

Actual 
Amount 
Spent

Over/Under 
Expenditure

11 671834  11 671 834 12 338 820 12 822 641 -483 821

2.1 Aim of the vote

The aim of the Department of Correctional Services is to contribute to maintain-
ing and protecting a just, peaceful and safe society, by enforcing court-imposed 
sentences, detaining inmates in safe custody whilst maintaining their human dig-
nity and developing their sense of social responsibility, and promoting the general 
development of all inmates and persons subject to community corrections.

Programme 1: Administration
Purpose: Provide the administrative, management, financial, ICT, research, policy 
co-ordination and good governance support functions necessary for all service 
delivery by the Department and in support of the functions of the Ministry.

Programme 2: Security
Purpose: Provide safe and healthy conditions for all persons incarcerated, con-
sistent with human dignity, and thereby provide security for personnel and the 
public.

Programme 3: Corrections
Purpose: Provide needs-based correctional sentence plans and interventions, 
based on an assessment of the security risk and criminal profile of individuals, 
targeting all elements associated with offending behaviour, and focusing on the 
offence for which a person is sentenced to correctional supervision, remanded in 
a correctional centre or paroled.

Programme 4: Care
Purpose: Provide needs-based care programmes aimed at maintaining the well-
being of incarcerated persons in the Department’s care.

Programme 5: Development
Purpose: Provide needs-based personal development services to all offenders.

Programme 6: Social Reintegration
Purpose: Provide services focused on offenders’ preparation for release, their 
effective supervision after release on parole, and on the facilitation of their social 
reintegration into their communities.

PART 2: Programme Performance



Department of Correctional Services  Annual Report 2008/09          15

Programme 7: Facilities
Purpose: Ensure that physical infrastructure supports safe custody, humane con-
ditions, and the provision of corrective services, care and development, and gen-
eral administration.

2.2 Overview of the service delivery environment for 2008/09

Priority projects

In 2006/07, the Department identified a number of priorities that were going to be 
implemented over a two year period and some beyond. These included the 7-day 
establishment implementation and the Offender Rehabilitation Path. During this 
period, a number of challenges emerged. The lack of integrated approach and 
poor interactions between various branches including the support branches were 
key. Projects lacked proper governance structures and project plans to effect im-
plementation. As a result progress on these priorities continued to be hampered. 
To deal with these challenges, the Department has developed a project manage-
ment framework, project plans and put into place relevant governance structures. 
This will ensure accountability, allocation of resources, both human and financial 
and improve reporting processes.

Monitoring and Evaluation
While the DCS has taken initiative in developing a Monitoring and Evaluation Frame-
work, the government-wide framework was only introduced in 2007. This has as-
sisted in the process that the DCS had already started. One of the key achieve-
ments to date, is that the Department has developed a performance measurement 
with clear indicators to be delivered on in the medium term (5 years). However, the 
existence of different frameworks arising from the DPSA, National Treasury and the 
President continue to pose a challenge. For example, the DPSA has developed a 
different framework that focuses on human resource management, while the Na-
tional Treasury has the developed one focusing on performance information, and 
the time frames of these frameworks do not seem to correlate effectively.

Budget reductions
Towards the end of the 2008/09 financial budget reductions were effected across 
government. In the Department the reductions included budgets for biometric in-
stallations and the White Paper money. While this reduction will only take effect in 
2009/10, the important aspect of such reductions is that they showed, once again, 
lack of an integrated approach between core branches and support branches, in 
this case Finance. The White Paper is the key Departmental policy and cutting a 
budget for such a key policy will have huge implications for implementation. The 
lesson arising from these budget cuts is that budgeting on the basis of historical 
information has severe limitations and that as is the case with current strategic 
planning forecasting tends to be more useful. The establishment of a Planning, 
Resourcing and Reporting Coordinating Committee will address these challenges 
over time.

Changes in Senior Management
A number of senior managers have been suspended pending the outcome of the 
disciplinary process. The suspensions include that of the Regional Commissioners 
for the Free State/Northern Cape and Limpopo/Mpumalanga and North West. The 
Regional Commissioner for Free State and Northern Cape is now back at work. In 
KwaZulu-Natal the Regional Commissioner resigned. Although no visible disrup-
tions in service occurred, capacity in these areas has been stretched as Deputy 
Regional Commissioners were appointed to act with an increase in their workload. 
However, this arrangement is temporary and advertisements to fill the posts are 
already being processed.
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Relations with labour 

The implementation of the Occupation Specific Dispensation continues to suffer 
set backs as government and labour movements battle to find common ground. 
The developments have been slow and the impact on personnel needs to be 
measured in the mean time. Again, despite these difficulties work has continued 
in the Department.

2.3 Strategic Overview and Key Policy Developments for the 
2008/09 Financial Year

Human Resource Development 

Improving performance and enhancing service delivery remains key to the func-
tioning of the Department and to the DCS contributing to the economic growth 
of the country. The DCS recognises that skills development and training are cen-
tral in improving performance. During 2008/09, the Department, in partnership 
with the Wits Business School, provided leadership development training for sen-
ior managers, while middle managers were trained in Management Development 
Programme conducted with North West University. This is in line with the Human 
Resource Development (HRD) Strategy, 2015 unveiled by the Department of Public 
Service and Administration.

Strategic Human Resource Management

Another important element in human resource management was the development 
of the Strategic Human Resource Management (SHRM) document. Effective de-
livery on the Strategic Plan of the Department requires appropriate identification, 
recruitment and placement, training and retention of personnel. The SHRM strat-
egy has been developed to ensure that during planning strategies are appropri-
ately resourced. Quarterly Reports and Annual Reports continue to reflect lack of 
matching of strategies with sufficient human resource capacity with the result that 
service delivery is compromised. The strategy has responded to this challenge. 

Amended Correctional Services Act
 
The finalisation of the amendment to the Correctional Service Act and its approval 
by Parliament was an important milestone. This completes the long awaited policy 
development process. The important part for the Department is to embark on a 
policy review and evaluation process to ensure that:

Policies, especially ones aimed at intervention such as the Social Reintegration 
policy deliver;
Review and align all policies with the Act;
Policies are still relevant and discard those that have had no impact, to be 
replaced with new ones;
Where necessary, new policies are developed.

Management of Remand Detention

After much deliberation, Cabinet has finally given the responsibility for enhancing 
the system of managing remand detention to the DCS, with the mandate to estab-
lish a dedicated capacity to manage remand detention within the Department. In 
2009/10, the Department is expected to establish a fully fledged branch with own 
resources for management of remand detainees. The branch will also play a critical 
co-ordinating role between various role players. This is an important development 
over an issue that for a long time required a clear resolution by Cabinet.

•

•
•

•
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Progress on Construction and Upgrading of Facilities 

Facilities are an integral part of rehabilitation and reintegration. The DCS has a va-
riety of facilities, some of which are old and not designed to support this objective, 
while others, specially recently constructed ones such as Malmesbury, Mangaung, 
Emnthonjeni Youth Facility and Qalakabusha have been designed with this thinking 
in mind. Over the last four years the department has been under immense pressure 
around upgrading and construction of facilities. In this financial year, the department 
is able to demonstrate that there has been much work done in the construction of the 
Kimberly facility and upgrading of three other facilities is progressing well. It is impor-
tant to note that the issue of facilities is not limited to incarceration, and the DCS work 
with inmates. The National Spatial Development Perspective informs construction of 
facilities, and this becomes an important consideration. However, as indicated earlier, 
many of the facilities are old, and would be expensive to relocate but for the future, 
this will be the basis for constructing facilities. Other important considerations are the 
department’s contribution to the Historically Disadvantaged. In terms of the latter, the 
DCS contribution is notable. (See table below). Environmental considerations are im-
portant. In two of the facilities, the issue of saving energy has formed an important part 
of the upgrading. In Worcester, hot springs are used to heat water for the facility and 
in Van Rhynsdorp solar panels will be used for heating water. In some of the proposed 
new facilities, the Environmental Impact Assessments have helped save the rare frogs 
and prevented construction of facilities on unsuitable land. Below is the summary of 
progress of four facilities, one under construction and three that are being upgraded.

BRANDVLEI
An existing hot spring at Brandvlei delivers an abundance of hot water (±23 lt/sec) 
at 65ºC which will serve the rest of the correctional facilities on site. The initial cost 
for the installation will be R7 million. This cost will be recovered in at least five years 
on saving of electricity. The surplus of the water will be discharged to a dam on site 
to be re-used for irrigation purposes. 

VANRHYNSDORP
A solar water heating system will be installed at the facility at a cost of R 5.6 mil-
lion. With this solar water heating system a saving of R6 million will be gained over 
a ten year period compared to a conventional heat pump system that is normally 
installed in Correctional Centres.

HERITAGE BUILDING - VANRHYNSDORP
This building was built in 1933 as the first prison in the town. The Heritage Founda-
tion however decided that since the building was older than 60 years and is unique 
in the area, it must be kept as a heritage building and revamped to its original con-
dition. This will now be done with an unobstructed view from the main street for all 
to observe the building with the glass passage way designed to enable the view. 
The building with its courtyard will be used as an administration building to create 
a good working environment in this very hot area for personnel. The interior of the 
building will, with some minor changes, be revamped into office space for the staff 
members managing the facility. 

KIMBERLEY
The number of employment opportunities created is 1242 of which 916 persons 
were recruited from the nearby residential area. The number of females employed 
is 158 and the number of ex-offenders is 51.
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Brandvlei

1. Location information: Worcester, Western Cape

2. Number of beds: 1 000

3. Accommodation gain: 346

4. Tender value for construction: R287m

5. % completed: 14%

6. HDI component of the project: Around R147m work will be executed by 
targeted enterprises

7. Environmental consideration: Hot spring is used to heat water of 
facilities

Vanrhynsdorp

1. Location information: Vanrhynsdorp, Western Cape

2. Number of beds: 530

3. Accommodation gain: 328

4. Tender value for construction: R193m

5. % completed: 58%

6. HDI component of the project: Around R80m work will be executed by 
targeted enterprises

7. Environmental consideration: Solar panels are used for heating of hot 
water

8. Heritage Impact requirements Heritage building is repaired and 
design specifically allows for visual ap-
preciation of the building
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Ceres: Warmbokkeveld

1. Location information: Ceres, Western Cape

2. Number of beds: 500

3. Accommodation gain: 262

4. Tender value for construction: R182m

5. % completed: 16%

6. HDI component of the project: Around R53m work will be executed by 
targeted enterprises

7. Environmental consideration: Hot spring is used to heat water of 
facilities

Kimberley

1. Location information: Kimberley, Northern Cape

2. Number of beds: 3 000

3. Accommodation gain: 3000

4. Tender value for construction: R662m (to be consistent as R823m is 
the final value expected)

5. % completed: 87%

6. HDI component of the project: Around R160m work will be executed 
by targeted enterprises

7. Environmental consideration: Hot springs are used to heat water of 
facilities

8. Additional notes 1200 Jobs created
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2.4 Composition of Inmates

Graph 1: Sentenced and Uncentensed Offenders in Custody 5 year 
period from 2004 - 2009

Graph 1 shows inmate totals per year for the period 2004 to 2009 and indicates a 
significant drop in the sentenced offender total. During the period the unsentenced 
inmate totals fluctuated but show a general decline.  

Graph 2: Offender Statistics - Crime Categories: Sentenced Offenders 
in Custody
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Graph 3: Sentenced Offenders: Crime Categories - 5 years

The crime categories depicted above in graphs 2 and 3 show that most offenders 
have been sentenced for aggressive crimes. This is followed by economic crimes, 
sexual offences and other crimes, the lowest number being sentenced for narcot-
ics. Over a period of five years the types of crimes did not show a significant up- or 
downward trend, although a significant drop was recorded in Economical crimes 
in the period 2005 to 2006. After that, a steady incline was recorded. Aggressive 
crimes also dropped in 2005 to 2006 but remained steady from 2006-2009.

Graph 4: Sentenced Female Offenders in Custody
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Graph 4 depicts aggressive crimes and economic crimes for women. The trends 
follow the same pattern as for overall crime categories in the previous graph.   

Graph 5: Number of Sentenced Children per Month 

Graph 6: Crime Categories: Sentenced Children in Custody 31 March 
2009

Graph 7: Age Categories: Sentenced Children in Custody 31 March 
2009

Graphs 5,6 and 7, respectively, show the number of children in custody, their 
ages and sentences. Graph 7 shows that there was a steady increase in the 
number of children in custody between April 2008 and November 2008. From 
November 2008 to January 2009, there was a significant drop. From January 
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2009 to March 2008 there was again a steady increase in totals admitted. The 
bulk of the children (741 of 840) in custody are in the 16 to 17 age group.   
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2.5 Programme Performance

Purpose: Provide the administrative, management, financial, ICT, research, policy 
co-ordination and good governance support functions necessary for all service 
delivery by the Department and in support of the functions of the Ministry.

Measurable objectives:
A.1: To provide effective and efficient financial and supply chain management.
A2:  To ensure effective legally sound, policy compliance and corruption free man-

agement of Correctional Service
A3: To improve human resource capacity & management to enable department to 

fulfill its mandate    
A4: To ensure effective Knowledge Management through  improved information 

management systems, information communication technology solutions & 
services in order to ensure information driven decision making

A5: To improve DCS service delivery through involvement in the international are-
na, cluster management and parliamentary liaison

A.6 To improve platforms and services aimed at progressively meeting information 
and communication needs.

A.7: To ensure effective planning, resourcing, delivery, project management, moni-
toring and reporting for improved service delivery

2.5.1 Programme A: Administration
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Programme Performance: Administration

Measurable 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Strategy
Actual performance

Target Actual

A.1 To provide ef-
fective and efficient 
financial and supply 
chain management. 

Unqualified mat-
ters on financial 
and SCM man-
agement;  
value of waste-
ful, irregular and 
unauthorised 
expenditure; 
level of over and 
under spending; 
level of compli-
ance with asset 
register and 
verification; 
% of HDI service 
providers; 
% of late pay-
ments;

•

•

•

•

•

•

A.1.1 Compliance 
with Finance & SCM 
policies, procedures, 
standards and ap-
plicable legislation 

Formulation / 
Implementation 
review of policies 
and procedures in 
Head Office.  
Inspection reports 
on compliance 
levels in Manage-
ment areas & 
Head Office to 
establish baseline 
information

Fifteen (15) financial circulars 
were issued to give guidance 
to the financial practitioners 
regarding the coordination of 
revenue, proper debt manage-
ment, maintenance of effective 
system's information integrity, 
budgeting and expenditure 
monitoring as well as proper 
accounting and bookkeeping.   
Supply Chain Policy, Proce-
dures and Delegated powers in 
respect of Contract Manage-
ment and Procurement were 
reviewed approved, dissemi-
nated and workshopped to 
regions for implementation. 
Logis manual was developed 
and implemented in all regions 
and Head Office. LOGIS has 
been implemented throughout 
the Department.

886 contracts to the value of R 
1, 148 billion were awarded. 
Of these contracts 743 to the 
value of R1,112 billion were 
awarded to historically disad-
vantaged individuals.

A guideline on how to deal with 
fruitless and wasteful expendi-
ture was implemented. 
Five (5) cases of irregular ex-
penditure were reported. 
Asset verification process was 
completed in February 2009. 

Reduce current 
matters of qualifi-
cation by 60%.

Matters of qualifications were 
reduced by 75% as the Audit 
Report of 2006 / 2007 had 
four (4) qualifications while the 
Audit Report of 2007/ 08 had 
only one (1) qualification.

Reduced qualifica-
tions on accruals.

There were no qualifications on 
accruals the Audit Report for 
2007/08

A.2 To ensure effec-
tive legally sound, 
policy compliance 
and corruption free 
management of Cor-
rectional Service

% of corruption 
and fraud allega-
tions investigated & 
finalised;  Number 
of legal opinions 
provided and litiga-
tion cases handled. 
% of cases against 
DCS that are won;

A.2.1 Ensure compli-
ance with the law 
and policies appli-
cable to the Depart-
ment; combating 
and prevention of 
corruption, fraud and 
serious maladminis-
tration. 

Implementation of 
approved policies 
and procedures in 
all Management 
Areas and Head 
Office  
Inspection reports 
on compliance 
levels in Manage-
ment Areas  and 
Head office to 
establish baseline 
information

The Correctional Service 
Amendment Act no 25 of 2008 
promulgated on 11 November 
2008.  
Date of commencement of 
the amendment act not yet 
promulgated.
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Measurable 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Strategy
Actual performance

Target Actual

   Number of legal 
opinions provided, 
(Baseline). 
Number of litiga-
tion cases suc-
cessfully handled 
(Baseline).

94 opinions  
804 litigation cases  handled:  
claims = 175,  
motions = 235,  
arbitrations = 394. 

  A2.2 Enhance  com-
bating and preven-
tion of corruption, 
fraud and serious 
maladministration.

% Reported cases 
investigated; 

247 cases reported 
104 cases closed 
28 cases referred to Code 
Enforcement 
53.44% cases investigated 
46.66% still under investiga-
tion.

   Increased level of 
corruption aware-
ness and ethics  
Extent of the 
level of awareness 
raised. 

13 workshops focusing on 
ethics in supply chain opera-
tions were held nationally with 
448 officials attending. 

   % of implementa-
tion of findings of 
cases. 
Number of disci-
plinary cases suc-
cessfully handled. 
Number of initia-
tors and chairper-
sons whose skills 
have been en-
hanced. (Baseline)

Sanctions imposed:  
17 cases carried over from 
previous financial years (13 
officials dismissed from these 
17 cases).   
39 cases finalized with 13 
officials being dismissed.   
4 cases withdrawn before the 
hearing due to lack of eviden-
ce.  
5 acquittals.  
18 cases in progress.  
350 officials implicated in me-
dical aid fraud are to pay back 
R6 354 100 and were given 
final written warnings.   
6 Training workshops held 
nationally with 155 officials 
trained as Chairpersons / 
Initiators.

A.3 To improve 
human resource 
capacity & man-
agement to enable  
department to fulfill 
its mandate

Sufficient and ca-
pacitated members 
and management.  
Improved HR Func-
tioning; Healthy and 
safe employees; 
Improved relations 
between manage-
ment, employees 
and unions; Capa-
ble and Competent 
Employees;  Organi-
sational  structure 
that is aligned to 
the functions of the 
DCS and the post 
establishment.

A.3.1 Compliance 
with Corporate 
Services policies, 
procedures, stan-
dards & applicable 
legislation.

Implementation of 
approved policies 
and procedures in 
all Management 
Areas.  
Inspection reports 
on compliance lev-
els in Management 
Areas to establish 
baseline informa-
tion.

Orientation sessions on appro-
ved HRD Policy and Policy 
Procedures were conducted in 
all Centres of Excellence and 
Management Areas in 2008
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Measurable 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Strategy
Actual performance

Target Actual

Garnishee Order Policy and 
Procedures have been submit-
ted for the necessary approval. 

Persal Data Management and 
Access Security Policy and 
Procedures - all Regional Per-
sal Managers and Controllers 
were workshopped. Persal 
Control Measures reviewed 
and implemented in all the 
Regions 
A quantitative measurement 
tool has been implemented. 

Persal Data Management and 
Access Security Policy compli-
ance was monitored through 
the established governance 
structure (Persal Steering 
Committee), as well as through 
inspections. 
Persal administrative and 
control processes were incor-
porated into the Allowance, 
Leave, and Recruitment. 

Appointment Policy Proce-
dures to close policy gaps.

Employee Relations Policy 
and Procedure submitted for 
approval. 

Draft Suspensions and Griev-
ance Procedures tabled at 
Departmental Bargaining 
Chamber (DBC).  Labour's 
inputs are awaited. 

Strike Management Guidelines 
/ Policy revised and training 
sessions conducted with 390 
employees. Strike Manage-
ment Committees established 
in all Management Areas.   
Training sessions with 48 
managers and clerks on Em-
ployee Relations Management 
Information System were held 
in Western Cape, Gauteng and 
Free State / Northern Cape 
Regions.   
Inspection visits undertaken 
in all Regions except KZN and 
LMN due to financial con-
straints.
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Measurable 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Strategy
Actual performance

Target Actual

207 officials were trained on 
jurisdictional rulings, appli-
cation for condonation and 
management of discipline and 
grievances in general. 
900 new recruits were trained 
on the DCS Disciplinary Code 
and Procedure and also other 
related labour law matters, ig-
nore policies and procedures.

Performance and Career Man-
agement Policy: 
In support of the amendments 
proposed in this policy, DBC 
Resolution 1 of 2008 was 
negotiated and signed with 
labour unions.

Recruitment, Terminations and 
Transfers Policy submitted for 
approval.  Monitoring tools 
were developed and training 
activities were undertaken. Pol-
icy procedures workshopped 
with all Regional Corporate 
Service Managers.  A Recruit-
ment and Appointment Check-
list is implemented to identify 
areas of non-compliance.  The 
Recruitment Turnaround Model 
was workshopped with all 
Regions and control activities 
implemented in all Regions.

    Service Benefits Policy: 
In support of the amendments 
proposed in this policy, three 
collective agreements negoti-
ated and signed with labour 
unions: 
Special leave dispensation; 
Release of Union Office Bear-
ers;  
Withdrawal of the right to re-
sign with 24-hour notice.   
Monthly certifications by 
Regional Commissioners were 
implemented to ensure compli-
ance to the leave and pay roll 
management directives.   

    Organisational Development 
Policy and Procedures submit-
ted for approval. Monitoring 
tools and mechanisms also 
developed. 
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Measurable 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Strategy
Actual performance

Target Actual

    Corporate Wear Policy submit-
ted for approval. Communi-
cation to all Regions issued 
regarding wearing of Corporate 
Wear.  The proposal of new 
items was approved by Execu-
tive Management.   

Monitor the imple-
mentation of the 
8-Principle Action 
Plan on Advancing 
Gender Equality and 
Women Empower-
ment in the DCS.

Gender Strategy 
and Implementation 
Plan for Women 
Empowerment and 
Gender Equal-
ity developed and 
implemented.

A.3.1.3 Effective 
management of 
transformation and 
change.

Gender Strategy 
and Implementation 
Plan developed and 
communicated to 
the Gender Forum 
and the National 
Employee Equity 
Committee (NEEL).

Gender Strategy and Imple-
mentation Plan developed and 
communicated to the Gender 
Forum and the NEEC.
 

Develop and imple-
ment the Gender 
Empowerment 
Manual.

Developed Gen-
der Empowerment 
Manual.

 Manual developed 
and Phase 1 of the 
induction process 
of training 21 
Master Trainers has 
been completed as 
planned.  
Phases 2 and 3 
of empowering 
officials in all the 6 
Regional Offices, 
including the two 
DCS colleges and 
Head Office. 
Regional targets 
have been signifi-
cantly achieved.

4713 officials empowered. 
Conflicting priorities is often 
a factor in non-attendance of 
planned empowerment sessio-
ns impacting on the targeted 
number of officials not being 
fully reached.

Monitor the imple-
mentation of Inte-
grated Employment 
Equity Policies and 
Procedures once 
approved (Gender 
and Sexual Harass-
ment).

Approval of the 
Integrated Employ-
ment Equity Policies 
and Procedures 
facilitated.

 Approval of the 
Integrated Em-
ployment Equity 
Policies and Proce-
dures facilitated.

Approval awaited of Integrated 
Employment Equity Policies 
and Procedures.
 

Facilitate induction 
of personnel on 
mainstreaming of 
gender equality.

Personnel inducted 
on mainstreaming 
of gender equality 
within the Gender 
Empowerment 
Strategy.

 6456  officials 
inducted on main-
streaming gender 
equality.

6456 officials inducted on 
mainstreaming of gender 
equality within the Gender Em-
powerment Strategy.  PALAMA 
facilitated training of a further 
23 officials on gender mains-
treaming

Offer advice on 
development of 
gender responsive 
budget for DCS and 
monitor implemen-
tation thereof.

Monitor the imple-
mentation of gender 
responsive budgets.

 Implementation of 
gender responsive 
budgets monitored.

Training of gender responsive 
budgeting has not been done 
by PALAMA and National Trea-
sury. Coordination of training to 
commence in 2009 / 10

Develop and imple-
ment gender audit 
matrix for evaluation 
of gender main-
streaming.

Developed gender 
audit matrix.

 Gender matrix has 
been developed 
and implemented.

Gender matrix has been deve-
loped and implemented.
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Measurable 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Strategy
Actual performance

Target Actual

Facilitate approval 
and financing of 
gender structures at 
all levels.

Monitor the financ-
ing and functioning 
of gender struc-
tures.

 Monitoring of the 
financing and struc-
turing of gender 
structures.

Gauteng, FS / NC and KZN 
must still appoint Gender Focal 
Points on a permanent basis.
 

  A.3.2 Improved pro-
vision maintenance 
and management of 
human resources.

7% vacancy Financed posts:  46 253                

Filled:  41 352                          
  
Vacant:  4 901 

Current vacancy rate:  10.5%

   120 days turn 
around time to fill-
ing vacant posts.

The average turnaround time 
for the filling of vacancies 
increased to 210 days.

A tool for monitoring vacan-
cies that have been vacant for 
more than 120 days as well 
as turn around time in terms 
of the filling of vacancies has 
been developed and used to 
measure performance on the 
set targets.

   Vacancies below 
50%

The average percentage of 
vacancies for scarce skills is 
38%                      
Medical Practitioners: 20% 
Pharmacists - 42% 
Psychologists - 68% 
Social Worker:  34%        
Nurses:  26%

   Organisational 
Culture Survey con-
ducted; Develop 
change manage-
ment intervention 
plan.

An external service provider 
was appointed to conduct the 
baseline organisational culture 
survey. The change manage-
ment intervention plan was not 
developed as it is in response 
to the outcome of the culture 
survey.

   Implement new ca-
reer pathing model 
based on Public 
Service directives;  
Revise and imple-
ment Performance 
Management Policy 
and System for 
DCS employees. 

Activities related to career 
pathing have been largely 
directed towards the occupa-
tional specific dispensations 
i.e. development of the OSD 
for Correctional Services and 
the participation in other OSDs 
relevant to DCS which have 
been under discussion during 
this financial year (2008/09) 
- the OSD for Legally Qualified 
Personnel, the OSD for Social 
Workers and the OSD for Arti-
sans and Engineers
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Measurable 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Strategy
Actual performance

Target Actual

    OSD for Correctional Officials 
MTEF submissions to Treasury 
were made.  A concept docu-
ment, synopsis and transla-
tion keys were developed. 
Government's offer of the 
categorization of correctional 
officials into centre based, 
non centre based and office 
based, a 45-hour work week 
for centre based officials and 
the implementation of the 7 
Day establishment is currently 
being negotiated.

    OSD for Nurses: 
736 professional nurses were 
translated to the OSD for 
Nurses.

    OSD for Social Workers: 
A total of 13 Job Descriptions 
were developed and 7 of them 
were graded for this OSD 
through the National Depart-
ment of Social Development.
The OSD was costed and the 
figures were submitted to the 
DPSA and National Treas-
ury. The OSD could not be 
implemented as agreement 
is still being negotiated in the 
GPSSBC.

    OSD for Legally Qualified Per-
sonnel is in process of being 
approved.

    OSD for Medical Practitioners / 
Pharmacists: 
The Job Descriptions for Medi-
cal Practitioners and Pharma-
cist posts were developed. 
The ratios / staffing norms 
were revised. No agreement 
has been signed in the Public 
Health Social Development 
Sectoral Bargaining Council 
(PHSDSBC).

    OSD for Artisans and Engi-
neers: 
Inputs have been provided 
to DPSA with regard to the 
costing of the OSD to enable a 
submission to the Mandating 
Committee.  
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Measurable 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Strategy
Actual performance

Target Actual

    OSD for Educationists 
Letter sent to DPSA, Na-
tional Treasury and Education 
requesting the extension of 
ELRC agreement to DCS.  
Responses were received 
from National Treasury and 
Education referring DCS to the 
DPSA.  The response from 
DPSA is awaited.

    94% of officials at regions and 
87% of officials at Head Office 
orientated on the reviewed 
PMDS and Performance Man-
agement Booklet. 

    Monitoring of compliance of 
the different performance 
management events during the 
2008/2009 year under review 
were conducted in all Regions 
and Head Office Branches.  An 
audit sample of 10% of DCS 
employees at Head Office was 
used. Statistics for four (4) 
Branches (Corporate Serv-
ices, Corrections, Finance and 
Development & Care) are as 
follows:
 

 
There was 98% compliance to 
signing of performance agree-
ments for the 2008/2009 by 
DCS SMS members. 88% of 
SMS midterm reviews con-
ducted and registered.

signing of performance 
agreements (77%), 
conducting of mid-term 
reviews (63%), 
and performance dis-
cussions meetings with 
Supervisors (57%).

•

•

•
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Measurable 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Strategy
Actual performance

Target Actual

   Valid, reliable and 
accurate human 
resources systems 
data;  in respect of 
job titles, occupa-
tional classifica-
tions, responsi-
bilities, objectives, 
components and 
sub-components, 
training statistics, 
equity targets, 
nature of appoint-
ments, act of 
appointment, leave 
groups , leave ac-
crual codes % of 
accuracy between 
personnel deploy-
ment and Persal, 
pillar.

PERSAL Data integrity report-
ing framework aimed at report-
ing progress made in updating 
PERSAL information has been 
implemented.  
Below are the stats indicative 
of the progress made in cor-
recting PERSAL data:
 

Total target of 200 was set for 
the training of PERSAL users 
and 233 have since been 
trained to date.

   Approved Af-
firmative Ac-
tion Programme 
implemented and 
intervention meas-
ures to improve 
compliance with 
departmental 
Employment Equity 
Targets developed.  

Regions, including senior 
leadership, core group 
and strategic partners 
have been orientated on 
AA Programme 
25 Equity & Special Pro-
grammes Managers have 
been trained on the EE 
integration process.
A Special Recruitment 
Framework / Plan has 
been approved to improve 
compliance with DCS Dis-
ability Targets. 25 Strate-
gic Partners and Equity 
Managers empowered 
on the DCS customised 
"Manual on Reasonable 
Accommodation for Per-
sons with Disabilities".
Disabled staff members 
who were beneficiaries of 
computerised assistive 
devices received training 
on computers and use of 
devices.

•

•

•

Capped Leave not audited 
April  2008    March 2009 
2.96%                  0.89%
Incorrect Leave Accrual 
April  2008    March 2009 
0.49%                   0.07%
Incorrect Leave Groups 
April  2008    March 2009 
0.14%                   0.06%
Incorrect Nature of Ap-
pointment 
April  2008    March 2009 
77.91%                19.64%
Incorrect Act of appoint-
ments 
April  2008    March 2009 
0.36%                  0.20%

•

•

•

•

•
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Measurable 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Strategy
Actual performance

Target Actual

    Integrated EE into recruitment 
and selection processes to 
ensure that advertisements are 
inclusive and specific of target 
group / category required. 
And that both shortlisting and 
interviews are EE Plan driven 
to improve compliance.

  A.3.3 Delivery of 
human resource de-
velopment services 
to members and 
management.

Provide graduate 
internship pro-
gramme at 5% of 
financed  establish-
ment. Increase the 
number of interns  
to 5% of total es-
tablishment. 

Due to financial constraints the 
Department could only afford 
to appoint 791 interns.

   % of members at 
CO level, junior 
management level; 
senior management 
level who have 
received train-
ing in relation to 
skills programmes 
and line- function 
education, training 
and development 
programmes;  
base line informa-
tion established.

659 junior and middle 
managers completed jun-
ior and middle manage-
ment training.
134 senior managers 
trained.
534 investigators trained.
310 officials trained in 
Restorative Justice.
17 food handlers trained.
2436 entry level officials 
trained.

 

•

•

•
•

•
•

   Rules and regula-
tions of the envis-
aged professional 
body approved.

This was not achieved due to 
the change in leadership and 
legislation (NQF Framework 
Act).

  A.3.4 Alignment 
of Organisational 
Structure with the 
functions of the 
DCS.

Identified Critical  
posts funded in 
consultation with 
Finance. 

Critical unfunded posts were 
identified and classified into 
three phases:  

R1,886,804,679 was registered 
for funding of critical unfunded 
posts over the MTEF period.  
An amount of R 300 million 
was obtained for the funding 
of 7 Day Establishment posts.  
This funding prioritised for the 
filling of 50 Auxiliary Social 
Workers, 1056 Correctional 
Officials, 176 SCO's, 59 ASD's 
and 507 Control Room staff. 

Phase 01: 2009/10 finan-
cial year R628, 934,893, 
Phase 02: 2010/11 finan-
cial year  R628, 934,893 
and 
Phase 03: 2011/12 finan-
cial year R628 934,893 

•

•

•
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Measurable 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Strategy
Actual performance

Target Actual

   Obtain approval 
for revised organi-
sational structure, 
that is aligned to 
the functions of the 
DCS.

A comprehensive submis-
sion sent to the Minister 
for approval on the 8th of 
May 2008. 
An in-principle approval of 
the draft revised struc-
ture was granted by the 
Minister, Deputy Minister, 
National Commissioner 
and Executive Manage-
ment on the 9th and 10th 
of December 2008.
A revised submission was 
made to the Minister for 
approval in March 2009.

•

•

•

    EMC/ MCC recom-
mended that structures 
of certain components be 
lifted out of the alignment 
process and be dealt with 
urgently in order to fast 
track implementation.
These included amongst 
others, Internal Audit, Risk 
Management and Security 
Information Management. 
Consultative sessions 
were held with the relevant 
Directorates and the 
proposed structures for 
the Directorates: Security 
Management Services 
(Control Rooms), Risk 
Profile Management and 
Internal Audit were sub-
mitted for approval by the 
Minister.  

•

•

    An alignment of the approved 
organisational structure, 
post establishment, Persal 
and the current situation 
was completed for Head 
Office, Regional Office and 
Management Area Offices.                                                                                            
           
A template was developed for 
conducting alignment between 
the approved organisational 
structure, post establishment, 
Persal and the actual situation 
within Correctional Centres. 
These status quo reports were 
received from the following 
Regions: Gauteng, Eastern 
Cape and KZN. Three regions 
did not submit, mainly due to 
lack of capacity in the form of 
work study officials.



36          Department of Correctional Services  Annual Report 2008/09

Measurable 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Strategy
Actual performance

Target Actual

   Maintenance of the 
post establishment 
on Persal in line  
with the revised 
Post Establishment.  

PERSAL post establishment 
has been updated in accord-
ance with the approved organi-
sational structure.

   Grading and imple-
mentation of jobs in 
line with the revised 
Organisational 
Structure.

455 out of 496 Middle 
Management posts were 
evaluated.  
53 posts were evaluated 
emanating from special 
requests from various 
components.  
A total of 17 Job de-
scriptions for the OSD 
for correctional Officials 
were developed and the 
grading of these posts 
was done. This will cover 
approximately 34 000 
jobs within DCS.  These 
jobs were evaluated and 
graded and taken through 
a quality assurance proc-
ess with DPSA.

•

•

•

   Implementation 
and review of the 
National Integrated 
HR Plan.

Draft National Strategic HRP is 
available.  A communique was 
sent to the DPSA  requesting 
synchronization of the report-
ing times for HR Plan and 
Strategic Plan. 
The Draft Regional Strategic 
Human Resource Plan has 
been developed in line with 
revised template from the 
DPSA and will be submitted 
for approval by 30 April 2009.    
Western Cape and LMN 
Regions submitted their draft 
Regional Strategic HR Plans. 
LMN, WC, FS/NC and EC 
Regions submitted their draft 
Personnel Provisioning Plans.   

  A3.5 Implement an 
Integrated employee 
health and wellness 
programme.

Review and align 
the DCS Wellbe-
ing Strategy to the 
DPSA Draft EHW 
(Employee Health 
and Wellness) stra-
tegic framework for 
the public service.

A Draft Employee Health and 
Wellness Framework was 
developed and aligned to the 
DPSA Draft Strategic Frame-
work.                                                                 
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Measurable 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Strategy
Actual performance

Target Actual

    HIV/Aids Management. 
A successful World Aids Day 
was organised which resulted 
in the adoption by the Deputy 
Minister of the centre for peo-
ple with HIV/AIDS in Modimolle 
in the LMN region.  
Voluntary counselling and 
testing conducted at Head 
Office and LMN. VCT sessions 
are conducted regularly in the 
regions by a number of NGOs.

    A Health Risk Assessment and 
the Medical Surveillance was 
conducted at Pollsmoor Man-
agement Area and a report is 
available. 

    Occupational Health and Safe-
ty inspections were conducted 
in Krugersdorp, Witbank Uni-
form Store, Zonderwater and 
Kroonstad Colleges and the 
reports were made available 
to the respective managers 
for corrective actions to be 
embarked on.

    Service delivery standards 
for the Employee Assistance 
Programme were approved for 
implementation.   
1251 persons were individually 
counselled by EAP Practition-
ers and 1975 health promotion 
sessions were held.

    The Department is in the 
process of transforming the 
Facilities Fund to enhance 
administrative efficiency of the 
clubs and messes.

   The Commissioner, 27 SMS 
and 145 other Head Office 
officials were assessed as part 
of the drive to create a positive, 
health and motivated work-
force.  
Equipment has been pur-
chased towards establishment 
of wellness centres.
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Measurable 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Strategy
Actual performance

Target Actual

   DCS encourages par-
ticipation in sporting ac-
tivities, team development 
and a competitive spirit.
Employees participate in 
various sporting codes 
such as darts, lawn bowls, 
tennis,  cycling, angling, 
cricket, karate and aero-
bics amongst others.
DCS has participated 
in the Security Cluster 
Games and other com-
petitive activities.

•

•

•

  A.3.6 Improved em-
ployee relations.

Monitoring of 
the operations of 
Regional Labour 
Relations Forums 
(RLRF).  
Facilitate the finali-
sation of the RBO.

A National RBO Monitor-
ing Committee comprised 
of labour and senior 
managers has been es-
tablished.  
207 members of Labour 
Relations Forums were 
trained in the functioning 
of such forums. 
A National Employee 
Relations Forum was 
established consisting 
of the Head Office and 
Regional Employee Rela-
tions Management Team 
to deal with challenges 
facing Employee Relations 
nationally. 
Inspection visits on the 
operation of the labour 
relations forum were con-
ducted in all Regions.

•

•

•

•



Department of Correctional Services  Annual Report 2008/09          39

Measurable 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Strategy Actual performance

Target Actual

 A.4.To ensure 
effective Knowl-
edge Management 
through  improved 
information man-
agement systems, 
information commu-
nication technology 
solutions & services 
in order to ensure 
information driven 
decision making

 A.4.1 Management 
of and access to 
Management Infor-
mation. 

Maintain accurate, 
up-to-date, web 
based informa-
tion system (MIS), 
databases;   
% of HO Directo-
rates with neces-
sary web based 
data systems;  
base line informa-
tion.

Lesedi I (Departmental 
Investing Unit) & II (Code 
Enforcement) systems 
fully implemented at Head 
Office, Lesedi III ( Legal 
Services) system: devel-
opment phase completed.  
Pharmaceutical system: 
functional at 17 pharma-
cies.  
Enhanced Spiritual Care 
system: Development 
phase and training com-
pleted in W.Cape, E.Cape 
and LMN.
Enhanced Commu-
nity Corrections system: 
Development completed, 
users fully trained and 
system fully functional in 
all offices.       
Risk Assessment tool 
(Admission and Release 
System): Training and im-
plementation completed. 
RDOMS module phase 
I : Analysis phase com-
pleted and development in 
progress.
HOCC System: Fully 
functional

•

•

•

•

•

    1421 officials trained on 
operational and management 
systems.

    Data Audits conducted in re-
gions to improve data integrity 
for Admission and Release 
System and Community Cor-
rection Systems. Generally 
performance in the Admission 
and Release System has im-
proved from 61% to 95%.

    Service Level Agreement (SLA) 
with National Library for the 
Blind signed. 
Mini-Library for the Blind es-
tablished at Head Office. 
Six pilot sites have been 
cabled and equipped towards 
implementation of the Regional 
Information Resource Centers.
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Measurable 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Strategy Actual performance

Target Actual

   PAIA requests 
made and ac-
ceded to; File plan 
approved and 
implemented; % of 
document security 
breaches.

Section 14 manual was 
reviewed and is accessible 
on the PAIA website.  
Section 15 reports submit-
ted to Department of 
Justice and Constitutional 
Development. 
19 requests received for 
information of which 14 
were granted, 2 were de-
nied, 2 were appealed and 
1 has been taken to court.  
Section 32 report submit-
ted to SAHRC.
Deputy Information Offic-
ers have been trained in 
compliance with Section 
83(3)(e) of PAIA. 
Service provider ap-
pointed to to begin with 
Electronic Documents 
Records Management 
Systems (EDRMS) and 
clean-up project is 70% 
completed at pilot sites   
File Plan approved by 
National Archives. 
Records Destruction Reg-
ister in progress.

•

•

•

•

•
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Measurable 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Strategy Actual performance

Target Actual

  A.4.2Provision of  
evaluative research 
and accessible 
research findings/
reports on strategic 
foci.

Research projects 
on strategic foci ini-
tiated and reported 
quarterly .

Research projects cur-
rently underway:                                                                                           

Analysis of previous convic-
tions - Interaction with the 
South African Police Service's 
Criminal Records Centre and 
internal verification of infor-
mation process is underway 
to ensure accurate offender 
information.
                           
Evaluation of parole boards 
- advice sought from evalua-
tion research experts, terms 
of reference and project plan 
developed and the task team 
appointed.                                                                                         

Monitoring the implementation 
of the Correctional Services 
Act: final field work completed; 
DCS staff capacitated, elec-
tronic tool nearing completion.                                                                                        

Survey of organisational culture 
- service providers appointed. 
The screening for tuberculosis 
in the Johannesburg Medium 
B Correctional Facility and Ret-
rospective Review of Offenders 
on Antiretroviral Therapy at 
Chris Hani  
Baragwanath Hospital - The 
Memorandum of Agreement 
signed with external institu-
tions.                                                                                     

   Internal publication 
of list of research 
completed and 
research reports 
accessible;  
Policy research and 
debate forum ses-
sions held. 

A list of all completed research 
reports has been compiled and 
is updated regularly. 
One Policy Research and 
Debate Forum session was 
held on "an assessment of the 
impact of HIV/AIDS on Correc-
tional System Governance with 
special emphasis on Correc-
tional Services Staff".
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Measurable 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Strategy Actual performance

Target Actual

 A.4.3 Development 
of ICT systems 
to support DCS 
Knowledge & Infor-
mation Management 
Plan.

Level 2.  Finalize 
implementation 
and peer review of 
level 1 and 2 and 
self assessment of 
maturity level 2 and  
Compile corrective 
action plans.   
Implementation 
Plan for level 4

An external assessment was 
completed and the following 
deliverables were provided : 
As Is Assessment Report 
Gap Analysis 
Prioritised Improvement Areas 
Implementation Roadmap (for 
level 3) 
Implementation plan is being 
developed to address the gaps

  Review, update and 
implement plan.  
Priority 2 initiatives

Design phase of the Remand 
Detainee and Offender Man-
agement System has been 
completed and the tender 
awarded to a service pro-
vider for the development of 
RDOMS. 
Integrated Corporate Services 
System (Project Phetogo) has 
been equipped.  
Integrated Legal System 
(Lesedi 2) (Code Enforcement 
and Employee Relations) is 
operational. 
Integrated Legal System 
(Lesedi 3) (Legal Services) 
System complete and training 
undertaken. Implementation 
will begin in the new financial 
year. 
Design phase of Cluster and 
Parliamentary Liaison system is 
complete 
Service Provider appointed 
for Electronic Document and 
Records Management System 
(EDRMS). 
Strategic Planning System in 
process of analysis & design 
phase. 
Corporate Performance 
Management: Centre Level 
Performance Rating System 
sub-system in process of 
analysis and design phase 
WEB Re-Engineering in proc-
ess of analysis phase 
National Contact Centre 
system is completed and 
operational for outbound 
and inbound calls. A change 
management framework is in 
implementation. 
Basic Infrastructure Project is 
in the planning phase 
Security Systems Integra-
tion not attended to due to 
resource constraints. 
Successful implementation of 
Identity Management software
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Measurable 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Strategy Actual performance

Target Actual

Software development Con-
tract for Correctional Serv-
ices Monitoring Systems Act 
Signed.

Telecommunications Related 
Projects: over 16,000 users 
were linked to fax to mail serv-
ices, and management Project  
improved via suspension of 
unused telephone lines.

  Integration of 
systems Phase 2.  
Development of an 
integrated  opera-
tions centre.

Enterprise Architecture - Inte-
grated Technology Strategy:  
Business Case and Project 
Charter completed. 
 

   Roll out of OSS. The National Contact Centre 
system was built entirely using 
Open Source technology.  
The core technology is Asterisk 
PBX, which is an OSS plat-
form specifically designed for 
delivering extensible telephone 
management solutions. 

A.5. To improve 
DCS service 
delivery through 
involvement in the 
international arena, 
cluster management 
and parliamentary 
liaison.

 A.5.1To mainstream 
corrections and 
criminal justice into 
multilateral proc-
esses of SADC and 
AU to promote and 
influence global 
governance related 
to Corrections and 
Criminal Justice 
System.

Preparation for SA 
corrections pro-
gramme of action  
regarding SADC.

15-20 Feb 2009 SIPO Work-
shop in Swaziland which 
achieved the formal recogni-
tion of the SADC Heads of 
Corrections’ Action Plan which 
became part of the integral 
strategic plan of the whole of 
SADC.  

31 Mar – 2 Apr 2009 a joint Af-
rican Correctional Services As-
sociation (ACSA) and Interna-
tional Corrections and Prisons 
Association (ICPA) was held 
in Abuja, Nigeria. The main 
achievement of this workshop 
was the historic cooperative 
agreement between ACSA and 
ICPA on a joint programme of 
action towards the develop-
ment of corrections in Africa.

  A.5.2 Involvement in 
integrated govern-
ance for improved 
service delivery

Annual assessment 
of the impact of 
coordinated par-
ticipated, delivery 
and reporting in 
Clusters.

Drafting an improved strategy 
for the management of DCS 
Sub committee on the GPOA. 
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Measurable 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Strategy Actual performance

Target Actual

  A.5.3 Management 
of Parliamentary 
Liaison.

Review the system 
of Parliamentary 
coordination and 
management of 
Parliamentary 
questions and pres-
entations / briefing;  
Improve compli-
ance with Parlia-
mentary systems. 

Improved management of 
Parliamentary questions and 
turn-around times. The sub di-
rectorate is now able to answer 
all Parliamentary questions on 
time.

The Cluster and Parliamentary 
Management System (CPMLS) 
project has been completed 
and is now in the testing 
stages.

 A.5.4. Improve 
relationships with 
institutions support-
ing democracy and 
institutions respon-
sible for oversight of 
DCS.

System of  coordi-
nation of Chapter 
Nine institutions, 
institutions sup-
porting democracy 
and institutions 
responsible for 
oversight of DCS  is 
reviewed. 

This target is deferred to the 
next financial year due to ca-
pacity constraints.

A.6 To improve 
platforms and 
services aimed 
at progressively 
meeting information 
and communication 
needs.

 A.6.1 Improve com-
munication with 
internal and external 
publics, including 
inmates.

Improved under-
standing of DCS 
core business, 
performance rating 
and participation in 
the implementation 
of the White Paper. 
Base line informa-
tion.

An overarching DCS com-
munication strategy has 
been approved.  
As part of an effort to 
improve the internal and 
external publics under-
standing of the DCS core 
mandate, 6 editions of 
the bi-monthly internal 
newsletter were printed 
and distributed to stake-
holders. 
Celebration of Corrections 
Week received centre 
stage from several sec-
tors, including the media.   
Other national events and 
major campaigns that 
were publicised include 
Budget Vote, Youth 
Month, World AIDS Day, 
Round Table Discussions, 
Operation Vala. Imbizos 
were organised around 
some of the events. 

•

•

•

•

  A.6.2 Promotion 
of DCS Corporate 
Image.

Improve DCS per-
formance ratings by 
another 5%.

No scientific survey was con-
ducted to measure perform-
ance rating due to financial 
constraints. 

   Signage and bran-
ding covers 50% of 
DCS institutions. 

The Corporate Identity Manual 
has been developed and pub-
lished on the intranet. Replac-
ing the previous DCS logo with 
the new signage is at various 
stages of progress due to 
financial resource limitations. 
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Measurable 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Strategy
Actual performance

Target Actual

A.7. To ensure ef-
fective planning, 
resourcing, delivery, 
project manage-
ment, monitoring 
and reporting for 
improved service 
delivery

Clear perform-
ance infor-
mation audit 
opinion;
Reduce infor-
mation security 
breaches;  
enhance com-
pliance levels.

•

•

A.7.1 Ensure inte-
grated Strategic, Op-
erational, Financial 
Planning , resourcing 
and Performance 
Reporting. 

Timely submission 
and / or tabling 
of the Strategic 
Plan, ENE, Annual 
Report, MTEC Sub-
missions.

Annual report, Strategic plan, 
ENE and MTEC submissions 
submitted on time.

   Timely submis-
sion of all the DCS 
reports for oversight 
bodies, Presidency 
& Cabinet.

End year report, 2025 vision 
, Annual reports, and plans 
submitted on time to oversight 
bodies.

   Developed M&E 
system.

Monitoring, Evaluation 
and Reporting Policy and 
procedures completed and 
submitted for approval.
Performance indicators 
developed in line with 
FMPPI and submitted to 
National Commissioner for 
approval.

•

•

  A.7.2 Ensure ongo-
ing Service Delivery 
Improvement within 
DCS.

SDIP included in 
strategic plan and 
annual report.

SDIP part of the Strategic 
plan 2008/09
Three key services were 
approved:
Improve provisioning of 
ABET to offenders
Improve scheduling of 
visitation to offenders
Improve filling of vacant 
posts, thus enhancing job 
creation. 

•

•

•

•

•

   Approved innova-
tion identification 
mechanism imple-
mented in 36 CoE.

Innovation Communicator's 
Forum established. 
First ever Innovation Unlimited 
Conference held in August 
2008.  
Innovations presented at the 
conference were entered into 
the Centre for Public Ser-
vice Innovation Public Sector 
Award process in November 
2008. Goodwood Centre in the 
Western Cape won the Public 
Partnership Category with their 
Plastic Sleeping Bag project. 
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Measurable 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Strategy
Actual performance

Target Actual

  A.7.3 Ensure 
improvement of 
management of 
programmes and 
projects within DCS.

White Paper & 
and Strategic 
programmes and 
projects milestones 
are met.

Project Governance tem-
plates have been piloted 
on the prioritized projects. 
The scope of these 
projects has been refined 
when new Project Charter 
templates were used. 
Evaluation of work com-
pleted before Project 
Managers were appointed 
has been carried out to 
ensure that the milestones 
are aligned to the strategic 
plans of the Department.

•

•

•

   A functional Project 
Office. 

Four contract  Project Manag-
ers, a Deputy Director, Senior 
Correctional Officer and a 
secretary were appointed. 
Four Dedicated Project Manag-
ers appointed. 
Compliance with project 
documentation templates as 
provided by Technical Assis-
tance Unit of Treasury.

   Approved proj-
ect management 
framework and 
procedures and 
project manage-
ment guidelines.

Project Management Guide-
lines available. 
Project Management proce-
dures and Project Portfolio 
Management procedures have 
been submitted for approval.

  A.7.4 Enhance 
coordination and 
support  to opera-
tional management 
within DCS.

A functional Man-
agement Informa-
tion Centre.

Virtual MIC developed in 
lieu of physical MIC due to 
budgetary constraints.
Virtual MIC is being refined 
while in use.
Documents for decision 
making by executive man-
agement loaded

•

•

•

   Approved mecha-
nisms.

Regional Commissioner's 
Forum (RCF) Charter ap-
proved. 
RCF reporting framework 
developed. 
Planning Reporting and 
Resourcing Coordination 
Committee established 
and functional to en-
sure integrated planning 
support to operational 
management. 
Planning and Reporting 
Forum established with 
CDC and RCs.

•

•

•

•
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Measurable 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Strategy
Actual performance

Target Actual

  A.7.5 Enhance 
measures to miti-
gate significant and 
prioritized risk within 
DCS.

Approved Business 
Continuity Plan. 

Business Continuity Manage-
ment has been registered as a 
project and governance docu-
ments submitted for approval.   

  A7.6   Ensure effec-
tive security co-ordi-
nation within DCS.

Inspection to meas-
ure compliance 
with departmental 
security policy & 
procedures.

Function relocated to the office 
of the National Commissioner. 

   Approval of the rec-
ommendations on 
the security TRA. 

Function relocated to the office 
of the National Commissioner. 

   Delivery of the vet-
ting target for YR2.

Function relocated to the office 
of the National Commissioner. 

   Approved physical 
security plan and 
information security 
plan.

Function relocated to the office 
of the National Commissioner. 

  A.7.7 Ensure ef-
fective delivery on 
Compliance Inspec-
tions.

Approved CIP 
implemented and 
inspection on exist-
ing Compliance 
Improvement Plans.

CIP was implemented and 
inspections conducted on 
existing CIP. 

Reasons for Major Variances

With the implementation of the moratorium on 1 August 2008, the momentum in reducing the vacancy rate could 
not be sustained.  The Department had to place a moratorium on the filling of non-critical posts from 1 August 
2008 to mitigate against the over expenditure that was foreseen, largely emanating from the implementation of 
PSCBC Resolution 1 of 2007 with respect to the payment of overtime.  This decision severely affected the ability 
of the Department to meet the vacancy rate target. The impact of the decentralisation of delegations of authority 
in respect of recruitment and selection was not felt due to the implementation of the moratorium. Recruitment 
processes still need to be refined. Personal Suitability Checks have also contributed to the inability to meet the 
turnaround time target because of the time frames of external stakeholders in providing the feedback required.
The Departments average vacancy rate in the scarce skills category is below the service delivery target of 50%.  
This can be attributed to an effective counter offer and head hunting strategy and the implementation of the OSD 
for Nurses. There are occupational categories that remain a challenge e.g. Psychologists and Pharmacists where 
more needs to be done to make the remuneration offered more attractive. Compensation is still the primary 
reason for voluntary exits in addition to the challenges associated a correctional centre working environment.
A challenge with the implementation of all the OSDs has been the lack of funds to implement the OSDs, lack of 
agreement with labour on the principles of the OSD agreement, absence of clarity regarding middle management 
nurses and no signed resolution on the OSD for Social Workers. The Department of Health has issued a letter 
stating that all OSDs which fall under PHSDSBC must be kept on hold until 2009 / 2010, as there were no funds 
allocated in this financial year.
Change of leadership delayed the process in establishing a professional body for Corrections. The delay was also 
caused by a change in legislation (NQF Framework Act).

•

•

•

•
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Purpose:  Provide safe and healthy conditions for all persons incarcerated, consis-
tent with human dignity, and thereby provide security for personnel and the pu-
blic.
Measurable objective: Prevent persons incarcerated from participating in crimi-
nal activities and escaping, by providing an environment that ensures the safety of 
all persons entrusted to the Department’s care as well as the safety of the public. 
  

2.5.2 Programme B: Security

Graph 8: Escapes: 2002/03 - 2008/09
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Measurable 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator Strategy

Actual performance

Target Actual

B1. To prevent 
persons incarcerated 
from participating in 
criminal activities & 
escaping, by provid-
ing an environment 
that ensures the 
safety of all persons 
entrusted to the de-
partment’s care as 
well as the safety of 
the public. Outcome: 
Enhanced public 
safety & internal 
safety & security

Number of 
escapes per 10 
000 inmates
Number of 
assaults per 
10 000 in DCS 
facilities
Number of un-
natural deaths 
per 10 000 
Provision of ac-
cess security at 
DCS facilities
Number of of-
ficials involved 
in assisting 
escapes and 
erroneous re-
leases

•

•

•

•

•

B.1.1 Compliance 
with Security poli-
cies, procedures, 
standards & appli-
cable legislation 

Implementation of 
approved policies 
and procedures in 
all Management 
Areas  
Inspection reports 
on compliance lev-
els in Management 
Areas to establish 
baseline information

Current policies and policy 
procedures available and im-
plemented in all Management 
Areas. 
Inspection reports on compli-
ance levels available.

  B 1.2 Improved se-
curity management 
to improve detention 
& working environ-
ment of inmates, 
staff, service provid-
ers & safety of the 
public

Less than 4,8 
inmates per 10 
000 inmates who 
escape 

4.1  inmates per 10 000 in-
mates escaped

   Less than 92 as-
saults  per 10 000 
inmates in DCS 
facilities

83 inmates per 10 000 inmates 
assaulted 

   Less than 3,5 un-
natural deaths per 
10 000 inmates in 
DCS facilities 

3.9 unnatural deaths per 10 
000 inmates

   67 Centres with 
access security 
(inclusive of x-ray 
scanners) installed 
& functioning;  
8 sites with security 
access control & 
fences

X-Ray scanners at 66 sites and 
access control systems and 
security fences at additional 8 
sites not installed.  Non com-
pliance by service provider

   Existing behav-
iour modification 
programme from 
Ebhongweni Cor-
rectional Centre 
reworked into a 
security programme 
to support rehabili-
tation 

Behaviour modification pro-
gramme not completed. 

Programme Performance: Security
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Purpose: Provide needs-based correctional sentence plans and interventions, 
based on an assessment of the security risk and criminal profile of individuals, 
targeting all elements associated with offending behaviour, and focusing on the 
offence for which a person is sentenced to correctional supervision, remanded in 
a correctional centre or paroled.
Measurable objective: Address the specific rehabilitation needs of persons who 
have been sentenced to correctional supervision or sentenced to incarceration in 
a correctional centre or paroled, through regular assessment and providing needs-
based correctional programmes to address all the elements associated with of-
fending behaviour.

2.5.3 Programme C: Corrections 

Programme Performance: Corrections

Measurable 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Strategy Actual performance

Target Actual

C1. To address 
the specific reha-
bilitation needs of 
persons who have 
been sentenced to 
correctional supervi-
sion or sentenced 
to incarceration in a 
correctional centre 
or paroled, through 
regular assess-
ment and providing 
needs-based correc-
tional programmes 
to address all the 
elements associ-
ated with offending 
behaviour.     

Level of over-
crowding in DCS 
facilities;
Number of of-
fenders serving 
more than 24 
months who are 
assessed and 
have sentence 
plans. Number 
of correctional 
centres imple-
mentation  unit 
management
Total number 
of paid units of 
labour worked 
per year; 
% of inmates in 
DCS facilities 
who are receiv-
ing meals in 
accordance 
with Sec 8(5) 
of  Correctional 
Services Act; 
% of offenders in 
quality assured 
/ endorsed 
correctional 
programmes.

•

•

•

•

•

C.1.1 Compliance 
with Corrections  
policies, proce-
dures, standards 
and applicable 
legislation 

Implementation of 
approved policies 
and procedures in 
all management 
areas;    
Inspection reports 
on compliance lev-
els in Management 
areas to establish 
baseline information

A consolidated Branch Cor-
rections Policy was developed 
and submitted for approval.  
A total of thirty (30) chapters 
in the old B- Order (covering 
all administrative actions from 
admission to release) were 
converted into Procedures and 
submitted for approval.  
The DCS Policy procedures 
on Unit  Management, Case 
Management Committees as 
well as Registration and Voting 
by inmates were developed, 
approved and disseminated to 
Regions.
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Measurable 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Strategy Actual performance

Target Actual

  C.1.2  Improvement 
of effective and 
compliant adminis-
tration and manage-
ment of Correctional 
Centres 

Unit Management 
including structured 
day programme 
and three meals a 
day implemented 
at COE's, and at 51 
other correctional 
centres

All COE's and 51 other Correc-
tional Centres are implement-
ing Structured Day, three meal 
system and Unit Management.  
During site visits it was ob-
served that the degree of im-
plementation and compliance 
varies across Correctional 
Centres.

   All newly admitted 
offenders serving 24 
months and more 
have CSP's in dedi-
cated admission / 
assessment centre 
of expertise;  
CSPs for all offend-
ers due for release; 
(2 800)

12 551 offenders have Cor-
rectional Sentence Plans 

    108 000 work op-
portunities pro-
vided to sentenced 
inmates;.  
% of inmates with 
relevant skills 
provided with work 
opportunities

146 393 offenders were in-
volved in work opportunities. 

  C1.3 Provision of 
quality assured / 
endorsed correc-
tional programmes, 
with support from 
service providers 

Implementation 
of needs based 
correctional pro-
grammes to 30% 
of relevant offender 
population , includ-
ing programmes for 
special categories 
of offenders;  
Increased involve-
ment of service 
providers in provi-
sion of correctional 
programmes;  
Baseline information

60543 offenders participated 
in correctional programmes 
against the targeted 15 704 
(30%). 
This is partly a result of service 
providers.  21 including NGOs 
CBOs and FBOs are providing 
programmes. 

  C1.4 Management 
of Offender popula-
tion levels

Level of overcrowd-
ing in DCS facilities  
140 % 

The average population level 
was 143%  

   All new offenders 
admitted classified;  
% of other sen-
tenced offenders 
classified

18 873 new offenders clas-
sified using the Admission 
security risk classification and 
94.7% of the sentenced of-
fender population is classified 

  C1.5 Effective Man-
agement of Remand 
Detention

Determine base-
line information, 
develop Procedures 
and monitor the 
implementation of 
relevant statutes by 
Regions and Man-
agement Areas

A tool with baseline infor-
mation was utilized by the 
Regions to monitor the imple-
mentation of relevant statutes 
of the Criminal Procedure Act 
(Act 51 of 1977) from April 
2008 to February 2009.  
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Measurable 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Strategy Actual performance

Target Actual

   Installation of per-
sonal tracking de-
vices in 12 facilities

Personal tracking devices 
were not installed in 12 facili-
ties due to poor procurement 
process.    

   Installation of 
video postponement 
equipment in 12 
facilities

The project has been delayed 
due to the identification appro-
priate facilities in sites (Confir-
mation and upgrading) 
 
Virtual courts are only opera-
tional in two Correctional Cen-
tres which are Durban Westville 
and St Albans. 

Reasons for Major Variances
The variance in implementation of unit management and the three meal system 
over weekends is due to human resource constraints which will be addressed 
by the implementation of the 7 day shift system
Sites need to be upgraded and budget constraints hampered delivery on the 
video postponement project.

•

•
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Purpose: Provide needs-based care programmes and services aimed at main-
taining the personal well-being of incarcerated persons in the Department’s care.
Measurable objective: To ensure the personal well-being of incarcerated persons 
by providing various needs-based services.

Service Delivery Highlights
A centre of expertise for Psychological Services was established in 2008/09 
and entry salary levels for psychologists were upgraded from level 8 to level 10 
in November 2009 to improve service conditions and enhance the recruitment 
and retention strategy of the DCS.
Research on the needs of elderly offenders with the view of streamlining serv-
ices has been finalised
A service provider was appointed for the provision of meals in the seven big 
management areas (Johannesburg, Pretoria, Modderbee, Krugersdorp, St Al-
bans, Durban Westville and  Pollsmoor).
Implementation of the CHATSEC (Combating HIV/AIDS through Spiritual & 
Ethical Conduct) Programme and Heartlines Moral Renewal programme for 
offenders & staff. 10673 inmates and staff participated in the Heartlines Moral 
Renewal Programme and 2505 inmates in the CHATSEC Programme.
The Department boosted its Care programme with the appointment of seven 
new chaplains. 
Social work services exceeded the target set by conducting 168 168 individual 
sessions and 31 984 group work sessions.

•

•

•

•

•

•

2.5.4 Programme D: Care
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Measurable 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Strategy
Actual performance

Target Actual

D.1. To ensure the 
personal well-be-
ing of incarcerated 
persons by providing 
various needs-based 
services.   

% of offenders 
in needs-
based care 
programmes 
- social work 
services; 
psychological 
services; 
spiritual care 
services; 
Number of 
correctional 
centres 
implementing 
comprehensive 
primary health 
care services
Number of 
correctional 
centres 
implementing 
comprehensive 
primary health 
care services;  
100% access 
to primary 
health care for 
offenders in 
need in relation 
to TB, STI, 
HIV, chronic 
medication 
100%  access to 
comprehensive  
HIV and AIDS 
programmes 
and services  for 
offenders

•

•

•

D.1.1 Compliance 
with Care policies, 
procedures, 
standards and 
applicable 
legislation 

Implementation of 
approved policies 
and procedures in 
all Management 
Areas  
Inspection reports 
on compliance 
levels in 
Management Areas 
to establish baseline 
information

Procedure Manual for 
Psychological Services 
implemented.  
Monitoring and Evaluation 
visits were conducted in 5 
Regions at 5 Correctional 
Centres.  Compliance with 
Psychological Policies was 
achieved in all 5 Regions 

    Elderly Offenders Policy, Child 
Offenders Policy and Policy 
Procedures for Youth, Infants 
& Mothers and Offenders with 
Disabilities were approved 
and distributed to the Regio
ns.                          

Social Workers were trained 
in the six (6) Regions on the 
implementation of Social Work 
Policy and Procedure as well 
as Supervision Guidelines.             

Monitoring and Evaluation 
of social work services 
was conducted in all six (6) 
Regions  where  twenty five 
(25) Correctional Centres were 
visited.

Programme Performance: Care
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Measurable 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Strategy
Actual performance

Target Actual

    Policies submitted for approv-
al: Personal Hygiene manage-
ment,  Enviromental Hygiene 
management and  Health Care 
Waste management.                            
Procedure manual for Contol 
of Tobacco was approved.  
Monitoring and Evaluation 
visits were conducted in all 
Regions at selected Manage-
ment Areas  

    Spiritual Care Policies and 
Procedures implemented in all 
Management Areas.  
ZCC Guidelines were ap-
proved.  
Reports on Spiritual Care 
monitoring and evaluation that 
was conducted in all Regions 
at 22 Management Areas are 
available.   

  D.1.2. Provision of 
comprehensive 
primary health care 
services to all of-
fenders, awaiting 
trial detainees and 
babies of incarcer-
ated mothers.

Baseline info on of-
fender health trends 
in relation to govern-
ment priority areas;  
Provide and main-
tain current health 
care programmes 
and services;  
Health care pro-
grammes targeting 
government priority 
illnesses implement-
ed in 100% of the 
Management Areas;  
72 centres providing 
primary health care 
services

A service provider was not 
appointed to conduct the 
baseline survey on offender 
health trends due to shortage 
of funds.                                  
                         
 A service provider was ap-
pointed to conduct a feasibility 
study for the outsourcing of 
pharmaceutical services. The 
study has been conducted 
and the final report is awaited.                                                              
Monitoring and Evaluation 
visits were conducted in all 
Regions at selected Manage-
ment Areas   
Health care programmes 
targeting government priority 
areas are available and acces-
sible in all Management Areas.  
Primary health care services 
are available to all offenders 
according to the identified 
health needs.   
The Pharmaceutical Risk Miti-
gation Plan was approved and 
is being implemented.

  D1.3 Provision of  
needs based care 
programmes to of-
fenders

% of offenders par-
ticipating in Social 
work sessions (more 
than 101 000 ses-
sions)  
Base line informa-
tion on offender 
participation 

116115 offenders participated 
in Social work sessions 
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Measurable 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Strategy
Actual performance

Target Actual

   % of offenders 
participating in Psy-
chological sessions 
(More than 10 200 
sessions)  
Base line informa-
tion on offender 
participation 

9073 sentenced offenders 
received services (8.2% of the 
average sentenced offender 
population).   
Service Level Standards are 
met as all suicide referrals 
were dealt with and 97% of 
referals from court were at-
tended to by psychologists.  
2793 sentenced offend-
ers (2.5% of the sentenced 
population) participated in 
structured group therapy with 
psychlogists in Sex Offending, 
Aggressive Offender, Alchohol 
and Drug abuse, HIV and AIDS 
and other needs based group 
therapy. 

   % of offenders par-
ticipating in: Spiri-
tual care sessions 
(More than 166 000 
sessions)  
Base line informa-
tion on offender 
participation  

More than 168 784 spiritual 
care sessions were con-
ducted. 60% of offenders 
were involved in spiritual care 
activities. Baseline information 
on offender participation is 
available.

   % of needs-based 
care programmes 
provided by external 
providers;   
Baseline info;   
% of offenders in 
externally provided 
care programme

A database of external service 
providers for Psychological 
and Social Work Services has 
been created.   
829 offenders participated in 
psychological programmes 
and 5087 offenders participat-
ed in social work programmes. 
23 external service providers 
provide spiritual care services.  
15,3% of offenders participat-
ed in these programmes 

  D1.3.3 Measure and 
evaluate the impact 
and effectiveness 
of corrections, de-
velopment and care 
programmes and 
services

Pilot measurement 
in selected centres 
(1 CoE per region) 

Pilot of Impact Measurement 
Instrument in 6 Centres of 
Excellence (1 CoE per region) 
completed.  
Report available on Pilot 
Project.

  D.1.3.4. Provide 
compulsory Correc-
tions, Development 
and Care Pro-
grammes

Development and 
implementation of 
Policy Procedures 
on compulsory Cor-
rections, Develop-
ment and Care 
programmes

Draft  Policy Procedures   de-
veloped and submitted to the 
Regions for consultation.

  D.1.4. Provision 
of comprehen-
sive HIV and AIDS 
programmes and 
services to all of-
fenders

Offenders in 20% 
of management 
areas are profiled for 
KAPB in relation to 
HIV & AIDS; 

Pilot data captured and anal-
ysed in the identified Mange-
ment Areas.
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Measurable 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Strategy
Actual performance

Target Actual

   Implementation 
of comprehen-
sive HIV and AIDS 
programmes and 
services in 50% of 
all Management 
Areas 

Comprehensive HIV and AIDS 
programmes and services 
implemented in 50% of the 
Management Areas. 

   % of offenders 
participating in HIV 
/ AIDS sessions 
(More than 19 500 
sessions)

72746 offenders participated 

  D.1.5. Development 
and implementa-
tion of needs based 
Correction, Devel-
opment and Care 
programmes  for 
special categories of 
offenders as defined 
in the White Paper   

Established base-
line information on 
number of offend-
ers within special 
categories;  
Number of special 
category offenders 
are participating 
in existing pro-
grammes;  
Customisation of 
existing corrections, 
care and develop-
ment programmes 
and services to 
meet the needs of 
special category 
offenders

84991 offenders forms the 
special categories baseline 
Offender participation in Care 
Programmes disaggregated as 
follows : 
Social Work Services : 21089   
Spiritual Care Services  :   
39563 
Psychological services: 3653 
Spiritual Care services and 
programmes were aligned to 
meet the needs of special cat-
egories, e.g. Heartlines, New 
Life Behaviour, CHATSEC, 
Alpha Youth  
No special customization 
of existing health care pro-
grammes and services for 
special categories of offend-
ers. Existing health care, 
psychological and social work 
services and programmes 
are inclusive of the individual 
needs of all categories of of-
fenders  

Reasons for Major Variances

Social Work Services: The target of 101 000 sessions was exceeded due to 
the commitment of personnel and the involvement of external service provid-
ers in service delivery.
Spiritual Care: The actual achievement of 168 784 exceeded the target of 166 
000 sessions, due to the appointment of seven new Chaplains in the Regions 
and the training of Spiritual Care Staff on policies, procedures and services 
level standards
Psychological Services:  Target of 10500 offenders seen by psychologists 
was not achieved due to resource constraints - the number of psychologists  
dropped from 33 in April 2008  to 22 in March 2009 due to six resignations and 
the completion of psychologists undertaking community service. 
Health Care Services: The health survey was not conducted due to financial 
constraints

•

•

•

•
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Purpose:  Provide needs-based personal development programmes and services 
to all offenders.
Measurable objective: Provide needs-based educational, skills and other devel-
opment-related programmes, to facilitate the reintegration of offenders into com-
munities. 

Service delivery highlights

Production Workshops and Agriculture
Four feasibility studies were conducted to investigate the possible establish-
ment of new bakeries within the Department. The consultation process is cur-
rently in progress.  
An agreement was reached with the Department of Water Affairs and Forestry 
to eradicate invader weeds on approximately 4 400 hectares at  Brandvlei 
Correctional Centre farm under the "Working for Water "project. To date ap-
proximately 850 hectares have been cleaned.  

Formal Education 
The National Youth Service Literacy Programme has been finalized with the 
graduation of 217 offenders as ABET Facilitators at National Qualification 
Framework Level 5. This is a project in partnership with the Umsobomvu Youth 
Fund spearheaded by the Presidency with the intention that these offenders 
will in turn train illiterate offenders at their respective correctional centres.   
11 Computer based training centres for offenders have been established as 
an integral part of the subject Life Orientation within the National Curriculum 
Statement (NCS) for grades 10 – 12.   
Eighteen officials at Malmesbury were trained as master trainers in partnership 
with PLATO (People Learning and Training Online) to enhance ICT skills  
Macmillan Teacher Campus assisted DCS with the training of 110 Educators in 
the New Curriculum Statement (FET- General).  
De Beers Consolidated Mines in Kimberley donated R80 000 for the develop-
ment of nine ABET Facilitators in Kimberley in partnership with READUCATE 
(a service provider).  
Usethubeni ( Durban Westville Youth Correctional Centre) is the only centre 
within DCS that wrote the New Curriculum Statement (NCS) examination im-
plemented for the first time in the Department of Education and achieved a 
75% pass rate against the National pass rate of 62%,  
Brandvlei Management Area received the most awards at the Western Cape 
Provincial Department of Education's Annual Award Ceremony for Adult Learn-
ers
DCS held its own awards ceremony for excellence in the teaching profession 
by awarding committed and dedicated educators across all regions  

Skills Development
100 Offenders from 5 regions have successfully completed a 6 months skills 
training programme on New Venture Creation.   New Venture Creation pro-

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

2.5.5 Programme E: Development
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gramme is SAQA accredited and is equivalent to NQF Level 4. Offenders in 
this programme have been capacitated to start and run their own businesses 
as entrepreneurs who may employ others, thus contributing to ASGISA objec-
tives of halving unemployment and poverty by 2014. This Programme was 
funded by Safety and Security Sector Education and Training Authority (SAS-
SETA) to the value of approximately R2 million. In addition SASSETA allocated 
R757 000 to train 100 offenders in the Small Medium and Micro Enterprise 
programme. 
313 Audio CDs have been distributed to all regions in an effort to assist Skills 
Development Practitioners to implement the new National Certificate (Voca-
tional) programme to offenders. This is the same programme that is offered in 
Further Education and Training (FET) Colleges at NQF level 2- 4 in the Depart-
ment of Education.All Skills Development Practitioners in all regions have been 
trained on the new National Certificate Vocational (NC(V)).  
23 Offenders in 4 regions successfully passed their trade tests, and attained 
artisan status

Offender Sport, Recreation, Arts and Culture (SRAC)
Acquired DVDs from SA Rugby which will be utilised for rugby development in 
Correctional Centres.
Acquired DVD from Speed Power Sports (physical conditioning for general 
well being and sports activities)
Regional Offender poetry Competitions have resulted in the initiation towards 
developing a poetry book.
In March 2009 the National Offender Choir Competition was held at the Mma-
batho Convention Centre in Mafikeng. This was done in partnership with SAC-
MA, SABC and North West Department of Sports and Culture. 768 offender 
choristers attended the choir competition

•

•

•

•

•

•

Measurable 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Strategy
Actual performance

Target Actual

E.1. To provide 
needs-based edu-
cational, skills and 
other development-
related programmes, 
to facilitate the 
reintegration of of-
fenders into com-
munities.

% of offenders in 
formal education 
% offenders with 
skills qualification;  
Increased % of 
offender skills 
utilization and 
opportunities 
for employability 
in Agriculture 
and Production 
workshops; 
Value of products 
provided for self 
sufficiency, poverty 
alleviation and 
income generation

E.1.1. Compliance 
with Development 
policies, procedures 
and applicable 
legislation

Implementation of 
approved policies 
and procedures in 
all management 
areas ;  
Inspection reports 
on compliance 
levels in 
Management areas 
to establish baseline 
information

The Production Workshops 
and Agriculture Cost and Price 
tariff structure for 2009/2010 
was amended and distributed 
to regions.  
Monitoring and Evaluation vis-
its conducted at 15 production 
workshops and all correctional 
centre farms and 16 other 
agricultural sites. 
Community Participation Pro-
cedures were  disseminated to 
all regions

Programme Performance: Development
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Measurable 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Strategy
Actual performance

Target Actual

    The Library Policy Procedures 
are submitted for approval.  
SRAC manual revised and 
desseminated to regions for 
implementation.  
Cost and price policy guide-
lines for Skills Development 
and SRAC programmes 
routed to National Treasury for 
approval. 
The Skills Development Ac-
creditation Frame work has 
been approved and dissemi-
nated to all regions to ensure 
accreditation of offender train-
ing facilities and work places.

  E.1.2. Enhance edu-
cation, sports, rec-
reation, arts, culture 
levels of offenders 
in partnership with 
service providers

% of offenders 
participating in: 
Formal education 
programmes 
(More than 22 000 
offenders)

15130 offenders participated 
in Formal education pro-
grammes. 
1440 offenders involved in 
Literacy Tuition 
10101 offenders were  in-
volved in Adult Basic Educa-
tion and Training. 
2679 offenders involved in 
Mainstream education . 
227 offenders involved in 
Computer training pro-
grammes 
846 offenders  were involved 
in correspondence studies   
Learner Teacher Support 
Material for the implementa-
tion of the National Curriculum 
Statement for Grades 10 – 12 
procured and disseminated 
to educationists such as ECD 
resource material, scientific 
calculators, career guid-
ance manuals, Afrikaans and 
English handbooks, DVD’s 
on specialized subject areas 
(science, physics, maths) 
and Portfolio of Evidence for 
Educators

    Framework on the Marketing 
of Skills Development 
programmes was approved 
and implemented in all 
regions.   
45020 offenders participated 
in Skills Development 
Programmes ( 6 165 youths, 
2 130 females and 36 725 
males.)
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Measurable 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Strategy
Actual performance

Target Actual

    Partnerships established with 
SANABO (amateur boxing 
development) which led to 
training of 180 offenders 
and 18 officials in all six 
regions, SACMA (training of 
120 choir conductors), DAC 
(Art Access), NICRO (art 
development),  Netball South 
Africa (netball development), 
SARU (rugby development), 
ASA (atheltics development), 
Golf Wise (golf development 
and green keepers where 24 
offenders and 4 officials have 
been trained), Department of 
Sport and Recreation South 
Africa , SA Boxing (boxing 
development), SA Gymnastics 
(gymnastic development), 
Volleyball South Africa 
(volleyball development), 2010 
Ambassador Programme, 
SAFA (football development) 
and the TPA (youth 
development).   
At the regions partnerships 
with service providers on 
SRAC programmes were 
entered into. Thus far 44 
service providers are assisting 
with SRAC programmes and 
services nationwide.

   % of sentenced 
offenders to 
participate in Sport, 
recreation, and 
arts and culture 
programmes (More 
than 116 600 
offenders)  
Establish baseline 
information for 
programmes

108887 offenders participated 
in SRAC programmes.
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Measurable 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Strategy
Actual performance

Target Actual

  E.1.3. Improvement 
of  the skills utiliza-
tion of  offenders 
and enhancement 
of opportunities for 
their employability 
in partnership with 
external service 
providers

Implementation of 
the comprehen-
sive offender skills 
development plan 
in 12 centres of 
excellence (two per 
region)

The Conceptual Document 
was approved and distributed 
to regions. The document 
was presented and discussed 
during work sessions attended 
by officials from all regions

   % of offenders 
participating in:            
Skills development 
programmes (More 
than 9 130 offend-
ers)

Total national enrollment per 
subject on the new curriculum, 
NC (V) was 5730. Regional 
enrollments is as follows: 
EC             : 435 
FS/NC       : 66 
Gauteng    : 2778 
KZN           :1620 
LMN          : 91 
WC            : 740 
100 Offenders completed New 
Venture Creation Programme 
in the following regions: West-
ern Cape, Gauteng, Eastern 
Cape, FS/NC and LMN and 
was funded by SASSETA. 
100 Offenders completed 
SMME Programme in the 
following regions: KZN, LMN, 
FS/NC, WC and EC and was 
funded by SASSETA.

   Increased skills uti-
lization and oppor-
tunities for employ-
ability by 15% over 
the baseline of May 
2005 in the following 
fields:               
15% more on 2471 
for  Agriculture, 
15% more on 2741 
for Production work-
shops 

Offenders utilized in Produc-
tion Workshops  from April 
- Feb. 2009 were on average 
1834 offenders per day, indi-
cating  a decrease of 33,1% 
on  the May 2005 baseline 
of 2 741 offenders per day.  
Agriculture utilized an average 
of 2 960 offenders  per day for 
April - Feb 2009,  indicating  
an  increase of 19,7% over the 
baseline of 2471 of May 2005.
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Measurable 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Strategy
Actual performance

Target Actual

   Products availed 
to self sufficiency, 
poverty alleviation 
and income gen-
eration increased 
by R1 million of the 
initial baseline of 
R2676000 (06/07) 

In terms of the Master Plans 
for products availed for self 
sufficiency and poverty allevia-
tion production workshops 
and agriculture are as follows:  
Textile items scheduled were 1 
941 014 and  completed were 
1 851 214 (95,37%).  
Steel items scheduled were  
56 323 & completed were  118 
817 (210%). 
Wood items scheduled were14 
806 & completed were 73880 
(498%). 
Bakeries annual objective was 
2 716 270 loaves  & baked 
were 1 663 062 loaves (61%).

    The vegetables objective was 
15 510 000 kg and produced 
was 10 226892 kg (66%).  
Fruit objective was 704 500 
kg and 576 294 kg (81%) was 
produced.  
Red meat objective was 611 
600 kg and 625 5501kg (97%) 
was produced.   
The milk objective was 6 469 
800 liters and 5 947 779 liters 
(92%) was produced.  
Pork objective was 2 157 500 
kg and 2 157 500 kg (100%) 
was produced. 
The egg objective was 1 276 
000 doz and 1 392 033 doz 
(109%) was attained.  
The production objective for 
chicken was 1 321 800 kg 
and 1 160 748 kg (88%) was 
produced.

    The generated cash income 
from the sales of superflu-
ous agriculture and produc-
tion workshop products for 
the 2008 / 2009 financial 
year amounts to R3 330 684   
(124,44% of the baseline).  

Reasons for Major Variances

Production Workshops and Agriculture
The fact that the wood and steel workshops exceeded their targets is not an 
indication of enhanced productivity, but due to the fact that operational man-
agers registered low needs during the needs registration process. This then 
caused large quantities of unscheduled work. 
The attainment of the egg production was due to the fact that problems with 
the supply of point of lay hens were solved and that the units were stocked 
according to their capacities.

•

•
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The decrease in the number of offenders utilized in production workshops 
were caused by the vacant  artisans posts and the fact that some of the work-
shops  have to temporally reallocate artisans to the correctional centers, due 
to insufficient funds to purchase raw materials.
The bakery at Baviaanspoort was not functioning during this financial year due 
to upgrading and consequential problems experienced with the purchasing of 
an electrical cable. 
Vegetable production was negatively influenced by the excessive autumn rains 
in the summer rainfall areas as well as the abnormal winter rains in the Western 
Cape.
Broiler production was adversely affected due to the fact that the  Zonderwater 
broiler project was not successful in obtaining a tender for the supply of day 
old broilers. Tender for the procurement of broilers for Zonderwater was only 
finalized in November 2008.
Funds shortage for the Activities Processable Materials, Plant Production and 
Animal Production as well as the problems experienced on operational level 
with the implementation of LOGIS (the new logisitics system) impacted nega-
tively on the provisioning of raw materials/production inputs and consequen-
tial production. In several instances fertilizers, seeds, pesticides and vaccines 
could not be procured timeously and this impacted on production.

Formal education
The Department of Correctional Services embarked on a Mass literacy drive in 
partnership with the Department of Education in the form of the Kha Ri Gude 
project, READUCATE and NYS in an attempt to improve literacy levels. This 
initiative increased offender participation in Pre-ABET as well as ABET L 1- 4.
The introduction of Computer Based Training Centres has ensured that DCS 
has begun to empower offenders with ICT skills which are normally easily mar-
ketable for employment opportunities.
The introduction of the National Curriculum Statement (NCS) resulted in a de-
crease in enrolment figures due to the fact that the DCS Centres do not meet 
the requirement as set by the DoE as full time schools. The new curriculum 
can only be offered on full time basis and DCS does not have the human re-
sources or the infrastructure available to support the requirements of full time 
tuition. However the DCS engaged the Department of Education to assist with 
the registration of identified centres as full time schools as most of our learn-
ers could not be enrolled for NCS grades 10-12. In addressing the shortage 
of infrastructure, DCS embarked on a process of procurement of temporary 
classrooms.
The migration of educators from DCS to DoE due to salary imbalances has 
negatively impacted on DCS human resource capacity especially for Math-
ematics and Physical Science. This situation makes it impractical to recruit 
Mathematics and Mathematical Literacy learners as these are compulsory 
subjects in the New National Curriculum.  
The number of learners enrolled for Higher Education and Training has de-
creased due to financial constraints as most of the learners do not have finan-
cial aid or bursaries. 
The relocation of offenders resulted in a large drop out rate of offenders as 
many of them could not write their final examinations thereby leading to the 
depletion of offenders completing their grades, and hence a drop in the pass 
rate of certain centres.

Skills  Development
The following factors had a positive impact on the number of offenders partici-
pating in skills development programmes:

Many offenders were interested in the newly introduced National Cer-
tificate (Vocational) and moved from Formal Education to Skills Devel-
opment to enroll for the said programme. This programme enhances 
the learners’ chances of employment.

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•
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Better and effective marketing of skills programmes through monitor-
ing and evaluation visits.
Joint implementation approach on NC (V) by both Skills development 
practitioners and Formal Educators.
Introduction of new skills programmes: New Venture Creation and 
SMME funded by SASSETA.
Provision of resources for the new curriculum-National Certificate (Vo-
cational).

Sport, Recreation, Arts and Culture
Introduction and implementation of new programmes such as boxing, golf and 
new categories of soloists in choral music has drawn a lot of interest from of-
fenders. This can be atributed to the partnerships entered into with SANABO, 
Golfwise and SACMA. A number of memorandums of understanding with 
service providers have been signed and this will further increase participa-
tion.
The envisaged target could not be achieved because of: under reporting by 
regions caused by shortage of SRAC personnel, lack of skilled personnel, 
shortage of funds, SRAC programmes performed as ad hoc tasks, shortage 
of infrastructure

•

•

•

•

•

•
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2.5.6 Programme F:
Social Reintegration

Purpose: Provide services focused on offenders’ preparation for release, their ef-
fective supervision after release on parole, and on the facilitation of their social 
reintegration into their communities.
Measurable objective: To provide needs-based programmes and services to of-
fenders to facilitate their social acceptance and effective reintegration of offenders 
into their communities

Programme Performance: Social Reintegration

Measurable 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Strategy
Actual performance

Target Actual

F.1 To provide 
needs-based 
programmes and 
services to offenders 
to facilitate their so-
cial acceptance and 
effective reintegra-
tion of offenders into 
their communities

% of  offend-
ers eligible for 
consideration 
released on 
parole; % of of-
fenders released 
on parole;
% of offenders 
absconding from 
correctional and 
parole supervi-
sion;
% of offenders 
violating correc-
tional and parole 
supervision 
conditions;
% of offenders.

•

•

•

•

F.1.1  Review and 
alignment of policy 
procedures, and  
standards on Social 
Reintegration with 
White Paper on 
Corrections. 

Implementation of 
approved policies 
and procedures in 
all management 
areas;    
Inspection reports 
on compliance lev-
els in Management 
areas to establish 
baseline informa-
tion.

Policy Procedures on Supervi-
sion (Community Corrections) 
submitted for approval.  
The Victim Involvement in Pa-
role Boards and Parole Review 
policy procedures are imple-
mented in the Regions.  
Inspection reports are avail-
able.                     

  F.1.2  Effective 
administration of 
Correctional Super-
vision and Parole 
systems.

% of cases heard by 
CSPB with offender 
released on parole;  
% of cases where 
CSPB decision dif-
fers from case man-
agement committee 
(CMC) recommen-
dation; 
% of cases referred 
for review where 
PRB reverses CSPB 
decision; baseline 
info.

The Parole Boards considered 
47 362 submissions and ap-
proved conditional placement 
in 22 252 cases (46,98%).      
17 cases referred for review.  
The decision of the CSPB was 
cancelled in 8 (61,5%) cases 
and confirmed in  5 cases.  
4 decisions are still outstand-
ing from the Review Board.
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Measurable 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Strategy
Actual performance

Target Actual

   Number of backlog 
cases due for Parole 
consideration;  
Reduce num-
ber of cases not 
considered due to 
incomplete docu-
mentation;   
base line info.

12 296 cases where the 
minimum detention date has 
expired and where no recom-
mendation for parole has yet 
been made by CMCs to Parole 
Boards.  
No statistics exist demonstrat-
ing reduction levels.    

   Sample audit on 
10 % of CMC's & 
Parole Boards.  
Bi-annual monitor-
ing report.

An audit tool has been devel-
oped but not implemented. 

  F.1.3  Effective 
implementation of 
Community Correc-
tions system. 

% of probationers 
and parolees classi-
fied in terms of tool;  
base line info.

The Admission Risk Classifica-
tion and Assessment Tools 
have been piloted in the six 
(6)regions.  
6% of probationers and parol-
ees were subjected to the tool 
during the piloting phase.

   Reduce number of 
violations by 2% 
from the average 
baseline of 11000 
(220). 

There were 10966 violations 
against a target 10 780.  This 
implies that the number of 
violations for the financial year 
was supposed to be 10 780 or 
less, in order for the target to 
be met.  In the case where the 
numbers of violations are more 
than 10 780, it means that the 
target was not met. 

   Reduce the number 
of absconders for 
the current financial 
year from the base-
line of 2300.

1 664 absconders were regis-
tered for the financial year. 

Framework on the prevention 
of absconding is approved. 

   Increase the num-
ber of admissions 
in terms of Section 
276 (1)(h) of CPA  by 
5% from the base-
line of 7443 (372).

A marketing strategy on alter-
native non-custodial sentences 
is available. 
6599 offenders dealt with in 
terms of Sec. 276(1)(h) of the 
Correctional Services Act. 

   Increase the num-
ber of admissions 
in terms of Section 
276 (1)(i) of CPA by 
5% from the base-
line of 4230 (211).

3981 offenders dealt with in 
terms of Sec. 276(1)(i) of the 
Correctional Services Act.

   Increase the num-
ber of admissions 
in terms of Section 
276 A (3) by 5% 
from the baseline of 
29 (2).

34 offenders dealt with in 
terms of Sec. 276A(3) of the 
Correctional Services Act.
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Measurable 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Strategy
Actual performance

Target Actual

   Increase the num-
ber of admissions 
in terms of Section 
287 (4)(a) by 5% 
from the baseline of 
10228 (511).

9809 offenders dealt with in 
terms of Sec. 287(4)(a) of the 
Criminal Procedure act.

   Determination 
of a baseline for 
community service 
orders.

223 community service orders 
were implemented. 

   Guidelines for 
partnerships with 
service providers 
developed.   
% of offenders 
participating in 
reintegration pro-
grammes.  
Base line informa-
tion (9,6%  = 4 944 
offenders).

Guidelines for partner-
ships with service provid-
ers have been developed.                                                                                          
                                                
                                           

 
Reasons for Major Variances
The implementation of alternative strategies to incarceration is dependent on other 
stakeholders which impacts on targets set. However, significant advancement has 
been made in obtaining cooperation and buy in as evidenced by the statistics 
provided.
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Purpose: Ensure that physical infrastructure supports safe and secure custody, 
human conditions, and the provision of corrective services, care and development, 
and general administration.
Measurable objective: Provide facilities to support the Department in its core 
functions of security, corrections, development and care and social reintegration.

Service delivery highlights (see Progress on facilities under Strategic overview)

Measurable 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Strategy
Actual performance

Target Actual

G1 Provide facilities 
to support the de-
partment in its core 
functions of security, 
corrections, devel-
opment and care 
and social reintegra-
tion.  

Number of beds 
in correctional 
centres
Number of new 
correctional 
centres created 
Increasing im-
provement and 
maintenance 
of correctional 
centres.

•

•

G.1.1 Compliance 
with Facilities poli-
cies, procedures, 
minimum require-
ments, standards 
and applicable 
legislation.

Implementation of 
approved policies 
and procedures in 
all management 
areas. 
Inspection reports 
on compliance lev-
els in Management 
areas to establish 
baseline information.

Policy and Procedures submit-
ted for approval. 

   Service Level Agree-
ment with DPW. 

Dependent on Department of 
Public Works (DPW) to finalize 
service delivery standards 
which informs the service level 
agreement.  

  G.1.2. Build and 
upgrade facilities 
according to DCS 
policies to reduce 
overcrowding.

No service delivery 
target set for this 
financial year.

Nil – target to be set in 
2009/10.

   Viability study report 
for Leeuwkop and 
Pollsmoor Correc-
tional Centres.

DPW appointed consultants to 
undertake the studies. Report 
in process of being finalised.

  G.1.3.  Maintain 
facilities according 
to DCS policies.

Implement 94 
planned mainte-
nance projects 
prioritising COE.

58 projects under construc-
tion, 12 on tender and 14 
under planning.  Project funds 
are allocated by DPW and this 
constraints progress.

  G.1.4  Provide  
leasehold office ac-
commodation for all 
needs.

Sustain leased office 
accommodation.  
% of rental needs 
addressed;  
baseline info.

Sustained existing leases 
and where required facilitated 
renewals of leases. No new 
leases could be procured due 
to financial constraints.

2.5.7 Programme G: Facilities
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Measurable 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Strategy
Actual performance

Target Actual

   Complete feasibility 
study for New Head 
Office.

The project was re-registered 
with National Treasury.  
The documentation for adver-
tisement for the appointment of 
Transaction Advisor team has 
been approved.
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PART 3: Audit Committee Report 

3.1 Report of the Audit Committee

The Audit Committee reports that it has complied with its responsibilities in terms 
of section 38(1)(a) of the Public Finance Management Act and Treasury Regulation 
3.1.13
The Audit Committee has regulated its affairs in compliance with its charter and 
has discharged its responsibilities as contained therein.

The members of the Audit Committee and their meeting attendances are as fol-
lows:

Member Date of meeting

26 
May 
2008

28 
July 
2008

28 
Aug 
2008

26 
Nov 
2008

26 
Mar 
2009

27 
May 
2009

27 
July 
2009

Mr R Theunissen 
(Chairperson)

¸ ¸ ¸ ¸ ¸ ¸ ¸

Dr DP van der Nest  ¸ ¸ ¸ Contract expired

Ms. MAF Moja A ¸ ¸ ¸ Contract expired

Ms G Spelman A ¸ ¸ A ¸ Contract ex-
pired

Mr C Motau ¸ ¸ ¸ ¸ ¸ ¸ ¸

Mr K Buthelezi ¸ A ¸ ¸ ¸ A ¸

In the conduct of its duties the Audit Committee has, inter alia, reviewed the fol-
lowing:

The effectiveness of the internal controls;
The effectiveness of the internal audit function;
The risk areas of the Department’s operations covered in the scope of internal 
and external audits;
The adequacy, reliability and accuracy of the financial information provided to 
management and other users of such information;
Any accounting and auditing concerns identified as a result of internal and 
external audits;
The Department’s compliance with legal and regulatory provisions;
The activities of the internal audit function including its annual work programme; 
co-ordination with the Auditor General; the reports of significant investigations 
and the response of management to specific recommendations.

The effectiveness of internal control
The internal controls of the Department are not effective in all respects – the Audit 
Committee has again this year noted with concern the deficiencies in the controls 
relating to matters raised in the report of the Auditor General and that a number 

•
•
•

•

•

•
•
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of these matters have been reported in previous years. Further the special inves-
tigation unit’s investigations, in terms of a memorandum of agreement entered 
into with the Department, have not been completed and the findings thereof have 
consequently not yet been presented to the audit committee.  

The quality of in year management and monthly/quarterly reports submit-
ted in terms of the Public Finance and Management Act and the Division of 
Revenue Act
The Audit Committee is satisfied with the content and quality of monthly and quar-
terly reports prepared and issued by the Accounting Officer of the Department 
during the year under review.

Evaluation of Financial Statements
The Audit Committee has:

Reviewed and discussed with the Auditor General and the Accounting Officer 
the audited annual financial statements to be included in the annual report; 
and
Reviewed the Auditor General’s management letter and where applicable 
management’s responses thereto; and
Obtained assurance from the Auditor General that there were no significant 
unadjusted adjustments resulting from the audit.  

The Audit Committee concurs and accepts the conclusions of the Auditor General 
on the annual financial statements and is of the opinion that the audited annual 
financial statements be accepted and read together with the report of the Auditor 
General.

At the meeting on 27 May 2009 the Audit Committee recommended the adoption 
of the annual financial statements by the Department of Correctional Services.

Chairperson of the Audit Committee
Date: 10 August 2009

•

•

•
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Annual Financial Statements for the Department of Correctional Services for the 
year ended 31 March 2009.

4.1 Report by the Accounting Officer to the Executive 
Authority and Parliament of the Republic of South Africa. 

1. General review of the state of financial affairs

1.1 Policy development

Amendment of Correctional Services Act

The Correctional Services Amendment Act, 2008 (No 25 of 2008) was gazetted on 
11 November 2008. This followed a series of consultations with stakeholders to en-
sure broad representation by all concerned. The amendments included substitu-
tion, amendment or deletion of certain definition, further provision for the manner in 
which correctional centres are managed; authorisation of the National Council on 
Correctional Services to determine, under certain conditions, the period before an 
offender may be placed on parole; further provision for matters relating to Correc-
tional Supervision and Parole Boards and the Judicial Inspectorate; and provide for 
compliance management and monitoring of relevant prescriptions, a Departmental 
Investigation Unit and a unit dealing with the institution of disciplinary procedures.

Implementation of the White Paper

The department continued to develop measures to realise the implementation 
of the White Paper. In 2008/09, the department identified key strategic priorities 
which included the implementation of the 7-day establishment, job refinement and 
Occupation Specific Dispensation for correctional officials. This was in realisation 
of the fact that human capital is central to implementation of the White Paper. 
While, it is acknowledged that there are challenges in relation to both projects, the 
department continues to engage regularly with both DPSA and labour to resolve 
the issues.

1.2 Significant events that have taken place during the year

The medical parole of the department came under the spotlight with the re-
lease of inmates for medical reasons. The events in Durban of the release of 
a high profile inmate will require the department to strengthen performance 
information. The Monitoring, Evaluation and Reporting Project is already un-
derway and will be completed in 2009/10. This will improve reporting, ac-
countability and service delivery.
The department established a project office. In the past, the department had 
several projects with no clear link with the DCS strategic direction. The project 
office identified key projects for service delivery and these include Security En-

•

•
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hancement Project, Offender Rehabilitation Path, Monitoring, Evaluation and 
Reporting, Infrastructure Development and Social Reintegration.
Cabinet approved the establishment of the Branch on Remand Detention with-
in the Department of Correctional Services. The branch will be established in 
2009/10 financial year.

1.3 Major projects undertaken or completed during the year

The DCS projects mentioned above are multi-year projects that have started in 
previous financial years. The end of the project is determined in the strategic plan 
and considers various elements that include, governance issues, funding and hu-
man resources. 

1.4 Spending trends

The Department spending has increased from 97,7 per cent (R11,1 billion against 
an allocated budget of R11,4 billion) in 2007/08 financial year to 103,9 per cent 
(R12,8 billion against an allocated budget of R12,3 billion) in 2008/09 financial year. 
This is mainly due to an exceptionally high inflation rate especially, amongst others, 
on food which is one of major departmental core expenditures as well as the over-
time expenditure incurred in line with the requirements for the implementation of 
the Public Service Coordinating Bargaining Council Resolution Number 1 of 2007. 

Reasons for over spending

The Department did not implement the 7-Day establishment as it was expected to 
implement according to the Collective Agreement in the Bargaining Chamber for 
Department of Correctional Services, Agreement Number 2 of 2005. The Depart-
ment did request, through the budgetary processes, additional funds for payment 
of overtime as stipulated in the Public Service Coordinating Bargaining Council 
Resolution number 1 of 2007, but no additional allocation was received in this 
regard. 

Actions taken or planned to avoid recurrence

The Department is still negotiating with recognised unions for the implementation 
of the 7-Day Establishment in 2009/10 financial year. National Treasury has provid-
ed funds to implement the 7-Day Establishment during the 2009/10 MTEF period.

1.5 Virements

1.5.1 Programme: Administration

The net increase of R145,6 million is mainly due to the shifting of funds which 
were originally allocated to finance the commencement costs for new Kimberley 
Correctional Facility under Programme Security to this Programme mainly to fund 
the critical shortages of stores items under Goods & Services. The net increase 
is also mainly due to funds shifted to this Programme from the Programmes Care 
and Corrections in order to fund the financial implication of the filled posts under 
Compensation of Employees. Funds were also shifted to this Programme from 
the Programmes Corrections and Social Reintegration mainly to fund the budget 
shortfalls under Machinery & Equipment.

1.5.2 Programme: Security

The net decrease of R94,7 million is mainly due to the shifting of funds which were 
originally allocated in this Programme to finance the commencement costs of new 
Kimberley Correctional Facility to the Programmes Administration mainly to fund 
the critical shortages of stores items under Goods & Services and to the Pro-
gramme Facilities in order to fund the increased lease payments for PPP Prisons 
which is linked to the Consumer Price Index.

•
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1.5.3 Programme: Corrections

The net decrease of R39,6 million is mainly due to funds shifted from this Pro-
gramme to the Programme Administration in order to fund the financial implications 
of the filled posts under Compensation of Employees and also to fund the budget 
shortfalls under Machinery & Equipment. Funds were also shifted from this Pro-
gramme to Programme Development in order to fund the shortfalls on Television 
Monitors in order to improve the Development Programmes of Offenders in line 
with the requirements of the White Paper on Corrections.

1.5.4 Programme: Care

The net decrease of R67,0 million is mainly due to the funds shifted from this Pro-
gramme to the Programme Administration to fund the financial implications of the 
filled posts under Compensation of Employees. Funds were also shifted from this 
Programme to the Programme Development mainly to fund the shortfalls on Ani-
mal Production.

1.5.5 Programme: Development
 
The net increase of R6,4 million is mainly due to funds shifted to this Programme 
from the Programme Corrections to fund the shortfalls for Television Monitors in 
order to improve the Development Programmes of Offenders in line with the re-
quirements of the White Paper on Corrections. Funds were also shifted to this 
Programme from the Programme Care mainly to fund the shortfalls on Animal Pro-
duction.

1.5.6 Programme: Social Reintegration

The net decrease of R2,2 million is mainly due to funds shifted from this Pro-
gramme to the Programme Administration in order to fund the shortfalls under 
Machinery & Equipment.

1.5.7 Programme: Facilities

The net increase of R51,5 million is mainly due to the shifting of funds originally 
budgeted for the new Kimberley Correctional Facility under Programme Security 
to this Programme mainly to fund the increased lease payments for PPP Prisons 
which is linked to the Consumer Price Index.

1.6 Compensation of Employees

The budget for Compensation of Employees was decreased in order to fund the 
Payments of Transfers and Subsidies in terms of Treasury Regulations item number 
6.3.1 (d).

Virement approval

The virements were approved by the Accounting Officer of the Department in line 
with section 43 of the Public Finance Management Act 1 of 1999.

The over-expenditure of R483 million was incurred mainly as a result of the im-
plementation of the Public Service Coordinating Bargaining Council Resolution 
number 1 of 2007. National Treasury was informed of the over-expenditure incurred 
in advance.   Various cost control measures were put in place, such as, placing 
moratorium on filling of posts and down-scaling the payments of performance bo-
nuses. 
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2. Service rendered by the department 

2.1 List of services

The aim of the Department of Correctional Services is to contribute towards main-
taining and protecting a just, peaceful and safe society, by enforcing court-imposed 
sentences, detaining inmates in safe custody and promoting social responsibility 
and the human development of all offenders and persons subjected to community 
corrections as included under the following services:

Provide the administrative, management, financial, ICT (information commu-
nication technology), service evaluation, investigative and support functions 
required for all service delivery by the department and support of function of 
the Ministry.
Provide safe and secure environment for all persons incarcerated and condi-
tions consistent with human dignity, and thereby provide security for person-
nel and the public.
Provide needs-based correctional sentence plans for all persons who are sen-
tenced to community correctional supervision, incarceration in correctional 
centre and paroled offenders, based on the assessed security risk and crimi-
nal profile of individuals, focusing on the individual’s specific offence, and tar-
geting all elements associated with the offender’s behaviour.
Maintain the well-being of incarcerated persons by providing for physical fit-
ness, nutrition, and social links with family and society, spiritual and moral well 
being, psychological well-being and heath care, based on their needs.
Provide opportunities for social development and the development of social 
conscience including vocational and technical training, recreation, sport and 
education opportunities, to promote the development of personal and social 
competencies that will enable incarcerated offenders to reintegrate into com-
munities as productive citizens.
Provide services to persons completing their sentences, to facilitate their ef-
fective reintegration into their communities and to promote general social ac-
ceptance of offenders.
Provide, maintain and upgrade the physical infrastructure required for those 
legally entrusted to the department’s care, as well as office accommodation 
required by personnel and ensuring that facilities are available to meet the 
Department’s rehabilitation responsibilities and objectives.

2.2 Tariff policy

All the tariffs are calculated according to the applicable inflation rate for the report-
ing period, and in each case, different role players are consulted in this regard 
to give their inputs. In the event of necessary changes in the tariff structure, this 
information is consolidated and submitted to National Treasury for approval. After 
approval the tariffs are implemented. However, there were no substantial changes 
for 2008/09 financial year. The only changes were due to inflation adjustment and 
were accordingly revised after approval by the Accounting Officer.

2.3 Free Services

The total expenditure incurred for free services amounting to R43,622 million 
[R38,073 million]. This consists of salary compensation of R42,235 million [R37,859 
million] 290 [284] officials working directly with Clubs and Messes and R822,403 
(R213,614) for three [one] officials in the Head Office Biokinetics Centre.

Free prison labour provided to other state departments and private entities amount-
ed to R563,850 (R678,000) 

•

•

•

•

•

•

•
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2.4 Inventories

Inventories on hand at financial year end 31 March 2009 
(Average prices are used to calculate totals)

Categories R’000

Agricultural  21,386

Learning and teaching support material  886

Food and food supplies  39,933

Other consumables  28,699

Fuel oil and gas 636

Domestic consumables  27,888

Parts and other maintenance material
 18,020

Sport and recreation  506

Stationary and printing 53,069

Medical supplies 2,261

Weapons and armaments 7,007

Other inventory 326,047

TOTAL 526,338

3. Capacity constraints

3.1 Inadequate resourcing

The integrated planning framework in the department is aimed at ensuring that 
projects and strategies are resourced in order to deliver. This is aimed at improving 
delivery in strategies and projects. To remedy the situation, the department has 
established the Planning Resourcing and Reporting Co-ordinating Committee. The 
committee meets fortnightly to look at key strategies issues on the planning cycle, 
what are requirements and how to make sure that resources are available. Where 
such resources are not available, decisions are required on alternative means to 
meet the service delivery challenges. The committee comprises Operations, Stra-
tegic Planning, Finance, Human Resource Development, Human Resource Man-
agement, and Systems Development, chaired by Chief Deputy Commissioner, Op-
erations and Management Support. 

The moratorium was placed on filling of vacant posts and this meant that the de-
partment did not reach the required capacity. 

3.2 Overcrowding

The problem of overcrowding continues in the department, particularly in relation to 
remand detainees. However, in 2008, a milestone was reached with the approval of 
a branch to take the lead on matters relating to Remand Detainees. The progress 
on the building of the new Kimberly Correctional Centre will also alleviate some ele-
ment of overcrowding. The department delivers various services and programmes 
to inmates (including remand detainees). Due to their status, Remand Detainees, 
lack stability and this causes disruptions to programmes and services.
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4. Utilisation of donor funds

Funds allocated to the Department from the USA PEPFAR
Programme is as follows:
          R’000
Balance carried forward from 2007/08 financial year  889
Allocation for 2008/09 financial year    2,431
Expenditure for 2008/09 financial year    (1,716)

Balance carried forward      1,604

These funds were used on the following activities:
Management of HIV and AIDS.
Training of professional staff in Voluntary and Testing.
Training of offenders in Peer Education.
Health facilities.
ARV sites.
World AIDS Day celebrations.

5. Trading entities and public entities

The department has no trading or public entities.

6. Organisations to whom transfer payments have been 
made 

In accordance with the Skills Development Act (no.97 of 1998), an amount of 
R3,947 million [R3,474 million] was transferred to SASSETA during the year under 
review.

7. Public private partnerships (PPP)

7.1 PPP’s agreement with the department

The department is operating two of its facilities under Asset Procurement and Op-
erating Partnership Systems (APOPS). Private companies on behalf of the depart-
ment operate the two facilities, Mangaung Correctional Centre in Bloemfontein and 
Kutama-Sinthumule Correctional Centre in Makhado.

7.2 Reasons for their existence

The Public Private Partnerships were designed to assist government in provision of 
correctional facilities and in the case of DCS; the aim is that the risk and provision 
of offender places (beds) for high security inmates are transferred to the private 
sector, while the department monitors contractual obligations and is responsible 
for overall discipline of offenders among other things. This joint venture provides 
accommodation for a total of 5 952 inmate places.

7.3 Accountability arrangements

The department has entered into a concession contract with two private com-
panies, which governs all aspects of the relationship between the two parties. 
The department appoints Controllers who are based at the two facilities, whose 
main function is to monitor contract compliance on a daily basis and report to 
head office. The Department’s Contract Management Directorate manages the 
contracts and acts as a regulatory body. In addition, inspections are conducted 
by the Inspectorate to ensure contractual obligations and follow up on the work of 
the Controller.

•
•
•
•
•
•
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7.4 Financial arrangements

The department paid, on a monthly basis, a daily contract fee per available in-
mate place to the private companies to operate the two Correctional Centres. For 
the financial year 2008/09, total cost incurred by the department amounted to R 
674,219 million as compared to R 615,218 million for the 2007/08 financial year.

7.5 New PPP arrangements

The RFP (Request for Proposals) for four (4) new PPP Prisons will be received at 
DCS head office during May 2009.

8. Corporate governance arrangements

8.1 Risk management approach 

The department established a Risk Management Committee (RMC) that is fully 
functional. It is comprised of Deputy Regional Commissioners and Deputy Com-
missioners, chaired by Chief Deputy Commissioner, Operations and Management 
Support. The RMC has developed a reporting framework for departmental risks.  
It meets annually to assess risk and determine the rating, and meets quarterly 
to report on and evaluate risk mitigation.  The Internal Audit of risk management 
indicated a health risk management system, with some recommendations for in-
corporating elements of best practice into the Department. In addition, to the RMC, 
each Branch during its normal Management processes reports on risks that are 
internal to them.   

8.2 Fraud prevention policies

Corruption and Fraud in the department continue to receive high priority from man-
agement. Fraud Prevention Committee has been constituted. The Fraud Preven-
tion Plan for the DCS was developed and approved by the National Commissioner 
in March 2009 for implementation throughout the DCS. The Whistle Blowing policy 
has been developed. In addition to policies, the department has established and a 
corruption hotline. One of the indicators in the department is to increase the level 
of awareness and ethical behaviour. 

8.3 Effectiveness of internal audit and audit committee 

The Department has an internal audit unit which functions under the control and 
direction of an audit committee. The internal audit directorate functions on a co-
sourced basis. During the financial year under review, a new co-sourced partner 
was appointed after a tender process was followed. Currently there is an approved 
establishment with 28 posts for the in-house staff which includes two support 
posts. It is difficult to retain staff as a result of other government departments re-
munerating their internal audit staff at higher salary levels. DCS managed to make 
counter offers to some of the staff members that received appointments from other 
departments. Limited financial resources impact on the internal audit activity’s abil-
ity to function optimally. The internal audit staff are members of the Institute for 
Internal Auditors and attended various training sessions during the year under re-
view. 

During the year under review internal audit functioned according to an approved 
charter and performed audits which were approved on the annual work plan. Vari-
ous audits were conducted at Head Office, Regional Offices as well as at Correc-
tional Centres. Audit reports were issued in this regard. 

The Department has an audit committee which functions according to an ap-
proved charter. The audit committee performed a self assessment during the year 
under review.
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8.4 Compliance Improvement Plan

One of the quality assurance components in the Department is the Inspector-
ate, which has over the past three financial years monitored implementation of 
the Compliance Improvement Plan developed in 2005/6. The inspection reports 
indicate a significant upward trend over the three years, albeit with pockets of de-
cline, that is being focused on by management. A comparative assessment of the 
performance of the various regions for 2008/09 shows a progressive improvement 
in all five of the six regions except ie Limpopo/ Mpumalanga & North West. 

In order to minimise conflict of interests, department officials are required to dis-
close business, work and other activities that reflect conflict of interest.   Officials 
are also required to request permission to conduct work outside the department 
while still in the employ of the DCS.

8.5 Implementation of a code of conduct

The Code of Conduct was presented to 2 021 students in the two colleges, 
namely Zonderwater and Kroonstad Colleges and 1 200 booklets distributed to 
them.  Presentations were done nationally and 6 672 officials attended the presen-
tations and 2 060 booklets distributed mainly to new recruits in DCS.  Two articles 
focusing on “Corruption and its implications were placed on the intranet to promote 
a positive organisational culture.  

The Quarterly Reporting for Organisational Culture was developed and implement-
ed in 2008/09. The tool is used to monitor the promotion of the Code of Conduct. 
However capacity and budgetary constraints still remain a challenge.

8.6 Safety, health and environmental issues facing the DCS

Senior Managers have been appointed in terms of section 16(2) of the OHS 
Act to properly discharge OHS in all regions including Head Office. 
Health and Safety representatives, First Aiders and Fire Fighters have been 
appointed in all workplaces as required by section 17(1) of OHS Act and total 
of 597 nationally have been trained but still in the process of training other 
Health and Safety representatives, First Aiders in all workplaces in this new 
financial year.
Health and Safety Committees have been established as required by section 
19(1) of OHS Act in all regions in order to address the non compliance and 
promote health, safety and environmental issues in the department. 
Occupational Hygiene Risk Assessment has been conducted as pilot project 
in order to determine level environmental hazards/stressors that exist in the 
workplace that can have the negative effect on the health and safety of the 
employees and offenders. 
Medical Surveillance which is a planned programme of periodic examinations, 
that includes clinical examinations, biological monitoring and medical testing 
of employees has been conducted as pilot project for employees and offend-
ers to ensure that there are no health reasons prohibiting an employee to per-
form certain tasks in certain occupational areas and secondly that neither the 
tasks performed nor will the occupational area have an adverse effect on the 
current health of the employee/offender. 
Advocacy material has been developed to assist the employees to know the 
procedure with regards to compensation of occupational injuries and diseases 
in order to raise awareness among the employees. 

8.7 Effectiveness of governance

There has been notable decline in incidence of corruption and much more aware-
ness around corruption due to campaigns and training around these issues. But 

•

•

•

•

•

•
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as indicated under performance information, setting a performance indicators and 
conducting monitoring and evaluation will provide a much comprehensive assess-
ment of effectiveness of these measures.

The requirements of the KING II report regarding the responsibilities of Account-
ing Officers in terms of section 38 and 40 of the Public Finance Management Act 
(PFMA).

Arrangements In Place
Ownership/

Responsibility
Strategy To Address

1. Strategic and Annual 
Performance plan, 
revised regularly

¸ Operations and Man-
agement Support (OMS)

Mid-Year Reviews 

2. Organisation structure 
filled with appropriate 
staff

¸ Corporate Services and 
Human Resource Plan-
ning (HRP)

Functional structure must be completed
Competency alignment project required

3. Delegation of 
authority for decision 
making

¸ National Commissioner 
and Central Services

Ensure delegation that follow managerial respon-
sibility

4. Performance 
management and 
feedback system 

¸ Corporate Services, 
Human Resource Man-
agement  and Human 
Resource Support

Improvement in the functioning of Moderation 
Committees;

5. Training and 
Development

¸ Corporate Services and 
Human Resource Devel-
opment 

Training across levels to build teams on common 
understanding necessary to deal with culture 
change

6. Governance 
Structures staffed 
accordingly

¸ National Commissioner 
and Operations and 
Management Support 

7. Effective human 
resources function 
and processes

¸ Corporate Services Developed a Strategic Human Resource Manage-
ment Framework and Learning Committees under 
Human Resource Development

8. Effective disciplinary 
process

¸ Corporate Service and 
Legal Services and 
Operations 

Train senior management to handle disciplinary 
cases

9. Fraud Prevention 
Strategy and Whistle 
Blowing Policy

¸ Risk Management 
Committee and Fraud 
Prevention Committee

10. Ethics Policy and 
Code of Conduct

¸ Corporate Services 
and Legal Services and 
Operations 

Awareness campaigns and training

11. Reliable, timeous 
recording and 
accounting system

¸ Finance Improve the effectiveness of the Budget Commit-
tee for decision making

12. Reliable credible 
supply chain 
management system

¸ Finance and Supply 
Chain Management

Vetting of procurement staff, training of managers 
in procurement processes
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Arrangements In Place
Ownership/

Responsibility
Strategy To Address

13. Declaration of 
interest

Supply Chain Manage-
ment
Internal Audit
Human Resource Man-
agement  

Done in bid adjudication committee and Audit 
Committee but should be extended to all decision 
making meetings Annual Financial Disclosures 
signed; permission for remunerative work outside 
of DCS sought from National Commissioner an-
nually

Need to develop a framework that will ensure:
· Management of information in financial dis-
closure.
· Ensure that remunerative work is kept at low-
est possible level 
· Declaration of interest in  relation to short 
listing and interviews

14. Constant vetting of 
key staff

Operations and Man-
agement Support and 
Security Standards 

Posts to be classified in relation to clearance 
requirements

15. Compliance with 
laws and regulations

Operations and Man-
agement Support and 
Inspectorate

Inspectorate to report on inspection findings other 
than CIP to EMC
Training of all managers on regulatory framework 
that we must comply with
Database of law and regulations that must be 
complied with
Monitoring of the Correctional Services Act

16. Leadership Executive Management 
Committee (EMC)

Ensure that all senior managers participated in 
the Leadership development course

9. Discontinued activities/activities to be discontinued

No activities were discontinued

10. New/proposed activities

The Strategic Planning process has been refined to separate the following:
Portfolio Management Strategy that outlines project planning in DCS
Regulatory and Monitoring Strategy that outlines policy development and 
monitoring, evaluation and reporting responsibilities 
Operations Strategy that outlines the coalface service delivery functions in the 
regions

These activities are geared towards improving service delivery and ensuring cor-
rect responsibilities are allocated for Head Office and Regions and increase ac-
countability. This approach will also allow for appropriate submission for budget 
estimates, eliminating lack of resources to be sighted as reason for poor delivery. 

11. Asset management 

11.1 The reasons as to why some of the assets are not in the asset 
register

The department has just migrated from the Web Asset Tool (WAT) to LOGIS. Some 
of the assets were not located when the asset verification teams conducted stock 
taking for LOGIS implementation. These assets were then not loaded on LOGIS 
during implementation. Assets which were on the WAT but were not captured on 
LOGIS were identified and the process of identifying the cause for non-capturing 
and also capturing those which were subsequently found is underway.

•
•

•
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Assets which were procured for installations through capital projects in the previ-
ous financial year before the implementation of LOGIS are being identified when 
invoices are received and captured only after payments have been effected. It is 
envisaged that the process of capturing these assets will be completed by Sep-
tember 2009.

11.2 Asset Management Reforms

The department has completed its migration to LOGIS and the asset management 
policy has been approved by the Minister. The asset register on LOGIS complies 
with the minimum requirements of the Asset Management Reforms.

The current structure of the department does not have asset management units in 
the regional offices as well as in the management areas, in head office there is a 
unit but the posts are not financed. Asset management is, as a result handled by 
logistics officials as one of their responsibilities.

12. Events after the reporting date

Appointment of the new Cabinet and a new Minister and Deputy Minister for the 
Department of Correctional Services.
Establishment of the Planning Commission and the Monitoring and Evaluation 
Unit.

13. Performance information

In 2007, the department embarked on the process of improving performance in-
formation as a result of poor reporting, continued queries from the auditor-general 
and general lack of impact on service provided.   In 2006/07, the department 
piloted the Framework for Managing Programme Performance Information.   This 
has progressed well and has resulted in the development and finalisation of the 
LOGIC model and identification of 46 performance indicators, eleven of which are 
for the Estimates of National Expenditure. The validation of the performance indi-
cators will be finalised in 2009/10. Other important processes included the Inte-
grated Planning, Reporting and Resourcing Policy, the development of the policy 
on Monitoring, Evaluation and Reporting (MER) and the project on MER with seven 
interrelated work streams. The work streams are:

MER regulatory framework
Logic model and suite of indicators
Budget programme optimisation
Validation of indicators
Corporate Performance Management System
Legislation Monitoring Tool
Change Management Plan

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
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14. SCOPA resolutions

Include a table on the SCOPA resolutions.  The table should conform to the fol-
lowing format:

Reference to 
previous audit 

report and SCOPA 
resolutions

Subject Progress made on SCOPA and SCOF resolutions

SCOPA, second 
report of 2009

Tangible capital 
asset 

Recommendations
The committee recommends that the Accounting Officer ensures that:

An accurate asset register is in place, to be reviewed by management and 
that a meeting should be convened with the Auditor-General and Treasury to 
resolve all outstanding matters.

Status:
To address the above mentioned shortcomings in order to have an accurate 
asset register the following measures were taken:

The Department has implemented LOGIS to address the shortcomings 
which were identified in the systems which were previously utilised by the 
department.
LOGIS procedure manual was developed and distributed to all Regions on 
22 May 2008
Asset capturing guideline for capturing of Assets from current systems to 
LOGIS were developed and distributed to all regions for implementation. 
In view of the implementation of LOGIS new Guidelines on asset reconcili-
ation were developed and were distributed to all the regions on 25 August 
2008. Specific training courses on monthly LOGIS Asset Reconciliation 
were presented by National Treasury to a total of 243 officials from all 
LOGIS self accounting stores countrywide from August 2008 to February 
2009
The department embarked on a project to trace and capture all the assets 
and to rectify the incorrect prices and asset categories.
The following policies and procedures that deals with asset management 
were developed and implemented:

Annual Closure guidelines with specific reference to the recon-
ciliation and asset disclosure for 2008/2009 were distributed to 
all regions on 30 January 2009. Training sessions in this regard 
were presented to representatives of all the regions on 23 – 24 
February 2009 

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

SCOPA, second 
report of 2009

Internal Controls Recommendations: 
The committee recommends that the Accounting Officer ensures that:

Adequate controls are in place and all transactions are documented, main-
tained and updated on a daily basis.

Status:
The Department has put processes in place to ensure that all transactions are 
documented and safely kept.

SCOPA, second 
report of 2009

Monitoring and 
Controls

Recommendations 
The committee recommends that the Accounting Officer ensures that:

Adequate controls are in place and all transactions are documented, main-
tained and updated on a daily basis.
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Status:
Payment reconciliation is done between LOGIS and Vulindlela, data 
recorded by information and financial systems is compared monthly and 
discrepancies identified are rectified accordingly. 
BAS detail reports on Capital Expenditure and expenditure for assets 
below R 5000 are also compared to LOGIS reconciliation reports and any 
discrepancies are then rectified through journals. Monthly reporting by 
regions to Head Office by providing confirmation that Asset reconciliation 
has been performed. 
In the LOGIS Procedure Manual the roles and responsibilities are clearly 
defined, documents needed to activate transactions and those that are 
generated by the system as well as how filing should be handled. 

•

•

•

SCOPA, second 
report of 2009

Non compliance 
with applicable 
legislation

Recommendations:
The committee recommends that the Accounting Officer ensures that:

Strategies to overcome overcrowding are developed in line with the above 
legislation.

Status:
The Department of Correctional Services follows a multi-prolonged strategy 
consisting of following dimensions:

Managing levels of awaiting trial detainees (ATD’s) through IJS Case Man-
agement Task Team & Inter-Sectoral Committee on Child Justice;
Managing levels of sentenced inmates through improving effective & 
appropriate use of conversion of sentence to community correctional 
supervision, release on parole, & transfers between correctional centres 
to attempt to establish some degree of evenness of overcrowding;
Ensuring progress with DCS capital works programme to upgrade cor-
rectional facilities & to build new correctional centres that are both cost 
effective & rehabilitation oriented;
Encouraging debate in South Africa about reason for incarceration as a 
sentence & encouraging an approach to appropriate sentencing that is 
focused on facilitating rehabilitation;
Enhancing community correctional supervision so that it can be better 
utilized as an appropriate sentence for less serious crimes;
Improving correction & development programmes within DCS to ensure 
enhanced facilitation of rehabilitation that targets offending behaviour in a 
manner which Department has not previously undertaken;
Encouraging improvement of first & second levels of correction in family 
& social institutions & social & economic sector government departments 
respectively to decrease rate of entry into criminal justice system; and 
Encouraging community involvement in social reintegration of offenders 
back into their community in order to assist in reducing levels of repeat 
offending.

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

15. Prior modifications to audit reports

The Compliance Improvement Plan includes matters reported by the Auditor-Gen-
eral. The Risk Management Committee’s approach is also aimed at reducing risks 
that lead to matters being raised by the Auditor-General (AGSA). The policies men-
tioned under Performance Information also play a critical role in managing matters 
raised by the AGSA. The Budget Committee, the Audit Steering Committee and 
the Audit Committee are bodies that also focus on addressing AGSA matters.
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16. Exemptions and deviations received from the National 
Treasury

None

17. Other

None

18. Approval

The Annual Financial Statements set out on pages 94 to 151 have been approved 
by the Accounting Officer.

Commissioner: Correctional Services
X Sibeko
29 May 2009 
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4.2 Report of the Auditor-General to Parliament on the 
financial statements and performance information of Vote 
19: Department of Correctional Services for the year ended 
31 March 2009

Report on the Financial Statements

Introduction

1.  I have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Department of 
Correctional Services which comprise the appropriation statement, the state-
ment of financial position as at 31 March 2009, and the statement of financial 
performance, the statement of changes in net assets and the cash flow state-
ment for the year then ended, a summary of significant accounting policies 
and other explanatory notes, as set out on pages 94 to 150.

The accounting officer’s responsibility for the financial statements

2. The accounting officer is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation 
of these financial statements in accordance with the modified cash basis of 
accounting determined by National Treasury, as set out in accounting policy 
note 1.1 to the financial statements and in the manner required by the Public 
Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999) (PFMA), and the Correc-
tional Services Act, 1998 (Act no. 111 of 1998) and for such internal control as 
the accounting officer determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 

The Auditor-General’s responsibility

3. As required by section 188 of the Constitution of the Republic of South Africa, 
1996 read with section 4 of the Public Audit Act, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) 
(PAA), my responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements 
based on my audit.

4. I conducted my audit in accordance with the International Standards on Au-
diting read with General Notice 616 of 2008, issued in Government Gazette 
No. 31057 of 15 May 2008. Those standards require that I comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

5. An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected 
depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or er-
ror. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial state-
ments in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circum-
stances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropri-
ateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the financial statements.

6. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for my audit opinion.

(DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONAL SERVICES) VOTE 18
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
for the year ended 31 March 2009
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Basis for qualified opinion

Movable tangible capital assets

7. I was unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence concerning the 
occurrence, completeness and accuracy of amounts as disclosed in note 30.1 
to the financial statements relating to the current year’s adjustments to the 
opening balances of the tangible capital assets to the value of R264 million. 

8. Included in note 30.2 to the financial statement are additions to capital assets 
to the value of R92 million whereas the amounts for additions to capital assets 
as per asset register is R436 million. No reconciliation was provided for the 
difference of R344 million. I was therefore, not able to satisfy myself as to the 
completeness of the disclosures in note 30.2.

9. I was unable to confirm the existence and valuation of assets of approximately 
R236 million included in the closing balance in disclosure note 30.1 to the fi-
nancial statements and furthermore, I was unable to confirm if all assets were 
included in the closing balance in disclosure note 30.1 to the financial state-
ments. The department implemented a new asset register system in the finan-
cial year and did not implement adequate controls to ensure that the asset 
register was updated with the actual assets physically on hand.  I was unable 
to perform alternative procedures to verify the existence, completeness and 
valuation of these assets.

Movable tangible minor assets

10. I was unable to confirm if assets recorded in the asset register with an approxi-
mate value of R38 million were recorded at the correct amount due to a lack 
of supporting evidence. The department implemented a new asset register 
system in the financial year and did not implement adequate controls to ensure 
that the asset register was updated with the actual assets physically on hand.  
I was unable to perform alternative procedures to verify valuation of these as-
sets.

Qualified opinion 

11. In my opinion, except for the possible effects of the matters described in the 
Basis for qualified opinion paragraphs, these financial statements present fairly, 
in all material respects, the financial position of the Department of Correctional 
Services as at 31 March 2009 and its financial performance and cash flows for 
the year then ended, in accordance with the modified cash basis of accounting 
determined by National Treasury, as set out in accounting policy note 1.1 to the 
financial statements and in the manner required by the PFMA.

Emphasis of matters

I draw attention to the following matters on which I do not express a qualified 
opinion:

Basis of accounting 

12. The department’s policy is to prepare the financial statements in accordance 
with the modified cash basis of accounting determined by the National Treas-
ury, as set out in accounting policy note 1.1 

Unauthorised expenditure

13. As disclosed in note 10 to the financial statements, unauthorised expenditure 
to the amount of R483 million was incurred by the department as a result of 
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implementing the Public Service Co-ordinating Bargaining Council (PSCBC) 
resolution No. 1 of 2007  on the improvement in salaries and other conditions 
of service for the financial years 2007/2008 to 2010/2011. This was reported 
to National Treasury in advance and a request for additional fund to finance the 
budget shortfalls as a result of the above was made. Additional funds were, 
however, not made available to the department.

Other matters
I draw attention to the following matters that relate to my responsibilities in the audit 
of the financial statements:

Non-compliance with applicable legislation

Public Service Regulations

14. The human resource (HR) plan has not been updated with the projected infor-
mation for the 2008-09 financial year. The HR plan provided only reflects pro-
jected information for the 2006-07 financial year, resulting in the department 
not complying with chapter 1, part 3, paragraph D1(c), of the Public Service 
Regulations (PSR).

Correctional Service Act

15. Correctional centres remain overcrowded, resulting in the department not 
complying with section 7 of the Correctional Service Act, 1998 (Act No.111 of 
1998), which requires that prisoners be detained under conditions of human 
dignity.

Governance framework

16. The governance principles that impact the auditor’s opinion on the financial 
statements are related to the responsibilities and practices exercised by the 
accounting officer and executive management and are reflected in the internal 
control deficiencies and key governance responsibilities addressed below:

Internal control deficiencies

17. Section 38(1) (a) (i) of the PFMA states that the accounting officer must ensure 
that the department has and maintains effective, efficient and transparent sys-
tems of financial and risk management and internal control. The table below 
depicts the root causes that gave rise to the deficiencies in the system of inter-
nal control, which led to the qualified opinion. The root causes are categorised 
according to the five components of an effective system of internal control. 
(The number listed per component can be followed with the legend below the 
table.) In some instances deficiencies exist in more than one internal control 
component.

Par. no. Basis for qualified opinion CE RA CA IC M

7 – 9. Movable tangible capital assets 1 1,2,4 3,5,6 1,3 1,2,3

10. Movable tangible minor assets 1 1,2,4 3,5,6 1,3 1,2,3

Based on the above root causes management should focus more attention in im-
proving the current systems of internal control, especially as far as asset man-
agement is concerned. The current department’s structure does not have asset 
management units in the regional offices as well as in the management areas. The 
table below shows the list of various components of internal controls:
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Legend

CE = Control environment

The organisational structure does not address areas of responsibility and 
lines of reporting to support effective control over financial reporting.

1

Management and staff are not assigned appropriate levels of authority and 
responsibility to facilitate control over financial reporting. 

2

Human resource policies do not facilitate effective recruitment and training, 
disciplining and supervision of personnel.

3

Integrity and ethical values have not been developed and are not understood 
to set the standard for financial reporting.

4

The accounting officer/accounting authority does not exercise oversight re-
sponsibility over financial reporting and internal control.

5

Management’s philosophy and operating style do not promote effective con-
trol over financial reporting.

6

The entity does not have individuals competent in financial reporting and 
related matters.

7

RA = Risk assessment

Management has not specified financial reporting objectives to enable the 
identification of risks to reliable financial reporting.

1

The entity does not identify risks to the achievement of financial reporting 
objectives.

2

The entity does not analyse the likelihood and impact of the risks identified. 3

The entity does not determine a risk strategy/action plan to manage identi-
fied risks.

4

The potential for material misstatement due to fraud is not considered. 5

CA = Control activities

There is inadequate segregation of duties to prevent fraudulent data and as-
set misappropriation.

1

General information technology controls have not been designed to maintain 
the integrity of the information system and the security of the data.

2

Manual or automated controls are not designed to ensure that the trans-
actions have occurred, are authorised, and are completely and accurately 
processed.

3

Actions are not taken to address risks to the achievement of financial report-
ing objectives.

4

Control activities are not selected and developed to mitigate risks over finan-
cial reporting.

5

Policies and procedures related to financial reporting are not established and 
communicated.

6

Realistic targets are not set for financial performance measures, which are in 
turn not linked to an effective reward system.

7

IC = Information and communication

Pertinent information is not identified and captured in a form and time frame 
to support financial reporting.

1

Information required to implement internal control is not available to person-
nel to enable internal control responsibilities.

2

Communications do not enable and support the understanding and execu-
tion of internal control processes and responsibilities by personnel.

3
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M = Monitoring

Ongoing monitoring and supervision are not undertaken to enable an as-
sessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting.

1

Neither reviews by internal audit or the audit committee nor self -assess-
ments are evident.

2

Internal control deficiencies are not identified and communicated in a timely 
manner to allow for corrective action to be taken.

3

Key governance responsibilities

18. The PFMA tasks the accounting officer with a number of responsibilities con-
cerning financial and risk management and internal control. Fundamental to 
achieving this is the implementation of key governance responsibilities, which 
I have assessed as follows:

NO. MATTER Y N

Clear trail of supporting documentation that is easily available and 
provided in a timely manner

1. No significant difficulties were experienced during the audit con-
cerning delays or the availability of requested information.

¸

Quality of financial statements and related management information

2. The financial statements were not subject to any material amend-
ments resulting from the audit.

¸

3. The annual report was submitted for consideration prior to the 
tabling of the auditor’s report.

¸

Timeliness of financial statements and management information

4. The annual financial statements were submitted for auditing 
as per the legislated deadlines as set out in section 40 of the 
PFMA.

¸

Availability of key officials during audit 

5. Key officials were available throughout the audit process. ¸

Development and compliance with risk management, effective internal 
control and governance practices

6. Audit committee

• The Department had an audit committee in operation through-
out the financial year.

¸

• The audit committee operates in accordance with approved, 
written terms of reference.

¸

• The audit committee substantially fulfilled its responsibilities for 
the year, as set out in section 77 of the PFMA and Treasury Regu-
lation 3.1.10

¸

7. Internal audit

• The Department had an internal audit function in operation 
throughout the financial year.

¸

• The internal audit function operates in terms of an approved 
internal audit plan.

¸

• The internal audit function substantially fulfilled its responsibili-
ties for the year, as set out in Treasury Regulation 3.2.

¸

8. There are no significant deficiencies in the design and implemen-
tation of internal control in respect of financial and risk manage-
ment.

¸
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9. There are no significant deficiencies in the design and implemen-
tation of internal control in respect of compliance with applicable 
laws and regulations. 

¸

10. The information systems were appropriate to facilitate the prepa-
ration of the financial statements.

¸

11. A risk assessment was conducted on a regular basis and a risk 
management strategy, which includes a fraud prevention plan, is 
documented and used as set out in Treasury Regulation 3.2.

¸

12. Powers and duties have been assigned as set out in section 44 
of the PFMA.    

¸

Follow-up of audit findings

13. The prior year audit findings have been substantially addressed. ¸

14. SCOPA resolutions have been substantially implemented. ¸

Issues relating to the reporting of performance information

15. The information systems were appropriate to facilitate the prepa-
ration of a performance report that is accurate and complete.

¸

16. Adequate control processes and procedures are designed and 
implemented to ensure the accuracy and completeness of re-
ported performance information.

¸

17. A strategic plan was prepared and approved for the financial year 
under review for purposes of monitoring the performance in re-
lation to the budget and delivery by the Department against its 
mandate, predetermined objectives, outputs, indicators and tar-
gets as set out in Treasury Regulations 5.1, 5.2 and 6.1.

¸

18. There is a functioning performance management system and 
performance bonuses are only paid after proper assessment and 
approval by those charged with governance.

¸

19. Although the Department has governance structures in place, it does not have 
adequate measures to ensure that it’s regional offices complies with relevant 
policies and procedures related to financial reporting.

Investigations 

20. The special investigation unit (SIU) presented their report to parliament on 
20 May 2008 on their findings regarding corruption at correctional centres 
an abuse of the department’s medical aid scheme which emanated from Jali 
Commission’s report.

21. The Department, in accordance with the three - pronged Strategy in 2002 
focusing on corruption prevention, investigation and sanction, extended its 
memorandum of agreement with SIU until 31 March 2009 to conduct the in-
vestigation on the following:
 Procurement; 
 Repairs and Maintance Projects;
 Assets management at Correctional Centre farms;
 Outstanding medical aid matters; and
 Correctional Centre Pharmacies.

As at the date of this report, some of these investigations were still ongoing.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

Report on performance information

22. I have reviewed the performance information as set out on pages 24 to 70.

•
•
•
•
•



Department of Correctional Services  Annual Report 2008/09          93

The accounting officer’s responsibility for the performance information

23. The accounting officer has additional responsibilities as required by section 
40(3)(a) of the PFMA to ensure that the annual report and audited financial 
statements fairly present the performance against predetermined objectives 
of the department.

The Auditor-General’s responsibility

24. I conducted my engagement in accordance with section 13 of the PAA read 
with General Notice 616 of 2008, issued in Government Gazette No. 31057 of 
15 May 2008. 

25. In terms of the foregoing my engagement included performing procedures of 
an audit nature to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence about the perform-
ance information and related systems, processes and procedures. The proce-
dures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement.

26. I believe that the evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to pro-
vide a basis for the audit findings reported below. 

Findings on performance information

Non-compliance with regulatory requirements

27. The strategic and annual performance plans of the department did not always 
include indicators of the department’s programmes.

28. The department did not always ensure that the identified targets in the annual 
report have corresponding indicators.

OTHER REPORTS

Performance audits

29. A performance audit concerning the government employees’ related entities 
transacting with the department was finalised and tabled in parliament in June 
2009.  The report covered the period 1 April 2005 to 31 March 2006. 

APPRECIATION
30. The assistance rendered by the staff of the Department of Correctional Serv-

ices during the audit is sincerely appreciated.

Pretoria
31 July 2009

 



The Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with the following 
policies, which have been applied consistently in all material aspects, unless other-
wise indicated. However, where appropriate and meaningful, additional information 
has been disclosed to enhance the usefulness of the Financial Statements and to 
comply with the statutory requirements of the Public Finance Management Act, Act 
1 of 1999 (as amended by Act 29 of 1999), and the Treasury Regulations issued in 
terms of the Act and the Division of Revenue Act, Act 2 of 2006. 

1. Presentation of the Financial Statements

1.1 Basis of preparation

The Financial Statements have been prepared on a modified cash basis of ac-
counting, except where stated otherwise. The modified cash basis constitutes the 
cash basis of accounting supplemented with additional disclosure items.  Under 
the cash basis of accounting transactions and other events are recognised when 
cash is received or paid. 

1.2 Presentation currency

All amounts have been presented in the currency of the South African Rand (R) 
which is also the functional currency of the department.

1.3 Rounding

Unless otherwise stated all financial figures have been rounded to the nearest one 
thousand Rand (R’000).

1.4 Comparative figures

Prior period comparative information has been presented in the current year’s fi-
nancial statements.  Where necessary figures included in the prior period financial 
statements have been reclassified to ensure that the format in which the informa-
tion is presented is consistent with the format of the current year’s financial state-
ments.  

1.5 Comparative figures - Appropriation Statement

A comparison between actual amounts and final appropriation per major classifi-
cation of expenditure is included in the Appropriation Statement.  

2. Revenue

2.1 Appropriated funds

Appropriated funds are recognised in the financial records on the date the appro-
priation becomes effective.  Adjustments to the appropriated funds made in terms 
of the adjustments budget process are recognised in the financial records on the 
date the adjustments become effective.

Total appropriated funds are presented in the Statement of Financial Perform-
ance.  

Unexpended appropriated funds are surrendered to the National/Provincial Rev-
enue Fund.  Amounts owing to the National/Provincial Revenue Fund at the end of 
the financial year are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position.

4.3 DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONAL SERVICES VOTE 18
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
for the year ended 31 March 2009
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2.2 Statutory Appropriation

Statutory appropriations are recognised in the financial records on the date the ap-
propriation becomes effective.  Adjustments to the statutory appropriations made 
in terms of the adjustments budget process are recognised in the financial records 
on the date the adjustments become effective.

Total statutory appropriations are presented in the Statement of Financial Perform-
ance.  

Unexpended statutory appropriations are surrendered to the National/Provincial 
Revenue Fund.  Amounts owing to the National/Provincial Revenue Fund at the 
end of the financial year are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position.

2.3 Departmental revenue

All departmental revenue is paid into the National/Provincial Revenue Fund when 
received, unless otherwise stated.  Amounts owing to the National/Provincial Rev-
enue Fund at the end of the financial year are recognised in the Statement of 
Financial Position.  

Amounts receivable at the reporting date are disclosed in the disclosure notes to 
the annual financial statements.  

2.3.1 Tax revenue

Tax revenue consists of all compulsory unrequited amounts collected by the de-
partment in accordance with laws and or regulations (excluding fines, penalties & 
forfeits).

Tax receipts are recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance when re-
ceived. 

2.3.2 Sales of goods and services other than capital assets

The proceeds received from the sale of goods and/or the provision of services is 
recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance when the cash is received.  

2.3.3 Fines, penalties & forfeits

Fines, penalties & forfeits are compulsory unrequited amounts which were im-
posed by a court or quasi-judicial body and collected by the department.  Revenue 
arising from fines, penalties and forfeits is recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Performance when the cash is received.  

2.3.4 Interest, dividends and rent on land

Interest, dividends and rent on land is recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Performance when the cash is received.

2.3.5 Sale of capital assets

The proceeds received on sale of capital assets are recognised in the Statement of 
Financial Performance when the cash is received.  

2.3.6 Financial transactions in assets and liabilities

Repayments of loans and advances previously extended to employees and public 
corporations for policy purposes are recognised as revenue in the Statement of 
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Financial Performance on receipt of the funds.  

Cheques issued in previous accounting periods that expire before being banked 
are recognised as revenue in the Statement of Financial Performance when the 
cheque becomes stale. When the cheque is reissued the payment is made from 
Revenue.

Forex gains are recognised on payment of funds.

2.3.7 Transfers received (including gifts, donations and sponsorships) 

All cash gifts, donations and sponsorships are paid into the National/Provincial 
Revenue Fund and recorded as revenue in the Statement of Financial Performance 
when received.  Amounts receivable at the reporting date are disclosed in the dis-
closure notes to the financial statements.

All in-kind gifts, donations and sponsorships are disclosed at fair value in an an-
nexure to the financial statements.

2.4 Direct Exchequer receipts

All direct exchequer receipts are recognised in the Statement of Financial Perform-
ance when the cash is received.  

All direct exchequer payments are recognised in the Statement of Financial Per-
formance when final authorisation for payment is effected on the system (by no 
later than 31 March of each year).

2.5 Aid assistance

Local and foreign aid assistance is recognised as revenue when notification of the 
assistance is received from the National Treasury or when the department directly 
receives the cash from the donor(s).  

All in-kind local and foreign aid assistance are disclosed at fair value in the annex-
ures to the annual financial statements.

The cash payments made during the year relating to local and foreign aid assist-
ance projects are recognised as expenditure in the Statement of Financial Per-
formance. The value of the assistance expensed prior to the receipt of the funds is 
recognised as a receivable in the Statement of Financial Position.

Inappropriately expensed amounts using local and foreign aid assistance and any 
unutilised amounts are recognised as payables in the Statement of Financial Posi-
tion.

3. Expenditure

3.1 Compensation of employees

3.1.1 Short-term employee benefits

Salaries and wages comprise payments to employees (including leave entitle-
ments, thirteenth cheques and performance bonuses).  Salaries and wages are 
recognised as an expense in the Statement of Financial Performance when final 
authorisation for payment is effected on the system (by no later than 31 March of 
each year).  Capitalised compensation forms part of the expenditure for capital as-
sets in the Statement of Financial Performance .  
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All other payments are classified as current expense. Short-term employee ben-
efits that give rise to a present legal or constructive obligation are disclosed in the 
disclosure notes to the financial statements.  These amounts are not recognised in 
the Statement of Financial Performance or Position.

3.1.2 Post retirement benefits

The department provides retirement benefits (pension benefits) for certain of its 
employees through a defined benefit plan for government employees.  These ben-
efits are funded by both employer and employee contributions. 

Employer contributions (i.e. social contributions) to the fund are expensed when 
the final authorisation for payment to the fund is effected on the system (by no later 
than 31 March of each year). No provision is made for retirement benefits in the 
financial statements of the department. Any potential liabilities are disclosed in the 
financial statements of the National/Provincial Revenue Fund and not in the finan-
cial statements of the employer department.

The department provides medical benefits for certain of its employees.  Employer 
contributions to the medical funds are expensed when final authorisation for pay-
ment to the fund is effected on the system (by no later than 31 March of each 
year).

3.1.3 Termination benefits

Termination benefits such as severance packages are recognised as an expense 
in the Statement of Financial Performance as a transfer (to households) when the 
final authorisation for payment is effected on the system (by no later than 31 March 
of each year).

3.1.4 Other long-term employee benefits

Other long-term employee benefits (such as capped leave) are recognised as an 
expense in the Statement of Financial Performance as a transfer (to households) 
when the final authorisation for payment is effected on the system (by no later than 
31 March of each year).

Long-term employee benefits that give rise to a present legal or constructive ob-
ligation are disclosed in the disclosure notes to the financial statements.  These 
amounts are not recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance or Posi-
tion.

3.2 Goods and services

Payments made for goods and/or services are recognised as an expense in the 
Statement of Financial Performance when the final authorisation for payment is 
effected on the system (by no later than 31 March of each year).  The expense is 
classified as capital if the goods and services were used for a capital project or an 
asset of R5000 or more is purchased.   All assets costing less than R5000 will also 
be reflected under goods and services.

3.3 Interest and rent on land

Interest and rental payments are recognised as an expense in the Statement of 
Financial Performance when the final authorisation for payment is effected on the 
system (by no later than 31 March of each year).  This item excludes rental for the 
use of buildings or other fixed structures.   If it is not possible to distinguish be-
tween payment for the use of land and the fixed structures on it, the whole amount 
should be recorded under goods and services.
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3.4 Financial transactions in assets and liabilities

Debts are written off when identified as irrecoverable. Debts written-off are limited 
to the amount of savings and/or underspending of appropriated funds. The write 
off occurs at year-end or when funds are available.  No provision is made for irre-
coverable amounts, but amounts are disclosed as a disclosure note.

All other losses are recognised when authorisation has been granted for the rec-
ognition thereof.

3.5 Transfers and subsidies

Transfers and subsidies are recognised as an expense when the final authorisation 
for payment is effected on the system (by no later than 31 March of each year).

3.6 Unauthorised expenditure

When discovered unauthorised expenditure is recognised as an asset in the state-
ment of financial position until such time as the expenditure is either approved by 
the relevant authority, recovered from the responsible person or written off as ir-
recoverable in the Statement of Financial Performance.

Unauthorised expenditure approved with funding is recognised in the Statement 
of Financial Performance when the unauthorised expenditure is approved and the 
related funds are received.  Where the amount is approved without funding it is 
recognised as expenditure, subject to availability of savings in the Statement of 
Financial Performance on the date of approval.

3.7 Fruitless and wasteful expenditure

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure is recognised as expenditure in the Statement 
of Financial Performance.  If the expenditure is recoverable it is treated as an asset 
until it is recovered from the responsible person or written off as irrecoverable in the 
Statement of Financial Performance.

3.8 Irregular expenditure

Irregular expenditure is recognised as expenditure in the Statement of Financial 
Performance.  If the expenditure is not condoned by the relevant authority it is 
treated as an asset until it is recovered or written off as irrecoverable in the State-
ment of Financial Performance.   

3.9 Expenditure for capital assets

Payments made for capital assets are recognised as an expense in the Statement 
of Financial Performance when the final authorisation for payment is effected on 
the system (by no later than 31 March of each year).

4. Assets

4.1 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the Statement of Financial Position at 
cost.  

For the purposes of the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents com-
prise cash on hand, deposits held, other short-term highly liquid investments and 
bank overdrafts.
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4.2 Other financial assets

Other financial assets are carried in the Statement of Financial Position at cost.

4.3 Prepayments and advances

Amounts prepaid or advanced are recognised in the Statement of Financial Posi-
tion when the payments are made.

Pre-payments and advances outstanding at the end of the year are carried in the 
Statement of Financial Position at cost.

4.4 Receivables

Receivables included in the Statement of Financial Position arise from cash pay-
ments made that are recoverable from another party.

Receivables outstanding at year-end are carried in the Statement of Financial Posi-
tion at cost plus any accrued interest.

4.5 Investments

Capitalised investments are shown at cost in the Statement of Financial Position.  
Any cash flows such as dividends received or proceeds from the sale of the invest-
ment are recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance when the cash is 
received. 

Investments are tested for an impairment loss whenever events or changes in cir-
cumstances indicate that the investment may be impaired.   Any loss is included in 
the disclosure notes.  

4.6 Loans

Loans are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position at the nominal amount 
when cash is paid to the beneficiary.  Loan balances are reduced when cash re-
payments are received from the beneficiary.   Amounts that are potentially irrecov-
erable are included in the disclosure notes.

Loans that are outstanding at year-end are carried in the Statement of Financial 
Position at cost.

4.7 Inventory

Inventories purchased during the financial year are disclosed at cost in the notes.

4.8 Capital assets

4.8.1 Movable assets

A capital asset is recorded on receipt of the item at cost.  Cost of an asset is de-
fined as the total cost of acquisition. Where the cost cannot be determined accu-
rately, the movable capital asset is stated at fair value. Where fair value cannot be 
determined, the capital asset is included in the asset register at R1.

Subsequent expenditure of a capital nature is recorded in the Statement of Finan-
cial Performance as “expenditure for capital asset” and is capitalised in the asset 
register of the department on completion of the project.  

Department of Correctional Services  Annual Report 2008/09          99



Repairs and maintenance is expensed as current “goods and services” in the 
Statement of Financial Performance.

4.8.2 Immovable assets

A capital asset is recorded on receipt of the item at cost.  Cost of an asset is de-
fined as the total cost of acquisition.  Where the cost cannot be determined accu-
rately, the immovable capital asset is stated at R1 unless the fair value for the asset 
has been reliably estimated.

Work-in-progress of a capital nature is recorded in the Statement of Financial Per-
formance as “expenditure for capital asset”.  On completion, the total cost of the 
project is included in the asset register of the department that legally owns the as-
set or the provincial/national department of public works.

Repairs and maintenance is expensed as current “goods and services” in the 
Statement of Financial Performance.

5. Liabilities

5.1 Voted funds to be surrendered to the Revenue Fund

Unexpended appropriated funds are surrendered to the National/Provincial Rev-
enue Fund.  Amounts owing to the National/Provincial Revenue Fund at the end of 
the financial year are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position.

5.2 Departmental revenue to be surrendered to the Revenue Fund

Amounts owing to the National/Provincial Revenue Fund at the end of the financial 
year are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position at cost.

5.3 Direct Exchequer receipts to be surrendered to the Revenue Fund

All direct exchequer fund receipts are recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Performance when the cash is received.  

Amounts received must be surrendered to the relevant revenue fund on receipt 
thereof.  Any amount not surrendered at year end is reflected as a current payable 
in the Statement of Financial Position. 

5.4 Bank overdraft

The bank overdraft is carried in the Statement of Financial Position at cost.

5.5 Payables

Recognised payables mainly comprise of amounts owing to other governmental 
entities.  These payables are recognised at historical cost in the Statement of Fi-
nancial Position.  

5.6 Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities are included in the disclosure notes to the financial state-
ments.
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5.7 Commitments

Commitments are not recognised in the Statement of Financial Position as a liability 
or as expenditure in the Statement of Financial Performance but are included in the 
disclosure notes.

5.8 Accruals

Accruals are not recognised in the Statement of Financial Position as a liability or 
as expenditure in the Statement of Financial Performance but are included in the 
disclosure notes.

5.9 Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits that give rise to a present legal or constructive ob-
ligation are disclosed in the disclosure notes to the financial statements.  These 
amounts are not recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance or the 
Statement of Financial Position.

5.10 Lease commitments

5.10.1 Finance leases

Finance leases are not recognised as assets and liabilities in the statement of fi-
nancial position. Finance lease payments are recognised as an expense in the 
statement of financial performance and are apportioned between the capital and 
the interest portions.  The finance lease liability is disclosed in the disclosure notes 
to the financial statements.

5.10.2 Operating leases

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the statement of finan-
cial performance. The operating lease commitments are disclosed in the disclo-
sure notes to the financial statements.”

6. Receivables for departmental revenue

Receivables for departmental revenue are disclosed in the disclosure notes to the 
annual financial statements.

7. Net Assets

7.1 Capitalisation reserve

The capitalisation reserve comprises of financial assets and/or liabilities originating 
in a prior reporting period but which are recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Position for the first time in the current reporting period.  Amounts are transferred 
to the National/Provincial Revenue Fund on disposal, repayment or recovery of 
such amounts.

7.2 Recoverable revenue

Amounts are recognised as recoverable revenue when a payment made in a pre-
vious financial year becomes recoverable from a debtor in the current financial 
year.
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8. Related party transactions

Specific information with regards to related party transactions is included in the 
disclosure notes.

9. Key management personnel

Compensation paid to key management personnel including their family members 
where relevant, is included in the disclosure notes. 

10. Public private partnerships

A description of the PPP arrangement, the contract fees and current and capital 
expenditure relating to the PPP arrangement is included in the disclosure notes. 
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1. Detail of transfers and subsidies as per Appropriation Act (after Virement):
Detail of these transactions can be viewed in note 8 (Transfers and subsidies) and Annexure 1 (A-L) to the annual financial 
statements.

2. Detail of specifically and exclusively appropriated amounts voted (after Virement):
Detail of these transactions can be viewed in note 1 (Annual Appropriation) to the annual financial statements.

3. Detail on financial transactions in assets and liabilities
Detail of these transactions per programme can be viewed in note 7 to Financial transactions in assets and liabilities to 
the annual financial statements.

4. Explanations of material variances from Amounts Voted (after virement):
4.1 Per programme:

Final Appropriation Actual Expenditure Variance Variance as a % 
of Final Approp.

R’000 R’000 R’000 %

 Administration 3,315,466 3,315,466  - 100.00%

 Security 4,082,132 4,552,020  (469,888) 111.5%

Over-spending on programme Security is mainly due to the implementation of Public Service Co-ordinating Bargaining 
Council Resolution number 1 of 2007 which provided for the improvement on conditions of services.  In the past, the 
Department used to compensate officials for work done on Saturdays and public holidays by giving them time-off.  The  
Public Service Co-ordinating Bargaining Council Resolution number 1 of 2007 requires that the Department must pay 
the officials for work done on Saturdays and public holidays in monetary terms.

 Corrections 1,022,456 1,022,456  - 100.00%

 Care 1,349,865 1,349,865  - 100.00%

 Development 453,366 453,366  - 100.00%

 Social Reintegration 410,486 426,590  (16,104) 103.9%

Over-spending on programme Social Reintegration is mainly due to the implementation of Public Service Co-ordinat-
ing Bargaining Council Resolution number 1 of 2007 which provided for the improvement on conditions of services.  In 
the past, the Department used to compensate officials for work done on Saturdays and public holidays by giving them 
time-off.  The  Public Service Co-ordinating Bargaining Council Resolution number 1 of 2007 requires that the Depart-
ment must pay the officials for work done on Saturdays and public holidays in monetary terms.

 Facilities 1,705,049 1,702,878 2,171 99.9%

Department of Correctional Services - Vote 18
Notes to the Appropriation Statement
for the year ended 31 March 2009
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Final 
Appropriation

Actual 
Expenditure

Variance Variance as a % 
of Final Approp.

4.2 Per economic classification: R’000 R’000 R’000 %

Current expenditure
Compensation of employees
Goods and services
Interest and rent on land
Financial transactions in assets and 
liabilities

Transfers and subsidies
Provinces and municipalities
Departmental agencies and accounts
Public corporations & private enterprises
Households

Payments for capital assets
Buildings and other fixed structures
Machinery and equipment
Biological or cultivated assets
Software & other intangible assets

 
7,616,225 

 3,522,891 
 41 

 - 
 

1,997 
 3,947 

 219 
 32,759 

 1,037,642 
 90,800 

 139 
 32,160 

 8,077,840 
 3,544,946 

 41 

 2,335 

 1,997 
 3,947 

 219 
 32,759 

 1,035,458 
 90,800 

 139 
 32,160 

 (461,615)
 (22,055)

 - 

 (2,335)

 - 
 - 
 - 
 - 

 2,184 
 - 
 - 
 - 

106.1%
100.6%
100.0%

-

100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%

99.8%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%

Department of Correctional Services - Vote 18
Notes to the Appropriation Statement
for the year ended 31 March 2009
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REVENUE Note
 2008/09 

 R’000 
 2007/08 

 R’000 

Annual appropriation
Departmental revenue
Aid assistance 

1
2
3

 12,338,820 
 80,506 

 2,431 

 11,384,409 
 136,313 

 - 

TOTAL REVENUE  12,421,757  11,520,722 

EXPENDITURE
Current expenditure

Compensation of employees
Goods and services
Interest and rent on land
Financial transactions in assets and liabilities
Aid assistance 

4
5
6
7
3

8,077,840 
 3,544,946 

 41 
 2,335 

 574 

 6,799,221 
 3,106,847 

 22 
 2,554 
 5,027 

Total current expenditure  11,625,736  9,913,671 

Transfers and subsidies  38,922  33,196 

Transfers and subsidies 8  38,922  33,196 

Expenditure for capital assets

Tangible capital assets
Software and other intangible assets

9
9

1,127,539 
 32,160 

1,174,536 
 6,003 

Total expenditure for capital assets  1,159,699  1,180,539 

TOTAL EXPENDITURE  12,824,357  11,127,406 

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR  (402,600)  393,316 

Reconciliation of Net Surplus/(Deficit) for the year
Voted Funds 
Departmental revenue 
Aid assistance 

2
3

 (483,821)
 80,506 

 715 

 262,030 
 136,313 
 (5,027)

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR  (402,600)  393,316 

Department of Correctional Services - Vote 18
Statement of Financial Performance
for the year ended 31 March 2009
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ASSETS Note  2008/09  2007/08 

 R’000  R’000 

Current assets  578,653  297,987 

Unauthorised expenditure
Cash and cash equivalents
Prepayments and advances
Receivables

10
11
12
13

 483,821 
 1,476 

 171 
 93,185 

 - 
 42,529 

 1,011 
 254,447 

  

TOTAL ASSETS  578,653  297,987 

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities  549,694  273,899 

Voted funds to be surrendered to the Revenue Fund
Departmental revenue to be surrendered to the Revenue Fund
Bank overdraft
Payables
Aid assistance repayable

14
15
16
17
5

 - 
 (31,976)
 556,032 

 24,034 
 1,604 

 262,030 
 3,133 

 - 
 7,847 

 889 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  549,694  273,899 

NET ASSETS  28,959  24,088 

Represented by:

Recoverable revenue  28,959  24,088 

TOTAL  28,959  24,088 

Note  2008/09  2007/08 

 R’000  R’000 

Recoverable revenue

Opening balance  24,088  24,819 

Transfers  4,871  (731)

Debts recovered (included in departmental receipts)  4,871  (731)

Closing balance  28,959  24,088 

TOTAL  28,959  24,088 

Department of Correctional Services - Vote 18
Statement of Financial Position
for the year ended 31 March 2009

Statement of Changes in Net Assets
for the year ended 31 March 2009
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Note  2008/09  2007/08 

 R’000  R’000 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts  12,420,345  11,520,517 

Annual appropriated funds received
Departmental revenue received
Aid assistance 

1.1
2
3

 12,338,820 
 79,094 

 2,431 

 11,384,409 
 136,108 

 - 

Net (increase)/ decrease in working capital
Surrendered to Revenue Fund
Current payments
Transfers and subsidies paid

 (305,532)
 (377,645)

 (11,141,915)
 (38,922)

 (149,620)
 (718,793)

 (9,913,671)
 (33,196)

Net cash flow available from operating activities 18  556,331  705,237 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payments for capital assets
Proceeds from sale of capital assets

9
2.4

 (1,159,699)
 1,412 

 (1,180,539)
 205 

Net cash flows from investing activities  (1,158,287)  (1,180,334)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Increase/ (decrease) in net assets  4,871  (731)

Net cash flows from financing activities  4,871  (731)

Net increase/ (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period

 (597,085)

 42,529 

 (475,828)

 518,357 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 19  (554,556)  42,529 

Department of Correctional Services - Vote 18
Cash flow Statement
for the year ended 31 March 2009
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1. Annual Appropriation
1.1 Annual Appropriation

Included are funds appropriated in terms of the Appropriation Act for National Departments (Voted Funds)

Programmes

Final
Appropria-

tion
R’000

Actual 
Funds

Received
R’000

 Funds not  
 request-

ed/ 
 not re-
ceived 
 R’000 

 Appro-
priation 

 Received 
 2007/08 

 R’000 

Administration
Security
Corrections
Care
Development
Social Reintegration
Facilities

 3,315,466 
 4,082,132 
 1,022,456 
 1,349,865 

 453,366 
 410,486 

 1,705,049 

 3,154,779 
 4,200,695 
 1,099,182 
 1,411,534 

 406,214 
 413,972 

 1,652,444 

 160,687 
 (118,563)
 (76,726)
 (61,669)

 47,152 
 (3,486)
 52,605 

 2,874,543 
 3,444,847 
 1,091,580 
 1,291,561 

 394,348 
 371,356 

 1,916,174 

Total  12,338,820  12,338,820  -  11,384,409 

2. Departmental Revenue Note
 2008/09 

 R’000 
 2007/08 

 R’000 

Sales of goods and services other than capital assets
Fines, penalties and forfeits
Interest, dividends and rent on land
Sales of capital assets
Financial transactions in assets and liabilities
Transfer received 

2.1
2.2
2.3
2.4
2.5
2.6

 17,268 
 16,836 

 375 
 1,412 

 44,554 
 61 

 77,425 
 15,030 

 400 
 205 

 43,253 
 - 

Total revenue collected  80,506  136,313 

Departmental Revenue collected  80,506  136,313 

2.1 Sales of goods and services other than capital assets

Sales of goods and services produced by the department  14,885  68,725 

Sales by market establishment
Administrative fees
Other sales

 (2,241)
 - 

 17,126 

 - 
 3 

 68,722 

Sales of scrap, waste and other used current goods  2,383  8,700 

Total  17,268  77,425 

2.2 Fines, penalties and forfeits

Fines 
Forfeits

 16,632 
 204 

 - 
 15,030 

Total  16,836  15,030 

2.3 Interest, dividends and rent on land

Interest  375  400 

Total  375  400 

2.4 Sales of capital assets

Machinery and equipment  1,412  205 

Total  1,412  205 

Department of Correctional Services - Vote 18
Notes on the Annual Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 March 2009
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Department of Correctional Services - Vote 18
Notes on the Annual Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 March 2009

2.5 Financial transactions in assets and liabilities

Receivables
Stale cheques written back
Other receipts including recoverable revenue

 36,548 
 990 

 7,016 

 33,156 
 717 

 9,380 

Total  44,554  43,253 

2.6 Transfers received

Public corporations and private enterprises  61  - 

Total  61  - 

3. Aid assistance 

3.1 Assistance received in cash from RDP

Foreign
Opening Balance
Revenue
Expenditure

 889 
 2,431 

 (1,716)

 5,916 
 - 

 (5,027)

  Current
  Capital

 (574)
 (1,142)

 (5,027)
 - 

Closing Balance  1,604  889 

3.2 Total
Opening Balance
Revenue
Expenditure

 889 
 2,431 

 (1,716)

 5,916 
 - 

 5,027 

Current
Capital

 (574)
 (1,142)

 5,027 
 - 

Closing balance  1,604  889 

Analysis of balance

Aid assitance repayable  1,604  889 

RDP  1,604  889 

Closing balance  1,604  889 

4. Compensation of employees

4.1 Salaries and wages
Basic salary
Performance award
Service Based
Compensative/circumstantial
Periodic payments
Other non-pensionable allowances

 
4,488,783 

 31,198 
 16,801 

 1,449,949 
 32,001 

 685,330 

 3,935,810 
 49,690 

 8,405 
 1,070,689 

 27,305 
 505,073 

Total  6,704,062  5,596,972 

 2008/09 
 R’000 

 2007/08 
 R’000 
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4.2 Social contributions

4.2.1 Employer contributions

Pension
Medical
UIF
Bargaining council

 712,437 
 660,214 

 32 
 1,095 

 626,094 
 574,719 

 24 
 1,412 

Total  1,373,778  1,202,249 

Total compensation of employees  8,077,840  6,799,221 

Average number of employees  41,390  41,051 

5. Goods and services

Administrative fees
Advertising
Assets less then R5,000
Bursaries (employees)
Catering
Communication
Computer services
Consultants, contractors and agencies/outsourced services
Entertainment
Audit cost-External
Government motor transport
Inventory
Maintenance, repair and running costs
Operating leases
Owned and leasehold property expenditure
Transport provided as part of the departmental activities
Travel and subsistence
Venues and facilities
Training & staff development
Other operating expenditure

5.1

5.2
5.3

5.4

5.5

5.7

5.7

5.8

 6,207 
 6,932 

 70,619 
 2,928 
 9,060 

 92,877 
 105,914 
 698,406 

 660 
 26,793 
 19,514 

 809,868 
 62,204 

 966,425 
 375,462 

 4,248 
 251,541 
 19,582 

 831 
 14,875 

 6,579 
 15,611 
 73,920 
 4,907 

 - 
 87,943 
 76,348 

 424,895 
 338 

 24,322 
 - 

 860,444 
 55,784 

 832,372 
 348,995 

 4,188 
 241,998 
 13,487 

 388 
 34,328 

Total  3,544,946  3,106,847 

5.1 Assets less than R5,000
Tangible assets

 70,619  73,920 

Biological assets
Machinery and equipment

 5,083 
 65,536 

 - 
 73,920 

Total  70,619  73,920 

5.2 Computer Services
SITA computer services
External computer service providers

 91,996 
 13,918 

 76,348 
 - 

Total  105,914  76,348 

Note
 2008/09 

 R’000 
 2007/08 

 R’000 

Department of Correctional Services - Vote 18
Notes on the Annual Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 March 2009
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5.3 Consultants, contractors and agency/outsourced services
Business and advisory services
Infrastructure and planning
Laboratory services
Legal costs
Contractors
Agency and support/outsourced services

 
176,384 

 345 
 13,434 
 11,335 

 119,157 
 377,751 

 
35 
 - 

 10,597 
 9,640 

 311,158 
 93,465 

Total  698,406  424,895 

5.4 Audit cost-external
Regularity audits
Performance audits
Other audits

 
26,544 

 126 
 123 

   
 22,937 

 1,035 
 350 

Total  26,793  24,322 

5.5 Inventory  
Learning and teaching support material
Food and Food supplies
Fuel, oil and gas
Other consumables
Maintenance material
Stationery and Printing
Medical Supplies
Military stores

 
1,384 

 310,867 
 23,459 

 258,312 
 124,745 
 49,868 
 41,225 

 8 

 
1,679 

 408,751 
 18,214 

 326,725 
 29,163 
 45,388 
 30,524 

 - 

Total  809,868  860,444 

5.6 Owned and leasehold property expenditure
Municipal services
Other

 
374,695 

 767 

 
348,213 

 782 

Total  375,462  348,995 

5.7 Travel and subsistence
Local 
Foreign

 
248,811 

 2,730 

 
238,064 

 3,934 

Total  251,541  241,998 

5.8 Other operating expenditure
Professional bodies, membership and subscription fees
Ressettlement costs
Other

 1,052 
 6,747 
 7,076 

 
350 

 10,905 
 23,073 

Total  14,875  34,328 

6. Interest and rent on land
Rent on land 41 22

Total interest and rent on land 41 22

 2008/09 
 R’000 

 2007/08 
 R’000 
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7. Financial transactions in assets and liabilities

Material losses through criminal conduct -  113

Theft
Other material losses 

7.1  -
-

113 
- 

Other material losses written off 
Debts written off

7.2
7.3

2,334 
1

 1,864 
577

Total  2,335  2,554 

7.1 Details of Theft
Nature of theft
Cash
Other

 - 
 - 

 6 
 107 

Total  -  113 

7.2 Other material losses 
Nature of losses
State vehicles
Claims
Tax debt
Other  

 51 
 2,266 

 - 
 17 

 1,158 
 331 

 7 
 368 

Total  2,334  1,864 

7.3 Debts written off
Nature of debts written off
Transfer to debts written off
Overpaid salaries
Leave without pay
Other

 1 
 - 
 - 

 102 
 9 

 466 

Total  1  577 

8. Transfers and subsidies
Provinces and municipalities   
Departmental agencies and accounts
Public corporations and private enterprises
Households

ANNEXURE 2A

ANNEXURE 2B

ANNEXURE 2C

ANNEXURE 2D

 1,996 
 3,947 

 219 
 32,760 

 2,062 
 3,474 

 159 
 27,501 

Total  38,922  33,196 

9. Expenditure for capital assets
Tangible assets  1,127,539    1,174,536   

Buildings and other fixed structures
Machinery and equipment
Biological assets

32.1
30.2
30.2

1,035,458 
 91,942 

 139

1,087,049 
 87,487 

 -

Software and other intangible assets
Capitalised Development Costs  32,160    6,003   

Computer software 31.2 32,160 6,003 
 -

Total  1,159,699  1,180,539 

Note
 2008/09 

 R’000 
 2007/08 

 R’000 

Department of Correctional Services - Vote 18
Notes on the Annual Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 March 2009
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The following amounts have been included as project costs in Expenditure for 
capital assets
Compensation of employees  -  11,205 

Total  -  11,205 

Voted 
Funds
 R’000 

Aid assist-
ance

 R’000 
TOTAL
 R’000 

9.1 Analysis of funds utilised to acquire capital assets - 2008/09

Tangible assets  1,126,397  1,142  1,127,539 

Buildings and other fixed structures
Machinery and equipment
Biological assets

 1,035,458 
 90,800 

 139 

 - 
 1,142 

 - 

 1,035,458 
 91,942 

 139 

Software and other intangible assets  32,160  -  32,160 

Capitalised development costs  32,160  -  32,160 

Total  1,158,557  1,142  1,159,699 

9.2 Analysis of funds utilised to acquire capital assets - 2007/08

Voted
Funds
 R’000 

Aid assist-
ance

 R’000 
TOTAL
 R’000 

Total assets acquired 1,180,539  -  

Note
 2008/09 

 R’000 
 2007/08 
 R’000 

10. Unauthorised expenditure

10.1 Reconciliation of unauthorised expenditure
Opening balance
Unauthorised expenditure - discovered in the current year
Amounts approved by Parliament/Legislature (with funding)

 - 
 483,821 

 - 

 42,657 
 - 

 (42,657)

Unauthorised expenditure awaiting authorisation  483,821  - 

Analysis of awaiting authorisation per economic classification
Current

 483,821  - 

Total  483,821  - 

Details of unauthorised expenditure - current year  2008/09 

Incident Disciplinary steps taken/criminal proceedings R’000

Over Expenditure of R 483,8 
million was incurred in 2008/09 
financial year

No disciplinary steps taken. The over expenditure was 
reported to National Treasury in advance and a request 
for additional funds to finance the budget shortfalls result-
ing from the implementation of the PSCBC Resolution 
number 1 of 2007 was made. No additional funds were 
allocated.

 

483,821 

Total  483,821 

Note
 2008/09 

 R’000 
 2007/08 

 R’000 
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11. Cash and cash equivalents
Consolidated Paymaster General Account
Cash on hand

 - 
 1,476 

 41,148 
 1,381 

Total  1,476  42,529 

12. Prepayments and advances
Travel and subsistence

 
171 

 
1,011 

Total  171  1,011 

13. Receivables Less than 
one year

R’000

One to 
three years

R’000

Older than 
three years

R’000

 2008/09      
Total 

R’000

 2007/08      
Total 

R’000

Claims recoverable
Recoverable expenditure
Staff debtors

ANNEXURE 4
13.1
13.2
13.3

6,654 
9,105

30,903 

 
98 

 10,672 
 11,983 

 
(22)

 6,534 
 17,258 

 6,730 
 26,310 
 60,145 

 * 186,204 
 *17,695 
 *50,548 

Total 46,662  22,753  23,770  93,185  254,447 

* Comparitives restated to be in line with the new Standard Chart of Accounts. 

13.1 Claims recoverable
National departments
Provincial departments
Private enterprises
Local governments

 4,898 
 1,832 

 - 
 - 

 186,174 
 - 
 4 

 26 

Total  6,730  186,204 

13.2 Recoverable expenditure (disallowance accounts)
Disallowance Miscellaneous
Disallowance Dishonoured Cheques
Disallowance Damages and Losses
Disallowance Payment Fraud
Damaged vehicles
Private telephone
Salary disallowance accounts

 (23)
 6 

 17,852 
 236 

 6,724 
 184 

 1,331 

 (86)
 47 

 15,681 
 236 

 4,188 
 (301)

 (2,070)

Total  26,310  17,695 

13.3 Staff debt
Debt account

 60,145  50,548 

Total  60,145  50,548 

14. Voted funds to be surrendered to the Revenue Fund
Opening balance
Transfer from Statement of Financial Performance
Add:  Unauthorised expenditure for current year
Paid during the year

10

 262,030 
 (483,821)
 483,821 

 (262,030)

 580,326 
 262,030 

 - 
 (580,326)

Closing balance  -  262,030 

Note
 2008/09 

 R’000 
 2007/08 

 R’000 
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Note
 2008/09 

 R’000 
 2007/08 

 R’000 

15. Departmental revenue to be surrendered to the Revenue Fund
Opening balance
Transfer from Statement of Financial Performance 
Paid during the year

 3,133 
 80,506 

 (115,615)

 5,287 
 136,313 

 (138,467)

Closing balance  (31,976)  3,133 

16. Bank Overdraft
Consolidated Paymaster General Account  556,032  - 

 556,032  - 

17. Payables – current

Clearing accounts
Other payables

17.1
17.2

 23,999 
 35 

 *7832 
 *15 

Total  24,034  7,847 

* Comparitives restated to be in line with the new Standard Chart of Accounts. 

17.1 Clearing accounts

Salary accounts
Telephone control accounts
Conversion accounts
Other

 23,866 
 164 
 26 

 (57)

 8,005 
 95 

 - 
 (268)

Total  23,999  7,832 

17.2 Other payables 
Rental deposits

 
35  15 

Total  35  15 

18. Net cash flow available from operating activities
Net surplus/(deficit) as per Statement of Financial Performance
Add back non cash/cash movements not deemed operating activities

 (402,600)
 958,931 

 393,316 
 311,921 

(Increase)/decrease in receivables – current
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments and advances
(Increase)/decrease in other current assets
Increase/(decrease) in payables – current
Proceeds from sale of capital assets 
Expenditure on capital assets
Surrenders to revenue fund

 161,262 
 840 

 - 
 16,187 
 (1,412)

 1,159,699 
 (377,645)

 (199,514)
 351 

 42,657 
 6,886 
 (205)

 1,180,539 
 (718,793)

Net cash flow generated by operating activities  556,331  705,237 

19. Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents for cash flow purposes
Consolidated Paymaster General Account
Cash on hand

 (556,032)
 1,476 

 
41,148 
 1,381 

Total  (554,556)  42,529 
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These amounts are not recognised in the financial statements and are disclosed to enhance the 
usefulness of the financial statements. 

 Note 
 2008/09 

 R’000 
 2007/08 

 R’000 

20. Contingent liabilities

Liable to
Motor vehicle guarantees 
Housing loan guarantees 
Claims against the department
Other departments (interdepartmental 
unconfirmed balances) 

Nature
Employees
Employees

 
ANNEXURE 3A 
 ANNEXURE 3A 
 ANNEXURE 3B 

 
ANNEXURE 5 

 
258 

 14,252 
 1,276,072 

 131,890 

 496 
 23,525 

 315,743 

 102 

Total  1,422,472  339,866 

21. Commitments
Current expenditure
Approved and contracted
Approved but not yet contracted

 * 

 

472,465 
 - 

 

666,692 
 122,162 

Total Commitments  472,465  788,854 

Capital Expenditure
Approved and contracted
Approved but not yet contracted

 
1,005,479 

 - 

 
54,554 

 - 

 1,005,479  54,554 

Total Commitments  1,477,944  843,408 

* The amount reflects contracts for periods more than one year. 

22. Accruals

Listed by economic classification
Compensation of employees
Goods and services
Transfers and subsidies
Buildings and other fixed structures
Machinery and Equipment
Software and other intangible assets

 30 Days 
 R’000 

 - 
 90,541 

 72 
 82,851 

 576 
 - 

 30+ Days 
 R’000 

 - 
 36,198 

 12 
 - 

 604 
 - 

 Total 
 R’000 

 - 
 126,739 

 84 
 82,851 

 1,180 
 - 

 Total 
 R’000 

 22 
 151,698 

 78 
 90,771 
 41,833 

 7,593 

Total  174,040  36,814  210,854  291,995 

Listed by programme level
Administration
Security
Development
Care
Corrections
Facilities
Social Re-integration

70,155 
 131 

 5,434 
 5,866 
 2,164 

 127,086 
 18 

86,326 
 41,362 
 19,323 
 14,135 

 866 
 129,952 

 31 

Total  210,854  291,995 

Confirmed balances with departments  ANNEXURE 5  294  100 

Total  294  100 

Department of Correctional Services - Vote 18
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23. Employee benefits

Leave entitlement
Thirteenth cheque
Capped leave commitments

 129,487 
 200,991 
 585,112 

 135,033 
 176,998 
 587,761 

Total  915,590  899,792 

24. Lease Commitments

Operating leases expenditure 2008/2009 Machinery 
and equip-

ment
 R’000 

Total
 R’000 

Not later than 1 year
Later than 1 year and not  
later than 5 years
Later than five years

 9,920 
 

4,999 
 - 

 9,920 
 

4,999 
 -

Total lease commitments  14,919  14,919 

2007/2008

 Machinery 
and equip-

ment  Total 

Not later than 1 year
Later than 1 year and not  
later than 5 years
Later than five years

 5,669 

 4,900 
 - 

 5,669 

 4,900 
 - 

Total lease commitments  10,569  10,569 

25. Receivables for departmental revenue

Sales of goods and services other than capital assets  78  563 

Total  78  563 

26. Irregular expenditure
26.1 Reconciliation of irregular expenditure

Opening Balance
Add: Irregular expenditure - relating to current year

 1,200 
 417 

 1,200 

Irregular expenditure awaiting condonement  1,617  1,200 

Analysis of awaiting condonement per age classification
Current
Prior years

 417 
 1,200 

 1,200 

Total  1,617  1,200 

26.2 Details of irregular expenditure - current 
year

Incident
SADC workshop Angola
Grey Consulting
Forensic investigation
Squeeze bottles
Motswaka media coverage

Disciplinary steps taken/criminal pro-
ceedings

Pending investigation
Pending investigation
Pending investigation
Pending investigation
Pending investigation

 2008/09 
R’000

 93 
 129 
 69 
 48 
 78 

 417 

 2008/09 
 R’000 

 2007/08 
 R’000  
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27. Key management personnel

Description
Political Office Bearers 
Officials

  Level 15 to 16
  Level 14

Family members of key management personnel      

No of
Individuals

 2 
 12 
 23 
 26 

 2008/09 
 R’000 
 2,739 
 9,600 

 17,536 
 5,823 

 2007/08 
 R’000 
 1,611 
 8,476 

 16,350 
 3,526 

Total  35,698  29,963 

28. Public Private Partnership

28.1 Description of the arrangement
  To design/finance/contract and manage a maximum security correctional centre for a contract period of 25   
  years. The contractor “Bloemfontein Correctional Services Contracts” is currently operating Mangaung Maximum  
  Security Correctional Centre in the Free State Province and the contractor “South African Custodial Services’ is  
  currently operating Kutama-Sinthumule Maximum Security Correctional Centre in the Limpopo Province. 
 
28.2 Significant terms of the arrangement that may effect the amount, timing and certainty of future cash   
  flows 
  The cash flow models for the two public private partnerships (PPP) projects were created. The cash flow models  
  enables the Department to determine the estimated costs of the two projects over their 25 year contract period. 
  The contract fee is based on the daily available inmate places. This fee is split into components, the fixed compo 
  nent and the indexed component for each year. 
  The indexed component will be escalated on each review date (every six months) as stipulated in Schedule E to  
  the contract. The fixed component will however remain the same for a period of 15 years, whereafter the fixed fee  
  will fall away. 
 
28.3 The nature and extent of: 
 
 -  Rights to use specified assets. 
    Assets must be managed and maintained by the contractor for the whole contract period. 
        
    Intellectual Property Rights: 
    All rights in data, reports , drawings, models, specifications and/or other material produced by or on behalf of the  
  department shall vest in and be the property of the state and the contractor is hereby granted an irrevocable   
  non-exclusive and royalty-free license to use such material for the purpose of the project.  
 
    The contractor hereby grants the department an irrevocable non-exclusive license in perpetuity, to use the data,  
  reports, drawings, models, specifications, plans, software designs, inventions and/or other material solely for the  
  purpose of maintaining and operating the correctional centre. 
   
 -  Obligations to provide or rights to expect provisions of services. 
    Contractor 
    Construction of the correctional centre. 
    Maintenance and operation of the correctional centre for the contract period of 25 years. 
    Keep inmates in safe custody. 
    Maintaining order , discipline , control and a safe environment.  
    Providing decent conditions and meeting inmate’s needs. 
    Providing structured day programmes. 
    Preparing inmates for return to the community. 
    Delivering correctional centre services. 
    Involvement with the community. 
 
    Correctional Service 
  
    To ensure that there are always inmates placed in available inmate spaces. 
    To pay the contractor on a monthly basis. 
    To manage the contract on a monthly basis. 
 
 - Obligations to acquire or build items of property, plant and equipment. 

Department of Correctional Services - Vote 18
Disclosure Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 March 2009
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    Original buildings constructed according to DCS specifications. Any further changes / alterations and additions  
  to be negotiated. 
 
 -  Obligations to deliver or rights to receive specified assets at the end of the concession period. 
     All assets including equipment become the property of DCS after expiry of the contract period. 
 
 -  Renewal and termination options. 
    Can be negotiated if so directed by Government. 
 
 -  Other rights and obligations. 
    All maintenance obligations are the responsibility of the contractor for the entire contract period.

Department of Correctional Services - Vote 18
Disclosure Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 March 2009

Contract fee paid

 2008/09 
R’000

 
674,219 

 2007/08 
R’000

 
615,219 

Fixed component
Indexed component

 194,731 
 479,488 

 195,265 
 419,954 

Current expenditure
Goods and Services(excluding lease payments)  479,488  419,954 

Capital/(Liabilities)
Property  194,731 

 
195,265 

Total  674,219  615,219 

Future obligations for the remaining period of 17 years.  1,512,343  1,707,077 

29. Provisions
Potential irrecoverable debts
Private enterprises
Staff debtors

 - 
 17,258 

 4,775 
 14,172 

Total  17,258  18,947 

30. Movable Tangible Capital Assets
30.1 Movement in Movable Tangible Capital Assets Per Asset Register for the year ended 31 March 2009

Opening 
balance 

Cost
R’000

Current Year 
Adjustments 
to prior year 

balances
Cost

R’000

Additions
Cost

R’000

Disposals
Cost

R’000

Closing 
balance

Cost
R’000

Machinery and Equipment  1,190,693  262,884  51,289  57,455  1,447,411 

Transport assets
Specialised military assets
Computer equipment
Furniture and Office equipment
Other machinery and equipment 

 212,775 
 - 

 62,033 
 736,418 
 179,467 

 203,734 
 30,919 
 35,725 

 (104,376)
 96,882 

 18,562 
 - 

 33,345 
 2,717 

 (3,335)

 47,517 
 61 

 3,617 
 1,285 
 4,975 

 387,554 
 30,858 

 127,486 
 633,474 
 268,039 

Biological Assets  -  641  139  73  707 

Biological assets  -  641  139  73  707 

Total Movable Tangible Capital Assets 1,190,693 263,525 51,428 57,528 1,448,118 



Department of Correctional Services  Annual Report 2008/09          137

30.2 Additions to Movable Tangible Capital Asset Per Asset Register for the year ended 31 March 2009

Cash 
Cost

R’000

Non-Cash
Fair Value

R’000

(Capital work 
in progress - 

current costs)
Cost

 
R’000

Received 
current 

year, not 
paid  

(Paid cur-
rent year, 
received 

prior year)
Cost

R’000

Total
Cost

R’000

Machinery and Equipment  91,942  -  -  (40,653)  51,289 

Transport assets 
Computer equipment
Furniture and Office equipment
Other machinery and equipment 

 18,562 
 33,345 

 2,717 
 37,318 

 - 
 - 
 - 
 - 

 - 
 - 
 - 
 - 

 - 
 - 
 - 

 (40,653)

 18,562 
 33,345 

 2,717 
 (3,335)

Biological Assets  139  -  -  -  139 

Biological assets  139  -  -  -  139 

Total Additions to Movable Tangible 
Capital Assets

 
92,081  -  -  (40,653)  51,428 

30.3 Disposals of Movable Tangible Capital Assets Per Asset Register for the year ended 31 March 2009

Sold for 
cash

R’000

Transfer out 
or destroyed 
or scrapped

R’000

Total dispos-
als

R’000

Cash 
received 

actual 
R’000

Machinery and Equipment  1,409  56,046  57,455  1,409 

Transport assets 
Specialised military assets
Computer equipment
Furniture and Office equipment
Other machinery and equipment 

 1,409 
 - 
 - 
 - 
 - 

 46,108 
 61 

 3,617 
 1,285 
 4,975 

 47,517 
 61 

 3,617 
 1,285 
 4,975 

 1,409 
 - 
 - 
 - 
 - 

Biological Assets  3  70  73  3 

Biological assets  3  70  73  3 

Total Disposal of Movable Tangible 
Capital Assets  1,412  56,116  57,528  1,412 
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30.4 Movement for 2007/08
Movement In Movable Tangible Capital Assets Per Asset Register For The Year Ended 31 March 2008

Opening 
balance

R’000
Additions

R’000
Disposals

R’000

Closing 
Balance

R’000

Machinery and Equipment  1,115,200  125,554  50,061  1,190,693 

Transport assets
Computer equipment
Furniture and Office equipment
Other machinery and equipment 

 236,268 
 44,766 

 733,291 
 100,875 

 16,883 
 21,715 
 3,607 

 83,349 

 40,376 
 4,448 

 480 
 4,757 

 212,775 
 62,033 

 736,418 
 179,467 

Total movable tangible capital assets  1,115,200  125,554  50,061  1,190,693 

30.5 Minor assets
Minor Assets Of The Department For 31 March 2009

 Intangi-
ble assets 

 R’000 

 Heritage 
assets 
 R’000 

 Machinery 
and equip-

ment 
 R’000 

 Biological 
assets 
 R’000 

 Total 
 R’000 

Minor Assets  254  -  449,253  2,043  451,550 

Total  254  -  449,253  2,043  451,550 

 Intangi-
ble assets 

 Heritage 
assets 

 Machinery 
and equip-

ment 
 Biological 

assets  Total 

Number of minor assets  544  -  490,770  7,767  499,081 

Total  544  -  490,770  7,767  499,081 

31. Intangible Capital Assets

31.1 Movement In Intangible Capital Assets Per Asset Register For The Year Ended 31 March 2009

Opening 
balance

Cost
R’000

Current Year 
Adjustments 
to prior year 

balances
Cost

R’000

Additions
Cost

R’000

Disposals
Cost

R’000

Closing 
balance

Cost
R’000

Software And Other Intangilble 
Assets 

 38,537  -  -  -  38,537 

Capitalised Development Costs  38,537  -  -  -  38,537 

 

Total Intangible Assets  38,537  -  -  -  38,537 
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31.2 Additions To Intangible Capital Assets Per Asset Register For The Year Ended 31 March 2009

Cash 
R’000

Non-cash
R’000

(Develop-
ment work 
in progress - 
current costs)
R’000

Received 
current 
year, not 
paid  
(Paid cur-
rent year, 
received 
prior year)
R’000

Total
R’000

Software And Other Intangilble 
Assets 

Capitalised Development Costs  32,160  -  (24,567)  (7,593)  - 

Total  32,160  -  (24,567)  (7,593)  - 

31.3 Movement for 2007/08
Movement In Intangible Capital Assets Per Asset Register For The Year Ended 31 March 2008

Opening 
balance

R’000
Additions

R’000
Disposals

R’000

Closing 
Balance

R’000

Capitalised Development Costs  -  38,537  -  38,537 

Total  -  38,537  -  38,537 

32. Immovable Tangible Capital Assets
Movement In Immovable Tangible Capital Assets Per Asset Register For The Year Ended 31 March 2009

Opening 
balance

 R’000 

Curr year 
adjust-

ments to 
prior year 
balances

 R’000 

Additions
 R’000 

Disposals
 R’000 

Closing 
balance

 R’000 

Buildings And Other Fixed Structures  155,275  (146,012)  -  -  9,263 

Dwellings
Non-residential buildings
Other fixed structures

 35,854 
 157 

 119,264 

 (35,580)
 7,672 

 (118,104)

 274 
 7,829 
 1,160 

Heritage Assets
Heritage assets

 -  211  -  -  211 

 -  211  -  -  211 

Total Immovable Tangible Capital Assets  155,275  (145,801)  -  -  9,474 
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32.1 Additions
Additions to immovable tangible capital assets per asset register for the year ended 31 March 2009

Cash
 R’000 

Non-cash
 R’000 

(Capital 
work-in-
progress 
current 
costs and 
finance 
lease pay-
ments)
 R’000 

Received 
current, 
not paid 
(Paid cur-
rent year, 
received 
prior year
 R’000 

Total
 R’000 

Buildings and Other Fixed Structures  1,035,458  -  (1,035,458)  -  - 

Dwellings
Non-residential buildings
Other fixed structures

 613,631 
 61,657 

 360,170 

 - 
 - 
 - 

 (613,631)
 (61,657)

 (360,170)

 - 
 - 
 - 

 - 
 - 
 - 

Total Additions to Immovable Tangi-
ble Capital Assets  1,035,458  - 

 
(1,035,458)  -  - 

32.2 Disposals
Disposals of immovable tangible capital assets per asset register for the year ended 31 March 2009

Sold for 
cash

 R’000 

Transfer 
out or de-

stroyed 
or 

scrapped
 R’000 

Total dis-
posals
 R’000 

Cash 
received 

Actual
 R’000 

Buildings and other fixed structures  -  -  -  - 

Dwellings
Non-residential buildings
Other fixed structures

 -  -  - 

 -  -  - 

 -  -  - 

Total Disposal of Immovable Tangible 
Capital Assets  -  -  -  - 

32.3 Movement for 2007/08 
Movement in immovable tangible capital assets per asset register for the year ended 31 March 2008

 Opening 
balance 

 R’000 

 Additions 
 R’000 

 Dispos-
als 

 R’000 

 Closing 
balance 

 R’000 

 Buildings and Other Fixed Structures  64,504  102,829  12,058  155,275 

 Dwellings 
 Non-residential buildings 
 Other fixed structures 

 35,854 
 157 

 28,493 

 75 
 1,711 

 101,043 

 75 
 1,711 

 10,272 

 35,854 
 157 

 119,264 

 Total Tangible Capital Assets  64,504  102,829  12,058  155,275 
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Part 5: Human Resource Management

1. Public Service Regulations

The statistics and information published in this part of the annual report are re-
quired in terms of Chapter 1, Part III J.3 of the Public Service Regulations, 2002 
and have been prescribed by the Minister for the Public Service and Administration 
for all departments within the Public Service.

The statistical tables provide high-level information on key human resource issues. 
The information aims to empower legislatures, the media, the public and other key 
stakeholders to monitor whether departments:-

Are exercising the powers granted under Public Service and Public Finance 
legislation in a responsible manner,
Are achieving national transformation priorities established by the Cabinet, for 
example, affirmative action.

Annual reports are produced after the end of the financial year. This is aimed at 
strengthening the accountability of departments to key stakeholders.
The tables in this report are revised on a regular basis by the Department of Public 
Service and Administration (DPSA). If you wish to see additional information in-
cluded in this report, please send suggestions (with a clear motivation) to:-

The Director-General
Department of Public Service and Administration
ATTENTION: Public Service Information Unit
P.O. Box 916, Pretoria, 0001
psiu@dpsa.gov.za
fax: (012) 314-7020

To ensure that enough time is available to evaluate and incorporate your sugges-
tions, please ensure that all submissions are submitted on or before 31 August.
For a detailed description and explanation of the terminology used in this section 
of the report, please consult the publication from the DPSA entitled ‘A guide to 
understanding the oversight report of departmental annual reports’. A copy of the 
guide is available from all departments or can be accessed from the DPSA website 
( www.dpsa.gov.za ).

2. Expenditure

Departments budget in terms of clearly defined programmes. The following tables 
summarise final audited expenditure by programme (Table 2.1) and by salary bands 
(Table 2.2). In particular, it provides an indication of the amount spent on personnel 
costs in terms of each of the programmes or salary bands within the department.

1.

2.



152          Department of Correctional Services  Annual Report 2008/09

TABLE 2.1 – Personnel costs by programme, 2008/9

Programme
Total 

Expenditure 
(R’000)

Personnel 
Expenditure 

(R’000)

Training 
Expenditure

(R’000)

Professional 
and Special 

Services 
(R’000)

Personnel 
cost as a 
percent 
of total 

expenditure

Average 
personnel 
cost per 

employee 
(R’000)

Administration 3,750,586 1,502,482 10,522 0 40.1 36

Care 1,357,770 527,887 3,250 0 38.9 13

Corrections 1,023,454 973,792 9,067 0 95.1 24

Development 481,062 244,062 2,952 0 50.7 6

Facilities 1,702,632 86,637 730 0 5.1 2

Security 4,546,928 4,362,486 36,208 0 95.9 106

Social reintegration 427,189 391,268 2,880 0 91.6 10

DCS: Internal charges -468,815 -4 0 0 0 0

FHW: Internal charges 519 0 0 0 0 0

Z=Total as on Finan-
cial Systems (BAS) 

12,821,325 8,088,610 65,609 0 63.1 197

TABLE 2.2 – Personnel costs by salary bands, 2008/9

Salary bands
Personnel Expenditure 

(R’000)
% of total personnel 

cost

Average personnel 
cost per employee 

(R’000)

Lower skilled (Levels 1-2) 996 0 124,500

Skilled (Levels 3-5) 1,657,322 20.8 124,079

Highly skilled production (Levels 
6-8) 

5,303,154 66.5 209,777

Highly skilled supervision (Levels 
9-12) 

759,029 9.5 317,851

Senior management (Levels 13-16) 109,957 1.4 646,806

Contract (Levels 3-5) 625 0 41,667

Contract (Levels 6-8) 5,872 0.1 158,703

Contract (Levels 9-12) 24,611 0.3 300,134

Contract (Levels 13-16) 2,884 0 480,667

Periodical Remuneration 30,175 0.4 15,403

Abnormal Appointment 17,484 0.2 23,096

TOTAL 7,912,109 99.2 179,580

The following tables provide a summary per programme (Table 2.3) and salary bands (Table 2.4), of expenditure 
incurred as a result of salaries, overtime, home owners allowance and medical assistance. In each case, the table 
provides an indication of the percentage of the personnel budget that was used for these items.
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TABLE 2.3 – Salaries, Overtime, Home Owners Allowance and Medical Assistance by programme, 2008/09

Programme Salaries Overtime
Home Owners 

Allowance
Medical Assistance

Amount 
(R’000)

Salaries 
as a % of 
personnel 

cost

Amount 
(R’000)

Overtime 
as a % of 
personnel 

cost

Amount 
(R’000)

HOA as 
a % of 

personnel 
cost

Amount 
(R’000)

Medical 
Assistance 
as a % of 
personnel 

cost

Development of of-
fenders (1/3) 

68,819 66.9 8,246 8 1,034 1 4,993 4.9

Prog. 1 Administration 961,572 63.1 164,599 10.8 18,342 1.2 78,104 5.1

Prog. 2 Security 2,175,419 57.1 661,228 17.3 59,798 1.6 249,207 6.5

Prog. 3 Facilities 60,753 59.8 14,791 14.6 1,283 1.3 5,657 5.6

Prog. 4 Care 322,438 60.8 76,304 14.4 5,052 1 22,115 4.2

Prog. 5 Development 180,907 61.5 38,668 13.1 3,193 1.1 16,829 5.7

Prog. 6 Corrections 705,572 57.9 208,232 17.1 15,813 1.3 69,132 5.7

Prog. 7 After care / 
Social reintegration

228,361 57.6 70,817 17.9 5,913 1.5 22,324 5.6

Public private partner-
ship (1/3) 

417 69.8 3 0.5 1 0.2 31 5.2

TOTAL 4,704,258 59 1,242,888 15.6 110,429 1.4 468,392 5.9

TABLE 2.4 – Salaries, Overtime, Home Owners Allowance and Medical Assistance by salary bands, 2008/09

Salary Bands Salaries Overtime
Home Owners 

Allowance
Medical Assistance

Amount 
(R’000)

Salaries 
as a % of 
personnel 

cost

Amount 
(R’000)

Overtime 
as a % of 
personnel 

cost

Amount 
(R’000)

HOA as 
a % of 

personnel 
cost

Amount 
(R’000)

Medical 
Assistance 
as a % of 
personnel 

cost

Lower skilled (Levels 1-2) 664 65 11 1.1 16 1.6 102 10

Skilled (Levels 3-5) 960,260 57.9 251,266 15.1 32,606 2 122,923 7.4

Highly skilled production 
(Levels 6-8) 

3,080,120 57.8 929,699 17.4 70,667 1.3 316,631 5.9

Highly skilled supervision 
(Levels 9-12) 

524,017 66.8 61,907 7.9 5,724 0.7 26,747 3.4

Senior management 
(Levels 13-16) 

90,319 77 0 0 1,416 1.2 1,824 1.6

Contract (Levels 3-5) 546 87.4 5 0.8 0 0 35 5.6

Contract (Levels 6-8) 5,087 86.4 0 0 0 0 2 0

Contract (Levels 9-12) 23,605 91.6 0 0 0 0 123 0.5

Contract (Levels 13-16) 2,569 88.5 0 0 0 0 5 0.2

Periodical Remuneration 672 2 0 0 0 0 0 0

Abnormal Appointment 16,399 93.6 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL 4,704,258 59 1,242,888 15.6 110,429 1.4 468,392 5.9

3. Employment and vacancies

The following tables summarise the number of posts on the establishment, the number of employees, the vacancy 
rate, and whether there are any staff that are additional to the establishment. This information is presented in terms 
of three key variables: - programme (Table 3.1), salary band (Table 3.2) and critical occupations (Table 3.3). Depart-
ments have identified critical occupations that need to be monitored. Table 3.3 provides establishment and vacancy 
information for the key critical occupations of the department.
The vacancy rate reflects the percentage of posts that are not filled.
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TABLE 3.1 – Employment and vacancies by programme, 31 March 2009

Programme
Number of 

posts
Number of 
posts filled

Vacancy Rate

Number of 
posts filled 

additional to the 
establishment

Development of offenders(1/3), Perma-
nent

666 445 33.2 0

Prog. 1 Administration 8,228 6,630 19.4 39

Prog. 2 Security 24,072 22,814 5 0

Prog. 3 Facilities 542 460 15.1 0

Prog. 4 Care 2,629 2,048 22.1 2

Prog. 5 Development 1,730 1,407 18.7 0

Prog. 6 Corrections 6,411 5,713 10.9 0

Prog. 7 After care / Social reintegration 2,007 1,815 9.6 0

Public private partnership (1/3), Perma-
nent

21 11 47.6 1

Total 46,305 41,344 10.7 42

TABLE 3.2 – Employment and vacancies by salary bands, 31 March 2009

Salary band
Number of 

posts
Number of 
posts filled

Vacancy Rate

Number of 
posts filled 

additional to the 
establishment

Lower skilled (Levels 1-2) 19 9 52.6 0

Skilled (Levels 3-5) 13,899 13,361 3.9 7

Highly skilled production
(Levels 6-8)

29,039 25,356 12.7 0

Highly skilled  supervision (Levels 9-12) 3,012 2,306 23.4 0

Senior  management (Levels 13-16) 196 172 12.2 1

Contract (Levels 3-5) 16 16 0 12

Contract (Levels 6-8) 30 30 0 9

Contract (Levels 9-12) 88 88 0 7

Contract (Levels 13-16) 6 6 0 6

TOTAL 46,306 41,343 10.7 42

TABLE 3.3 – Employment and vacancies by critical occupation, 31 March 2009

Critical occupations Number of posts
Number of posts 

filled
Vacancy Rate

Number of posts 
filled additional to 
the establishment

Administrative related 99 69 30.3 0

Cartographic surveying 
and related technicians

1 1 0 0

Chaplain and related 
professionals

49 40 18.4 0

Client inform 
clerks(switchboard re-
ception inform clerks)

45 33 26.7 0

Computer programmers 13 3 76.9 0

Custodian personnel 42,331 38,585 31.9 33
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Critical occupations Number of posts
Number of posts 

filled
Vacancy Rate

Number of posts 
filled additional to 
the establishment

Educationists, Perma-
nent

565 431 23.7 0

Engineers and related 
professionals

1 1 0 0

Finance and economics 
related

119 88 26.1 0

Financial and related 
professionals

263 138 47.5 0

Financial clerks and 
credit controllers 

19 11 42.1 0

General legal adminis-
tration & related profes-
sionals

36 19 47.2 0

Head of department/
chief executive officer

1 1 0 0

Health sciences related 118 38 67.8 0

Human resources & 
organisational develop-
ment & relate profes-
sionals

7 6 14.3 0

Human resources 
related

25 17 32 0

Information technology 
related

12 4 66.7 0

Legal related 5 4 20 0

Logistical support per-
sonnel

211 129 38.9 0

Medical practitioners 15 12 20 0

Other information tech-
nology personnel

119 74 37.8 0

Pharmacists 45 25 44.4 0

Professional nurse 1,095 817 25.4 0

Psychologists and voca-
tional counselors

3 3 0 0

Rank: Minister 1 1 0 0

Secretaries & other key-
board operating clerks

137 100 27 2

Senior managers 200 176 12 7

Social sciences related 169 139 17.8 0

Social work and related 
professionals

602 377 37.4 0

Total 46,306 41,342 10.7 42

The information in each case reflects the situation as at 31 March 2009. For an indication of changes in staffing pat-
terns over the year under review, please refer to section 5 of this report.
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4. Job evaluation

The Public Service Regulations, 1999 introduced job evaluation as a way of ensuring that work of equal value is remu-
nerated equally. Within a nationally determined framework, executing authorities may evaluate or re-evaluate any job 
in his or her organisation. In terms of the Regulations all vacancies on salary levels 9 and higher must be evaluated 
before they are filled. This was complemented by a decision by the Minister for the Public Service and Administration 
that all SMS jobs must be evaluated before 31 December 2002.
The following table (Table 4.1) summarises the number of jobs that were evaluated during the year under review. The 
table also provides statistics on the number of posts that were upgraded or downgraded.

TABLE 4.1 – Job Evaluation, 1 April 2008 to 31 March 2009

Salary band
Number of 

posts

Number 
of Jobs 

Evaluated

% of posts 
evaluated 
by salary 

bands

Posts Upgraded Posts downgraded

Number
% of  
posts 

evaluated
Number

% of  
posts 

evaluated

Lower  skilled (Levels 
1-2)

19 0 0 0 0 0 0

Skilled (Levels 3-5) 13,915 5 0 0 0 0 0

Highly skilled production 
(Levels 6-8)

29,070 94 0.3 80 85.1 7 7.4

Highly skilled supervi-
sion 
(Levels 9-12)

3,100 173 5.6 73 42.2 1 0.6

Senior Management 
Service Band A

19 0 0 0 0 0 0

 Senior Management 
Service Band B

142 1 0.7 0 0 0 0

Senior Management 
Service Band C

27 0 0 0 0 0 0

Senior Management 
Service Band D

14 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 46,306 273 0.6 153 56.4 8 2.9

The following table provides a summary of the number of employees whose salary positions were upgraded due to 
their posts being upgraded. The number of employees might differ from the number of posts upgraded since not all 
employees are automatically absorbed into the new posts and some of the posts upgraded could also be vacant.

TABLE 4.2 – Profile of employees whose salary positions were upgraded due to their posts being upgraded, 1 
April 2008 to 31 March 2009

Beneficiaries African Asian Coloured White Total

Female 4 1 1 5 11

Male 5 5

Total 16

Employees with a disability 0
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The following table summarises the number of cases where remuneration levels exceeded the grade determined by 
job evaluation. Reasons for the deviation are provided in each case.

TABLE 4.3 – Employees whose salary level exceed the grade determined by job evaluation, 1 April 2008 to 31 
March 2009 (in terms of PSR 1.V.C.3)

Occupation
Number of 
employees

Job evaluation 
level

Remuneration 
level

Reason for 
deviation

0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0

Total Number of Employees whose salaries exceeded the level determined by job evaluation in 2007/08 0

Percentage of total employment 0

Table 4.4 summarises the beneficiaries of the above in terms of race, gender, and disability.

TABLE 4.4 – Profile of employees whose salary level exceed the grade determined by job evaluation, 1 April 2008 
to 31 March 2009 (in terms of PSR 1.V.C.3)

Beneficiaries African Asian Coloured White Total

Female 0 0 0 0 0

Male 0 0 0 0 0

Total 0 0 0 0 0

Employees with a disability

[If there were no cases where the remuneration bands exceeded the grade determined by job evaluation, use the 
following table as TABLE 4.3]

Total Number of Employees whose salaries exceeded the grades determined by job evaluation in 2007/ 
08

None

5. Employment changes

This section provides information on changes in employment over the financial year.
Turnover rates provide an indication of trends in the employment profile of the department. The following tables pro-
vide a summary of turnover rates by salary band (Table 5.1) and by critical occupations (Table 5.2). (These "critical 
occupations" should be the same as those listed in Table 3.3).

TABLE 5.1 – Annual turnover rates by salary band for the period 1 April 2008 to 31 March 2009

Salary Band

Number of 
employees per 
band as on 1 

April 2004

Appointments 
and transfers 

into the 
department

Terminations and 
transfers out of 
the department

Turnover rate

Lower skilled (Levels 1-2) 10 87 1 10%

Skilled (Levels 3-5) 12,855 1,567 233 1,8%

Highly skilled production(Levels 6-8) 25,617 190 769 3%

Highly skilled supervision(Levels 
9-12)

2,316 26 81 3,5%

Senior Management Service Band A 139 2 4 2,9%

Senior Management Service Band B 26 0 1 3.8%

Senior Management Service Band C 9 1 2 22,2%

Senior Management Service Band D 2 0 1 50%

Contract (level 3-5) 3 26 11 366.7%
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Contract (level 6.8) 34 52 48 141.2%

Contract (level 9-12) 82 10 9 11%

Contract (BAND A) 1 6 0 0%

Contract (BAND B) 0 0 1 0%

Contract (BAND C) 0 1 0 0%

Total 41,094 1,968 1,161 2,8%

TABLE 5.2 – Annual turnover rates by critical occupation for the period 1 April 2008 to 31 March 2009

Occupation:

Number of 
employees per 

occupation as on 
1 April 2007

Appointments and 
transfers into the 

department

Terminations and 
transfers out of 
the department

Turnover rate

Administrative related 49 1 0 0

Artisan project and related 
superintendents 1 0 0 0

Chaplain and related pro-
fessionals 27 4 1 3.7

Client inform clerks(switch b 
reception inform clerks) 47 6 2 4.3

Communication and infor-
mation related 2 0 0 0

Computer programmers 5 1 0 0

Custodian personnel 38,550 1,781 1,034 2.7

Educationists. 442 4 13 2.9

Engineers and related pro-
fessionals 2 0 0 0

Finance and economics 
related 61 0 0 0

Financial and related pro-
fessionals 131 12 1 0.8

Financial clerks and credit 
controllers 4 0 0 0

General legal administration 
& related. professionals 13 2 1 7.7

Head of department/chief 
executive officer

3 0 0 0

Health sciences related 51 1 2 3.9

Human resources & or-
ganisational development  & 
relate professionals

8 0 1 12.5

Human resources clerks 2 0 0 0

Human resources related 18 0 2 11.1

Information technology 
related

3 0 0 0

Language practitioners 
interpreters & other commu-
nications

1 0 0 0

Salary Band

Number of 
employees per 
band as on 1 

April 2004

Appointments 
and transfers 

into the 
department

Terminations and 
transfers out of 
the department

Turnover rate
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Occupation:

Number of 
employees per 

occupation as on 
1 April 2007

Appointments and 
transfers into the 

department

Terminations and 
transfers out of 
the department

Turnover rate

Legal related 1 0 0 0

Logistical support person-
nel

85 7 3 3.5

Material-recording and 
transport clerks

1 0 0 0

Medical practitioners 6 4 2 33.3

Messengers porters and 
deliverers

1 0 0 0

Nursing assistants 1 0 0 0

Other administration & re-
lated clerks and organisers

1 0 0 0

Other administrative policy 
and related officers

1 0 0 0

Other information technol-
ogy personnel

66 5 4 6.1

Pharmaceutical assistants 0 2 0 0

Pharmacists 28 16 20 71.4

Pharmacologists patholo-
gists & related professional

2 0 0 0

Professional nurse 706 64 25 3.5

Psychologists and voca-
tional counsellors

27 9 13 48.1

Secretaries & other key-
board operating clerks 

107 10 7 6.5

Senior managers 135 10 9 6.7

Social sciences related 33 0 1 3

Social work and related pro-
fessionals 

473 26 18 3.8

TOTAL 41,094 1,965 1,159 2.8

Table 5.3 identifies the major reasons why staff left the department.

Table 5.3 – Reasons why staff are leaving the department

Termination Type Number % of total

Death 302 0.7%

Resignation 441 1.1%

Expiry of contract 62 0.2%

Dismissal – misconduct 182 0.4%

Discharged due to ill-health 25 0.1%

Retirement 143 0.3%

Transfers to other Public Service Departments 5 0.1%

Other 1 0%

Total 1,161 2.8%

Total number of employees who left as a % of the total employment 2.8%
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Table 5.4 – Promotions by critical occupation

Occupation
Employees as 
at 1 April 2007

Promotions to 
another salary 

level

Salary level 
promotions 
as a % of 

employees by 
occupation

Progressions to 
another notch 
within a salary 

level

Notch 
progressions 

as a % of 
employees by 

occupation 

Administrative related 49 3 6.1 28 57.1

Artisan project and 
related superintendents 

1 0 0 0 0

Chaplain and related 
professionals 

27 1 3.7 16 59.3

Client inform 
clerks(switch b receipt 
inform clerks) 

47 0 0 34 72.3

Communication and 
information related 

2 0 0 0 0

Computer program-
mers. 

5 1 20 3 60

Custodian personnel: 38,550 1,177 3 22,601 58.7

Educationists. 442 8 1.8 266 60.2

Engineers and related 
professionals 

2 0 0 0 0

Finance and economics 
related 

61 9 14.8 33 54.1

Financial and related 
professionals 

131 29 22.1 37 28.2

Financial clerks and 
credit controllers 

4 0 0 3 75

General legal admin-
istration & related. 
professionals 

13 0 0 4 30.8

Head of department/
chief executive officer 

3 0 0 0 0

Health sciences related 51 3 5.9 17 33.3

Human resources & 
organisational develop-
ment & relate profes-
sionals 

8 0 0 7 87.5

Human resources 
clerks 

2 0 0 0 0

Human resources 
related 

18 1 5.6 12 66.7

Information technology 
related 

3 1 33.3 3 100

Language practition-
ers interpreters & other 
communications 

1 0 0 0 0

Legal related 1 0 0 0 0

Logistical support 
personnel 

85 14 16.5 27 31.8

Material-recording and 
transport clerks 

1 0 0 1 100
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Occupation
Employees as 
at 1 April 2007

Promotions to 
another salary 

level

Salary level 
promotions 
as a % of 

employees by 
occupation

Progressions to 
another notch 
within a salary 

level

Notch 
progressions 

as a % of 
employees by 

occupation 

Medical practitioners 6 0 0 0 0

Messengers porters 
and deliverers 

1 0 0 1 100

Nursing assistants 1 0 0 0 0

Other administrators 
& related clerks and 
organisers 

1 0 0 0 0

Other administrative 
policy and related of-
ficers 

1 1 100 0 0

Other information tech-
nology personnel. 

66 3 4.5 27 40.9

Pharmacists 28 0 0 4 14.3

Pharmacologists 
pathologists & related 
professionals 

2 0 0 2 100

Professional nurse 706 2 0.3 33 4.7

Psychologists and vo-
cational counselors 

27 10 37 0 0

Secretaries & other key-
board operating clerks 

107 1 0.9 49 45.8

Senior managers 135 5 3.7 141 104.4

Social sciences related 33 1 3 29 87.9

Social work and related 
professionals 

473 34 7.2 324 68.5

TOTAL 41,094 1,304 3.2 23,710 57.7

Table 5.5 – Promotions by salary band

Salary Band

Employment 
at Beginning 

of Period (April 
2008)

Promotions to 
another Salary 

Level

Salary Level 
Promotions 
as a % of 

Employment

Progressions 
to another 

Notch within 
Salary Level

Notch 
progressions 

as a % of 
Employment

Lower skilled (Levels 1-2) 10 0 0 6 60

Skilled (Levels 3-5) 12,855 5 0 7,182 55.9

Highly skilled production 
(Levels 6-8) 25,617 1,142 4.5 15,290 59.7

Highly skilled supervision 
(Levels 9-12) 2,316 147 6.3 1,045 45.1

Senior management (Lev-
els 13-16) 176 7 4 183 104

Contract (Levels 3-5) 3 0 0 0 0

Contract (Levels 6-8) 34 0 0 0 0

Contract (Levels 9-12) 82 3 3.7 4 4.9

Contract (Levels 13-16) 1 0 0 0 0

TOTAL 41,094 1,304 3.2 23,710 57.7
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6. Employment equity

The tables in this section are based on the formats prescribed by the Employment Equity Act, 55 of 1998.

Table 6.1 – Total number of employees (including employees with disabilities) in each of the following occupa-
tional categories as on 31 March 2009

Occupational 
categories (SASCO)

Male Female Total

African Coloured Indian White African Coloured Indian White

Legislators, senior of-
ficials and managers

60 15 4 16 29 3 3 3 133

Professionals 590 101 9 172 1,058 235 16 169 2,350

Clerks 19,670 4,233 479 4,662 7,425 1,319 181 870 38,839

Service and sales work-
ers

0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1

Elementary occupations 8 8 0 0 4 0 0 0 20

Total 20,328 4,357 492 4,850 8,517 1,557 200 1,042 41,343

Employees with dis-
abilities

133 21 0 34 74 11 1 8 282

Table 6.2 – Total number of employees (including employees with disabilities) in each of the following occupa-
tional bands as on 31 March 2009

Occupational Bands
Male Female

African Coloured Indian White African Coloured Indian White Total

 Top Management 16 4 0       4 10 2 1 2 39

Senior Management 62 15 5 15 28 2 1 3 131

Professionally qualified and 
experienced specialists 
and mid-management

823 171 26

     298

728 161 22 158 2,387

Skilled technical and aca-
demically qualified work-
ers, junior management, 
supervisors, foreman and 
superintendents

11,657 3,281 366 4,464 3,888 760 87 777 25,280

Semi-skilled and discre-
tionary decision making

7,717 872 94 62 3,811 625 86 90 13,357

Unskilled and defined deci-
sion making

0 0 0 0 6 2 0 1 9

Contract (Senior Manage-
ment)

0 1 1 1 2 1 0 0 6

Contract (Professionally 
qualified)

44 13 0 3 20 2 0 0 82

Contract (Skilled technical) 5 0 0 3 13 2 3 11 37

Contract (Semi-skilled) 4 0 0 0 11 0 0 0 15

Total 20,328 4,357 492 4,850 8,517 1,557 200 1,042 41,343

Table 6.3 – Recruitment for the period 1 April 2008 to 31 March 2009

Occupational Bands
Male Female

African Coloured Indian White African Coloured Indian White Total

Top Management 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Senior Management 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 2
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Occupational Bands
Male Female

African Coloured Indian White African Coloured Indian White Total

Professionally qualified 
and experienced special-
ists and mid-management

7 2 0 2 10 0 1 4 26

Skilled technical and aca-
demically qualified work-
ers, junior management, 
supervisors, foreman and 
superintendents

51 12 1 7 87 20 2 10 190

Semi-skilled and discre-
tionary decision making

640 80 23 9 701 74 23 17 1,567

Unskilled and defined 
decision making

14 5 3 3 51 4 3 4 87

Contract (Top Manage-
ment) 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1

Contract (Senior Manage-
ment)

0 0 1 1 2 1 1 0 6

Contract (Professionally 
qualified) 

4 0 0 2 4 0 0 0 10

Contract (Skilled techni-
cal) 

12 0 0 4 22 2 3 9 52

Contract (Semi-skilled) 7 0 0 0 19 0 0 0 26

TOTAL 737 99 29 28 896 101 33 45 1,968

Employees with disabilities 18 0 0 0 16 0 0 1 35 5 3 3 51 4 3 4 87

Table 6.4 – Promotions for the period 1 April 2008 to 31 March 2009

Occupational Bands
Male Female

African Coloured Indian White African Coloured Indian White Total

Top Management 13 5 0 3 12 0 1 2 36

Senior Management 76 19 6 15 33 1 1 3 154

Professionally qualified 
and experienced special-
ists and mid-manage-
ment

463 105 20 209 233 51 13 98 1,192

Skilled technical and aca-
demically qualified work-
ers, junior management, 
supervisors, foreman and 
superintendents

8,030 2,068 208 2,207 2,911 615 68 325 16,432

Semi-skilled and discre-
tionary decision making

4,187 549 49 28 1,935 343 38 58 7,187

Unskilled and defined 
decision making

0 0 0 0 4 2 0 0 6

Contract (Professionally 
qualified) 

3 0 0 0 4 0 0 1 7

Total 12,772 2,746 283 2,462 5,131 1,012 121 487 25,014

Employees with disabili-
ties

44 11 0 13 31 5 1 3 108
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Table 6.5 – Terminations for the period 1 April 2008 to 31 March 2009

Occupational Bands
Male Female

African Coloured Indian White African Coloured Indian White Total

Top Management 1 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 3

Senior Management 1 0 0 2 2 0 0 0 5

Professionally qualified 
and experienced spe-
cialists and mid-man-
agement

37 1 1 6 24 6 1 5 81

Skilled technical and 
academically qualified 
workers, junior man-
agement, supervisors, 
foreman and superin-
tendents

367 86 4 189 71 16 5 31 769

Semi-skilled and discre-
tionary decision making

137 21 7 4 46 12 3 3 233

Unskilled and defined 
decision making

0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1

Contract (Senior Man-
agement)

0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1

Contract (Professionally 
qualified)

2 0 0 0 6 0 0 1 9

Contract (Skilled techni-
cal)

7 0 1 12 14 1 3 10 48

Contract (Semi-skilled) 3 0 0 0 8 0 0 0 11

Total 555 108 13 213 173 35 14 50 1,161

Employees with dis-
abilities

3 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 4

Table 6.6 – Disciplinary action for the period 1 April 2008 to 31 March 2009

Male Female

African Coloured Indian White African Coloured Indian White Total

Disciplinary action

Correctional coun-
selling 

157 130 1 34 30 11 0 4 367

Verbal warning 338 149 0 39 62 25 0 7 620

Written warning 388 172 3 61 37 15 2 12 690

Final written warn-
ing 

312 92 7 40 25 4 2 1 483

Dismissal 74 30 5 15 17 3 0 0 144

Demotion 15 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 17

Suspended with-
out payment 

63 18 0 6 8 1 0 2 98

Withdrawal 128 39 1 12 20 8 0 4 212

Acquittal 37 0 1 0 4 0 1 0 43

No outcome 230 26 4 40 27 5 0 2 334

TOTAL 1,742 657 22 247 230 72 6 32 3,008



Department of Correctional Services  Annual Report 2008/09          165

Table 6.7 – Skills development for the period 1 April 2008 to 31 March 2009

Occupational 
categories

Male Female Total
1. Total

2. African Coloured Indian White African Coloured Indian White

Legislators, senior 
officials and man-
agers

60 15 4 16 29 3 3 3 133

Professionals 590 101 9 172 1,058 235 16 169 2350

Technicians and 
associate profes-
sionals

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Clerks 19,670 4,233 479 4,662 7,424 1,319 181 870 38,838

Service and sales 
workers

0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1

Elementary oc-
cupations

8 8 0 0 5 0 0 0 21

Total 20,328 4,357 492 4,850 8,517 1,557 200 1,042 41,343

Employees with 
disabilities

78 12 0 26 60 9 1 4 190

7. Performance rewards

To encourage good performance, the department has granted the following performance rewards during the year 
under review. The information is presented in terms of race, gender, and disability (Table 6.1), salary bands (table 6.2) 
and critical occupations (Table 6.3).

TABLE 7.1 – Performance Rewards by race, gender, and disability, 1 April 2008 to 31 March 2009

Beneficiary Profile Cost

Number of 
beneficiaries

Total number of 
employees in 

group

% of total 
within group

Cost (R’000)
Average cost 
per employee

African 4,843  28,707 16.87 18,300 R 3,778

Male 3,452 20,250 17 13,321 R 3,859

Female 1,391 8,457 16.4 4,979 R 3,580

Asian 160 691 23.15 639 R 3,993

Male 128 492 26 527 R 4,114

Female 32 199 16.1 112 R 3,516

Coloured 1,200 5,893 20.36 4,807 R 4,005

Male 877 4,345 20.2 3,660 R 4,174

Female 323 1,548 20.9 1,147 R 3,551

White 1,627 5,862 27.75 7,315 R 4,496

Male 1,236 4,824 25.6 5,543 R 4,485

Female 391 1,038 37.7 1,772 R 4,533

Employees with a dis-
ability 30 190 15.8 106 R 3,528

Total 7,860 41,343 19.01 31,167 R 3,965
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TABLE 7.2 – Performance Rewards by salary bands for personnel below Senior Management Service, 1 April 
2008 to 31 March 2009

Salary Bands Beneficiary Profile Cost

Number of 
beneficiaries

Number of 
employees

% of total 
within salary 

bands

Total Cost 
(R’000)

Average 
cost per 

employee

Total cost 
as a % of 
the total 

personnel 
expenditure

Lower skilled (Levels 1-2) 1 8 12.5 2 2,000 0.025

Skilled (Levels 3-5) 1,427 13,357 10.7 3,649 2,557 0.045

Highly skilled production 
(Levels 6-8) 6,031 25,280 23.9 23,842 3,953 0.298

Highly skilled supervision 
(Levels 9-12) 385 2,388 16.1 3,143 8,164 0.039

Contract (Levels 3-5) 0 15 0 0 0 0

Contract (Levels 6-8) 0 37 0 0 0 0

Contract (Levels 9-12) 0 82 0 0 0 0

Total 7,844 41,167 19.1 30,636 3,905 0.383

TABLE 7.3 – Performance Rewards by critical occupations, 1 April 2008 to 31 March 2009

Critical Occupations Beneficiary Profile Cost

Number of 
beneficiaries

Number of 
employees

% of total 
within 

occupation

Total Cost 
(R’000)

Average cost 
per employee

Administrative related 10 48 20.8 107  10,700

Chaplain & related 8 33 24.2 103 12,875

Client information clerks 9 42 21.4 22  2,444

Communication and information 0 1 0 - -

Computer Programmers 0 5 0 - -

Custodian personnel 7,482 38,712 19.3 28,738 3,841

Educationists 120 428 28 574  4,783

Engineers and related profes-
sionals 0 2 0 - -

Finance and Economics related 11 63 17.5 118  10,727

Finance and related profession-
als 27 149 18.1 144  5,333

Financial clerks 0 3 0 - -

General legal administration 4 18 22.2 45 11,250

Health Sciences related 3 32 9.4 26  8,667

HR & Organisation Dev. 0 7 0 - -

HR related 0 18 0 - -

IT related 0 4 0 - -

Legal related 0 1 0 - -

Logistical support personnel 18 91 19.8 86  4,778

Material-recording and trans-
port clerks 1 1 100 4  4,000

Medical Practitioners 0 9 0 - -

Messengers Porters & deliver-
ers 0 1 0 - -
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Other admin.& related clerks 0 2 0 - -

Other admin. Policy & related 0 1 0 - -

Other IT personnel 9 69 13 46  5,111

Pharmaceutical assistants 0 2 0 - -

Pharmacists 2 24 8.3 13  6,500

Pharmacologists Pathologists & 
related 0 2 0 - -

Professional Nurse 3 813 0.4 32  10,667

Psychologists & Vocational 
counsellors 3 18 16.7 16  5,333

Secretaries & other Keyboard 
operators 35 101 34.7 102  2,914

Senior Managers 13 131 9.9 415  31,923

Social sciences related 11 38 28.9 77  7,000

Social Work and related profes-
sionals 91 472 19.3 499  5,484

Visible policing 0 1 0 - -

Total 7, 860 41,343 19 31,167  3,965

TABLE 7.4 – Performance related rewards (cash bonus), by salary band, for Senior Management Service

Salary Band

Beneficiary Profile

Total Cost
(R’000)

Average cost 
per employee

Total cost 
as a % of 
the total 

personnel 
expenditure

Number of 
beneficiaries

Number of 
employees

% of total 
within band

Band A 13 140 9.29 396  30,461 0.004

Band B 3 25 12 134  44,666 0.001

Band C 0 10 0 - - -

Band D 0 1 0 - - -

Total 16 176 9.09 530  33,125 0.006

8. Foreign workers

The tables below summarise the employment of foreign nationals in the department in terms of salary bands and by 
major occupation. The tables also summarise changes in the total number of foreign workers in each salary band 
and by each major occupation.

TABLE 8.1 – Foreign Workers, 1 April 2008 to 31 March 2009, by salary band

Salary Band
1 April 2008 31 March 2009 Change

Number % of total Number % of total Number % change

Periodical Remuneration 13 100 13 100 13 0.01

Total 13 100 13 100 13 0.01

Critical Occupations Beneficiary Profile Cost

Number of 
beneficiaries

Number of 
employees

% of total 
within 

occupation

Total Cost 
(R’000)

Average cost 
per employee
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TABLE 8.2 – Foreign Worker, 1 April 2008 to 31 March 2009, by major occupation

Major Occupation
1 April 2008 31 March 2009 Change

Number % of total Number % of total Number % change

National security and custodian 
personnel 

9 69.2 9 69.2 0 0

Professionals and managers 4 30.8 4 30.8 0 0

Total 13 100 13 100 0 0

9. Leave utilisation for the period 1 January 2008 to 31 December 2008

The Public Service Commission identified the need for careful monitoring of sick leave within the public service. The 
following tables provide an indication of the use of sick leave (Table 9.1) and disability leave (Table 9.2). In both cases, 
the estimated cost of the leave is also provided.

TABLE 9.1 – Sick leave, 1 January 2008 to 31 December 2008

Salary Band Total days
% days with 

medical 
certification

Number of 
Employees 
using sick 

leave

% of total 
employees 
using sick 

leave

Average 
days per 
employee

Estimated 
Cost (R’000)

Lower skilled (Levels 1-2) 277 88.8 29 0.1 10 52

Skilled (Levels 3-5) 115,332 79.7 11,851 32.2 10 27,532

Highly skilled production 
(Levels 6-8)

216,450 78.7 22,630 61.6 10 91,734

Highly skilled supervision 
(Levels9-12)

17,704 79.8 2,031 5.5 9 14,240

Senior management (Lev-
els 13-16)

813 82.3 113 0.3 7 1,794

Contract (Levels 3-5) 67 91 4 0 17 14

Contract (Levels 6-8) 153 52.9 21 0.1 7 68

Contract (Levels 9-12) 585 77.6 72 0.2 8 604

Contract (Levels 13-16) 24 58.3 5 0 5 50

Not Available 3 100 1 0 3 2

Total 351,408 79.1 36,756 100 10 136,090

TABLE 9.2 – Disability leave (temporary and permanent), 1 January 2008 to 31 December 2008

Salary Band
Total days 

taken

% days with 
medical 

certification

Number of 
Employees 

using 
disability 

leave

% of total 
employees 

using 
disability 

leave

Average 
days per 
employee

Estimated 
Cost (R’000)

Lower skilled (Levels 1-2) 70 100 3 0.2 23 13

Skilled (Levels 3-5) 4,566 99.2 253 19.3 18 1,174

Highly skilled production 
(Levels 6-8) 25,736 99.9 975 74.3 26 11,398

Highly skilled supervision 
(Levels 9-12) 2,659 100 78 5.9 34 2,483

Senior management (Lev-
els 13-16) 87 100 3 0.2 29 185

Total 33,118 99.8 1312 100 25 15,253
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Table 9.3 summarises the utilisation of annual leave. The wage agreement concluded with trade unions in the PSCBC 
in 2000 requires management of annual leave to prevent high levels of accrued leave being paid at the time of termi-
nation of service.

TABLE 9.3 – Annual Leave, 1 January 2008 to 31 December 2008

Salary Bands Total days taken Average per employee

Lower skilled (Levels 1-2) 355.36 11

Skilled Levels 3-5) 277,766.08 20

Highly skilled production (Levels 6-8) 680,195.36 26

Highly skilled supervision(Levels 9-12) 61,930.88 25

Senior management (Levels 13-16) 4120 23

Contract (Levels 3-5) 68.08 23

Contract (Levels 6-8) 450 19

Contract (Levels 9-12) 1,623.12 20

Contract (Levels 13-16) 50 8

Total 1,026,558.88 24

TABLE 9.4 – Capped leave, 1 January 2008 to 31 December 2008

Salary Bands
Total days of 

capped leave taken

Average number 
of days taken per 

employee

Average capped 
leave per employee 
as at 31 December 

2007

Skilled Levels 3-5) 366 5 13

Highly skilled production (Levels 6-8) 28,927 7 47

Highly skilled supervision(Levels 9-12) 2,041 7 62

Senior management (Levels 13-16) 122 9 87

Total 31,456 7 48

TABLE 9.5 – Leave payouts for the period 1 April 2008 to 31 March 2009
The following table summarises payments made to employees as a result of leave that was not taken.

REASON
Total Amount 

(R’000)
Number of 
Employees

Average payment 
per employee

Leave payout for 2007/06 due to non-utilisation 
of leave for the previous cycle

222 50 4,440

Capped leave payouts on termination of service 
for 2007/06

16,012 2,692 5,948

Current leave payout on termination of service 
for 2007/06

1,256 240 5,233

Total 17,490 2,982 5,865

10. HIV and aids & health promotion programmes

TABLE 10.1 – Steps taken to reduce the risk of occupational exposure

Units/categories of employees identified to 
be at high risk of contracting HIV & related 
diseases (if any) 

Key steps taken to reduce the risk 

All employees of the department of correctional 
services
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Correctional officials, i.e. working in correctional 
centres

Dissemination of the results of the HIV & Syphilis Prevalence Survey 
on the intranet and on notice boards.  Engagement of managers (147) 
on the results of the HIV & Prevalence Survey.  Development of the 
National Intervention Plan from the recommendations of the survey
Presentations nationally on HIV & AIDS Mainstreaming to 147 manag-
ers
Awareness and information articles placed on the intranet and notice 
boards on “Know Your Status”; “HIV/AIDS & Human Rights”; “HIV/
AIDS Disclosure”; “Procedure in Post Exposure Prophylaxis”.  Pres-
entations to new recruits on HIV/AIDS related matters.

TABLE 10.2 – Details of Health Promotion and HIV and AIDS Programmes (tick the applicable boxes and provide 
the required information)

Question Yes No Details, if yes

1. Has the department designated a member of the 
SMS to implement the provisions contained in Part 
VI E of Chapter 1 of the Public Service Regulations, 
2001? If so, provide her/his name and position.

x Mr P Mashabela, Director HR Support.  HIV and 
AIDS is a sub-component within a sub-directorate

2. Does the department have a dedicated unit or 
has it designated specific staff members to promote 
the health and well being of your employees? If so, 
indicate the number of employees who are involved 
in this task and the annual budget that is available 
for this purpose.  

x There is only one national HIV and AIDS co-ordi-
nator for officials at ASD level.  EAP’s assist with 
counselling on HIV and AIDS.  There are 14 EAPs 
nationally.  The annual budget is approximately R 
2.4 million

3. Has the department introduced an Employee 
Assistance or Health Promotion Programme for 
your employees? If so, indicate the key elements/
services of this Programme. 

x The employee assistance programme within the 
department covers three fundamental methods:
Therapeutic services available for all employees 
provided by trained professionals. The emphasis is 
on short term counselling and effective and appro-
priate referral processes.

Wellness programmes and training which focus on 
prevention programmes such as financial life-skills, 
stress management, burn-out, HIV/AIDS,  Gender 
Empowerment and Healthy Lifestyles
Marketing and Information centre which provides. 
Information on various topics such as Child Mainte-
nance, the Domes tic Violence Act Healthy Life-
styles.

4. Has the department established (a) committee(s) 
as contemplated in Part VI E.5 (e) of Chapter 1 of 
the Public Service Regulations, 2001? If so, please 
provide the names of the members of the commit-
tee and the stakeholder(s) that they represent.  

x .

5. Has the department reviewed its employment 
policies and practices to ensure that these do not 
unfairly discriminate against employees on the basis 
of their HIV status? If so, list the employment poli-
cies/practices so reviewed.  

x The Department has a draft Employee Health and 
Wellness Policy and Procedures.  Section 7.3.2 in 
the policy addresses discrimination against employ-
ees on the basis of their HIV & AIDS status

6. Has the department introduced measures to 
protect HIV-positive employees or those perceived 
to be HIV-positive from discrimination? If so, list the 
key elements of these measures. 

x The draft Employee Health and Wellness policy and 
procedure protect HIV positive employees against 
discrimination through some of following principles: 
the right to confidentiality; the right to non-discrimi-
nation: openness, acceptance and support for the 
infected and affected and the right to post exposure 
prophylaxes within 72 hours of exposure.  The aim 
of the policy is to regulate the management of em-
ployee Health and Wellness in a non-discriminatory, 
fair and transparent manner. 
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Question Yes No Details, if yes

7. Does the department encourage its employees to 
undergo Voluntary Counselling and Testing? If so, 
list the results that you have you achieved. 

 x Employees participated in VCT’s in the following 
regions: Kwazulu Natal-4; F/Sate & N/Cape-107; 
W/Cape-286; E/Cape-10, LMN-219, Gauteng-65 & 
Head Office-212

8. Has the department developed measures/indica-
tors to monitor & evaluate the impact of its health 
promotion programme? If so, list these measures/
indicators.

x The department developed a HIV/AIDS Quarterly 
Monitoring tool which was implemented.  The fol-
lowing indicator are: Number of condoms distrib-
uted; books & pamphlets distributed, HIV aware-
ness sessions conducted, HIV counselling sessions 
conducted, officials who had attended HIV/AIDS 
training, officials on Post Exposure Prophylaxis
The indicators have been changed by Risk Manage-
ment to mainly concentrate on VCT’s implemented  

11. Labour relations

The following collective agreements were entered into with trade unions within the department. 

TABLE 11.1 – Collective agreements, 1 April 2008 to 31 March 2009

Subject Matter Date

A Special Arrangement for the release of shop stewards in the Department of 
Correctional Services

12/8/2008

Amending the resignation period in the Department of Correctional Services 12/8/2008

A Special leave dispensation for employees in the Department of Correctional 
Services

12/8/2008

The following table summarises the outcome of disciplinary hearings conducted within the department for the year 
under review.

TABLE 11.2 – Misconduct and disciplinary hearings finalised, 1 April 2008 to 31 March 2009

Outcomes of disciplinary hearings Number % of total

Correctional counselling 367 12.20%

Verbal warning 620 20.61%

Written warning 690 22.94%

Final written warning 483 16.06%

Suspended without pay 98 3.26%

Fine 0 0%

Demotion 17 0.57%

Dismissal 144 4.79%

Not guilty 0 0%

Case withdrawn 212 7.05%

Acquittal 43 1.43%

No outcome 334 11.10

Total 3,008 100.00%

TABLE 11.3 – Types of misconduct addressed at disciplinary hearings

Type of misconduct Number % of total

Fails to comply with, or contravenes an Act, regulation or legal obligation. 374 13.09

Mismanages the finances of the State. 16 0.56

Without permission possesses or wrongfully uses the property of the State, 
another employees and/or a visitor.

21 0.73
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Type of misconduct Number % of total

Misuse/abuse of movable/immovable property of the State. 35 1.22

Damage to and or cause loss of state property. 36 1.26

Endangers the lives of self or others by disregarding safety rules or regulations. 34 1.19

Prejudice the administration, discipline or efficiency of a department, office or 
institution of the State.

53 1.85

Misuse of position in the DCS to promote or to prejudice the interest of any 
political party, organization, company or individual.

1 0.03

 Theft, bribery, fraud, corruption or any combination thereof. 143 5.00

Accepts any compensation in cash or otherwise from a member of the public, 
another employee or an offender for performing her or his duties without writ-
ten approval from the department.

11 0.38

Fails to carry out a lawful order or routine instruction without just or reasonable 
cause.

209 7.31

Absence or repeated absence from work without a valid reason or permission. 715 25.02

Commits an act of sexual harassment. 17 0.59

Discriminates on the basis of race, gender, disability, sexuality or other grounds 
outlawed by the Constitution.

8 0.28

Poor or inadequate performance for reasons other than incapacity. 104 3.64

Dereliction of duties. 218 7.6

Allowing a disciplinary hearing to fall away (Refer to clause 7.3.2 of the Proce-
dure).

3 0.10

Performing of work for compensation in a private capacity for another person 
or organization either during or outside working hours without written approval.

1 0.03

Breaching the conditions pertaining to authorized private work. 8 0.28

Sleeping on duty. 53 1.85

While on duty, is under the influence of an intoxicating, illegal, unauthorized, 
habit-forming and/or stupefying drug, including alcohol.

85 2.97

Being in possession of alcohol in the workplace. 18 0.63

Being in possession of illegal, unauthorized, habit-forming and/or stupefying 
drug on departmental premises.

24 0.84

Permitting an offender to take alcohol or any prohibited drug or to have these 
substances in his/her possession.

1 0.03

While on duty, conducts herself or himself in an improper, disgraceful and 
unacceptable manner.

75 2.62

Contravention of the DCS Code of Conduct. 57 1.99

Assault, attempt or threatens to assault, another employee or person while on 
duty.

158 5.53

Incites other personnel to un-procedural and unlawful conduct. 3 0.10

Displays disrespect towards others in the workplace or demonstrates abusive 
or insolent behaviour.

57 1.99

Intimidation or victimization of fellow employees or other persons. 13 0.45

Prevents/force other employees from belonging/not belonging to any trade 
union or employee organization.

0 0

Operates any money lending scheme for employees for own benefit during 
working hours in the workplace.

1 0.03

Carries or keeps firearms or other dangerous weapons in the workplace with-
out the written authorization of the employer.

2 0.07

Misuse of firearms and/or other dangerous weapons in the workplace. 5 0.17

Breaching of security measures. 204 7.14



Department of Correctional Services  Annual Report 2008/09          173

Type of misconduct Number % of total

Furnishing of false statements or evidence in the execution of his or her duties. 18 0.63

Falsification of records or any other documentation. 14 0.49

Participation in un-procedural, unprotected and/or unlawful industrial action. 58 2.03

Commitment of a common law or statutory offence whilst on duty and/or on 
state premises.

5 0.17

TOTAL 2,858 100.00

TABLE 11.4 – Grievances lodged for the period 1 April 2008 to 31 March 2009

Number % of Total

Number of grievances resolved 923 46.48

Number of grievances not resolved 1,063 53.52

Total number of grievances lodged 1986 100%

TABLE 11.5 – Disputes lodged with Councils for the period 1 April 2008 to 31 March 2009

Number % of Total

Number of disputes upheld 54 45%

Number of disputes dismissed 66 55%

Total number of disputes lodged 120 100%

TABLE 11.6 – Strike actions for the period 1 April 2008 to 31 March 2009

1. Total number of person working days lost

Total cost (R’000) of working days lost 0

Amount (R’000) recovered as a result of no work no pay 0

TABLE 11.7 – Precautionary suspensions for the period 1 April 2008 to 31 March 2009

Number of people suspended 423

Number of people whose suspension exceeded 30 days 295

Average number of days suspended 77.56

Cost (R’000) of suspensions  12,094.00

12. Skills development

This section highlights the efforts of the department with regard to skills development.
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TABLE 12.1 – Training needs identified 1 April 2008 to 31 March 2009

Occupational 
Categories

Gender

Number of 
employees 
as at 1 April 

2008

Training needs identified at start of reporting period

Learnerships

Skills 
Programmes 
& other short 

courses

Other forms 
of training

Total

Legislators, senior of-
ficials and managers

Female 106 0 106 0 106

Male 268 0 268 0 268

Professionals Female 1,394 0 796 598 1,394

Male 808 0 770 38 808

Technicians and associ-
ate professionals

Female 0 0 0 0 0

Male 16 0 16 0 16

Clerks Female 5,372 1,519 1,670 2,189 5,378

Male 8,592 1,520 1,770 5,302 8,592

Elementary occupations Female 325 0 0 0 325

Male 384 0 0 0 384

Gender sub Total Female 7,197 1,519 2,572 2,787 6,878

Male 10,068 1,520 2,824 5,340 9,684

Total 17,265 3,039 5,396 8,127 16,562

12.2 – Training provided 1 April 2008 to 31 March 2009

Occupational 
Categories

Gender

Number of 
employees 
as at 1 April 

2008

Training provided within the reporting period

Learnerships

Skills 
Programmes 
& other short 

courses

Other forms 
of training

Total

Legislators, senior of-
ficials and managers

Female 106 0 106 0 106

Male 268 0 268 0 268

Professionals Female 1,394 0 796 598 1,394

Male 808 0 770 38 808

Technicians and associ-
ate professionals

Female 0 0 0 0 0

Male 16 0 16 0 16

Clerks Female 5,372 1,519 1,670 2,189 5,378

Male 8,592 1,520 1,770 5,302 8,592

Elementary occupations Female 325 0 0 0 325

Male 384 0 0 0 384

Gender sub Total Female 7,197 1,519 2,572 2,787 6,878

Male 10,068 1,520 2,824 5,340 9,684

Sub Total 17,265 3,039 5,396 8,127 16,562
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13. Injury on duty

The following tables provide basic information on injury on duty.

TABLE 13.1 – Injury on duty, 1 April 2008 to 31 March 2009

Nature of injury on duty Number % of total

Required basic medical attention only 548 48.4

Temporary Total Disablement 530 46.8

Permanent Disablement 53 4.7

Fatal 1 0.1

Total 1,132

14. Utilisation of consultants

Table 14.1 – Report on consultant appointments using appropriated funds

Project Title
Total number of 

consultants that worked 
on the project

Duration:
Work days

Contract value in
Rand

Medical surveillance 5 3 144,051.20

Total number of projects Total individual consultants
Total duration:

Work days
Total contract value in 

Rand

1 1 27 144,051.20

Table 14.2 – Analysis of consultant appointments using appropriated funds, in terms of Historically Disadvanta-
ged Individuals (HDIs)

Project Title
Percentage ownership 

by HDI groups
Percentage management 

by HDI groups

Number of Consultants 
from HDI groups that 
work on the project

Medical surveillance 26% 60% 2

Table 14.3 – Report on consultant appointments using Donor funds

Project Title
Total Number of consultants 
that worked on the project

Duration:
Work days

Donor and Contract value in 
Rand

Total number of projects Total individual consultants Total duration:
Work days

Total contract value in Rand

Table 14.4 – Analysis of consultant appointments using Donor funds, in terms of Historically Disadvantaged In-
dividuals (HDIs)

Project Title
Percentage 

ownership by HDI 
groups

Percentage 
management by HDI 

groups

Number of Consultants from 
HDI groups that work on the 

project
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Acronyms

AA  Affirmative action
AG  Auditor General
AIDS  Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome
AU  African Union
BEE  Black Economic Empowerment
CAT  Case Assessment Team
CAO  Case Assessment Officer
CC  Correctional Centre
CIP  Compliance Improvement Plan
CIT  Case Intervention Team 
CMC  Case Management Committee
CoE  Centres of Excellence
COBIT Control Objectives for Information Technology
CPA  Criminal Procedure Act no 51 of 1977
CSP  Correctional Sentence Plan
CSPB Correctional Supervision and Parole Board
DCS  Department of Correctional Services
DPW  Department of Public Works
DPSA Department of Public Service and Administration
EAP  Employee Assistance Programme
HIV  Human Immunodeficiency Virus
HRD  Human Resource Development
HRM  Human Resource Management
ICT  Information Communication Technology
IT  Information Technology
ITIL  Information Technology Infrastructure Library
JCPS Justice Crime Prevention Security Cluster
KAPB Knowledge, Attitude, Perception and Behaviour 
M&E  Monitoring and Evaluation System
MIS  Management Information System
MISS Minimum Information Security Standards
MISP Management Information System Programme
NGO  Non-Governmental Organization
OHS  Occupational Health and Safety
PRB  Parole Review Board
SACA Southern Africa Corrections Association
SADC Southern African Development Community
SCM  Supply Chain Management   
SDIP  Service Delivery Improvement Programme
SRAC Sports, Recreation, Arts and Culture 
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